
 

2022 

Annual 
Report 



UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K 
(Mark One)

☒ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022

OR

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from     to  

Commission file number 001-04321 

Forge Global Holdings, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 98-1561111

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

415 Mission Street
Suite 5510

San Francisco, CA 94105
(Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

(415) 881-1612

Registrant's telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: 

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share FRGE The New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐   No ☒

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.  Yes ☐   No ☒

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days. Yes  ☒   No  ☐ 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of 
Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files.
Yes  ☒   No  ☐ 

Table of Contents

1



Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an 
emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth 
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:

Large accelerated filer ☒ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer  ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Emerging growth company ☐
    

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any 
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal 
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C.7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that 
prepared or issued its audit report. ☐

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the 
filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation 
received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).     Yes ☐   No  ☒

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant on June 30, 2022, the last 
business day of its most recently completed second fiscal quarter, was approximately $1.36 billion based on the closing sales price of the registrant’s 
common stock on that date. Shares of the registrant's common stock held by each executive officer and director and by each person who may be deemed 
to be an affiliate of the registrant have been excluded from this computation. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive 
determination for other purposes.

As of February 28, 2023, the number of shares of the registrant's common stock outstanding was 172,642,346.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s proxy statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated herein by reference in Part III of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K to the extent stated herein. Such proxy statement will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after 
the end of the registrant’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2022. 

Table of Contents

2



CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Report") to “Forge,” the 
“Company,” “us,” “we,” “our” and any related terms are intended to mean Forge Global Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated 
subsidiaries.

Certain statements in this Report may constitute “forward-looking statements” for purposes of the federal securities 
laws. Our forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our or our management team’s 
expectations, hopes, beliefs, intentions, or strategies regarding the future. In addition, any statements that refer to projections, 
forecasts or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying assumptions, are forward-
looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intends,” 
“may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions may 
identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. 
Forward-looking statements in this Report may include, for example, statements about our ability to: 

• execute our business strategy, including monetization of services provided;
• manage risks associated with macroeconomic uncertainty given persistently high global inflation and the monetary 

response of U.S. and global regulators to tame it, continuing geopolitical tensions, sustained supply chain disruptions 
globally as a result of COVID-19 related restrictions, and other geopolitical events globally;

• comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business;
• stay abreast of modified or new laws and regulations that would apply to our business;
• anticipate the uncertainties inherent in the development of new business lines, strategies, products and services;
• manage vendor and third party processes;
• increase brand awareness;
• access, collect and use personal information and other data about consumers;
• attract, train and retain effective officers, key employees or directors;
• upgrade and maintain information technology systems;
• acquire and protect intellectual property;
• meet future capital adequacy and liquidity requirements;
• effectively respond to general economic and business conditions;
• maintain the listing of our securities on the NYSE or another national securities exchange;
• obtain additional capital, including use of the debt market;
• enhance future operating and financial results;
• anticipate rapid technological changes;
• anticipate the impact of, and response to, new accounting standards;
• respond to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and political unrest and regulatory changes in international 

markets from various events;
• anticipate the rise in interest rates which would increase the cost of capital;
• anticipate the significance and timing of contractual obligations;
• maintain key strategic relationships with partners;
• manage cyber and technology risk management processes, including incident management processes
• maintain disaster recovery, business continuity planning controls;
• respond to uncertainties associated with product and service development and market acceptance;
• manage to finance operations on an economically viable basis;
• anticipate the impact of new U.S. federal income tax law, including the impact on deferred tax assets;
• successfully defend litigation; and
• successfully deploy the proceeds from the Business Combination (as defined below).

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Report.

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-
looking statements contained in this Report primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends 
that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The outcome of the events 
described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those described in 
the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Report. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing 
environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and 
uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Report. We cannot assure you that 
the results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur, and actual results, 
events or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.
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Neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of any of these forward-
looking statements. Moreover, the forward-looking statements made in this Report relate only to events as of the date on which 
the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any after the date of this Report or to reflect new information or 
the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or 
expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking 
statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, partnerships, mergers, 
dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. 
These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Report, and while we believe such 
information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements 
should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant 
information. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.
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Part I

Item 1. Business 

Overview

Forge is building the private market of the future – a more accessible, transparent and liquid market for participating 
in private market growth. We offer a trusted trading platform, proprietary data and insights to inform investment strategies, 
along with custody services to help companies, shareholders, institutions and accredited investors confidently navigate and 
transact in the private market. Our scaled and integrated business model is at the nexus of the private market ecosystem, 
which we believe creates a sustaining competitive advantage fueling our clients' participation in the private market and our 
growth. The key solutions offered by our platform include:

• Trading Solutions: Forge Markets is our platform that connects potential investors with private company 
shareholders and enables them to efficiently facilitate private share transactions.

• Custody Solutions: Forge Trust is our non-depository trust company that enables clients to securely custody and 
manage assets through a robust and user-friendly online portal.

•  Data Solutions: Forge Data is our data business that provides market participants the information and insight to 
confidently navigate, analyze and make investment decisions in the private market. 

We have strategically invested in our complementary solutions to collectively drive strong network effects and help 
power the private market ecosystem. Our platform serves people who have different aspirations and needs, such as:

• The innovative CEO who wants to stay private and retain employees as long as it takes to achieve their long-term 
vision

• The dedicated employee who needs to pay for their child’s college tuition or buy a home today and cannot afford to 
wait for their company to go public

• The sophisticated individual investor who has historically lacked access to this investment class and the 
transparency to participate

• And institutional investors who seek to access the private markets at scale

We attribute our track record of growth to the key strategic investments we have made since inception, the 
remarkable efforts of our employees, the momentum contributed by our many clients and our commitment to ensuring that 
our technology performs at the highest level.

Challenges in the Private Markets

Historically, participating in the private market was a complex and opaque endeavor for a number of reasons, 
including:

Lack of Liquidity

The private markets lacked technology, automated processes and standardized documentation which led to an 
inefficient and illiquid market with little volume. Transactions were primarily analog processes, using manual and 
administratively burdensome steps that demanded significant time and effort. These issues were compounded because of 
market fragmentation; there was not a large-scale platform where many buyers and sellers could transact with one another 
across a large swath of potential companies.

Lack of Access

Gaining access to opportunities in private companies was extremely difficult and historically was only available to a 
small number of well-connected investors primarily made up of brand name angel investors and venture capital firms. In 
addition, the investment minimums were prohibitively high, usually in the millions of dollars, which excluded most 
individual investors from participation.

Lack of Transparency
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There was little information on private companies easily accessible to non-insiders. Information such as the amount 
of buy-side and sell-side interest in companies, and the pricing of their shares was not readily available to market participants. 
This lack of transparency created uncertainty with market participants who lacked the data they needed to make a well-
informed investment decision.

Forge’s Differentiated Solutions

We have developed and continue to enhance our infrastructure and complementary solutions which are purpose-built 
for the needs of private market participants. We believe our robust technology platform, as well as our large network of 
clients and partners, provide us the opportunity to transform the private market asset class and serve as the foundation on 
which others build their systems and businesses. Our intuitive online user experience is supported by our private market 
specialists and our proprietary trading data, which we believe enables our solutions to work efficiently and synergistically. 

Our solutions allow us to offer support to our distinct customer segments along their private market journeys. Our 
solutions include trading, distinct data offerings fueled by our proprietary trading data, and custody offerings that support 
participation in the private market. In addition, we have established strong relationships with market participants, including 
investors, shareholders and companies in need of our solutions. Our recently announced strategic evolution represents the 
continued growth of our business from one centered around discrete but overlapping pillars, to an integrated, customer-
centric organization designed to more effectively serve the needs of private market participants.

Trading Solutions

Forge Markets

Forge Markets is our platform designed to efficiently connect individual and institutional accredited investors with 
the shareholders of private companies. The client experience is powered by an intuitive user interface that enables investors 
to register for free, explore private company data and insights, discover trade opportunities and easily indicate trade interest 
for execution in these opportunities.

Each prospective client must satisfy certain participation criteria (e.g., accreditation) and provide customer 
identification information. Only accredited investors are eligible to invest in private securities through our platform. Our 
Know Your Customer (“KYC”) and Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) processes permit us to verify an investor’s 
accreditation or shareholder’s identity quickly and efficiently.

While sellers do not need to qualify as accredited investors to sell their private securities, it is often the sale of their 
shares on our platform that enables the shareholder to meet the requirements to qualify as an accredited investor, which in 
turn provides them with the opportunity to reinvest their money into other available private company securities.

Inside the Forge Markets experience, clients who are accredited investors can search for companies by name, sector 
or valuation. Starting a trade on the Forge platform commences when a client submits an indication of interest (“IOI”) 
including whether they are buying or selling, the series or class of equity they want to sell or buy (e.g., preferred, common or 
both) and the price range and the volume range at which they are willing to buy or sell. The standard minimum transaction 
size on our platform is $100,000 as of December 31, 2022; however, we may allow an amount less than this under certain 
circumstances such as upon the specific request of certain sellers or to receive a partial execution of a larger order.

There are two main structures of trades we enable through Forge Markets. The first is a direct secondary transfer and 
the second is a pooled investment vehicle (each, an “Investment Fund”) which can aggregate multiple buyers and multiple 
sellers. The transaction flow is similar for both transaction types: a potential seller and buyer each submit an IOI, the buyers 
and sellers are matched up and the company approves the transaction.

We facilitate secondary purchases and/or sales of private company securities (“private resales”), such as preferred 
and common stock, as well as private fund securities holding private company securities. Private resales are typically exempt 
from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), pursuant to Sections 4(a)(1), or case 
law interpretations thereunder (e.g., 4(a)(1 ½)). From IOI match to close, transactions on our platform take an average of 50 
days to complete, and the majority of private resales are between one buyer and one seller.

Our process is designed to support the requirements of the applicable exemption from registration. For example, 
since a purchaser through our platform must at minimum be an ‘accredited investor’ as defined by Rule 501(a) of Regulation 
D, we collect information from the purchaser through an accreditation process. Additional steps taken to support an 
exemption from registration, including acquiring some verification of ownership from the seller by which we can document 
how the seller came to own the shares, such as a share acquisition agreement or stock certificate.
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Pursuant to our purchase agreement template executed between the buyer and seller, the seller is required to provide 
the buyer all applicable restrictions pertaining to the shares that that seller has in its possession, or, in some cases, of which 
the seller has knowledge. The buyer’s representations within the purchase agreement include but are not limited to (i) that the 
purchase is solely for investment purposes and not for further distribution, (ii) understanding that the securities are “restricted 
securities” and may not be freely traded and (iii) that the sale of the securities are not registered under the Securities Act. 
Such representations are informative and likely dispositive as to the private nature of the proposed transaction. They evidence 
the material investment intent, which underscores the importance of affirming that neither buyer nor seller has engaged in an 
underwriting process, nor could be deemed to be a statutory underwriter.

Typically, an issuer’s stock transfer agreement (“STA”) will supplement the representations made in the purchase 
agreement. In most cases, the STA will contain a copy of the legends contained on the stock certificate. Similar to the 
purchase agreement, the buyer’s representations within the STA include that the purchase of securities is for investment 
purposes only and not for further distribution, the securities are not registered under the Securities Act and the buyer’s 
understanding that the securities are “restricted securities.” We are not parties to and do not control the final terms of the 
purchase agreements and STAs in such transactions, as they are separately negotiated between the applicable buyer, seller 
and issuer.

Forge Markets generates supply through two primary sources: (i) employees and shareholders of private companies 
seeking to sell shares and (ii) relationships with private companies who may be seeking to provide liquidity opportunities for 
their employees ahead of an IPO, acquisition or other exit event. We also source supply from financial institutions such as 
venture capital and private equity firms as well as cross-over institutional investors, hedge funds, family offices and capital 
aggregators that look to us to solve their liquidity needs.

We believe that our participant network, along with the workflows we have created to structure and efficiently 
process direct and Investment Fund transactions, are challenging to replicate, create a strong barrier to entry and provide us 
the flexibility to optimally serve the private market in a manner that reflects the needs of both individual and institutional 
investors and also enables companies to stay private longer while attracting and retaining talent.

Our platform’s ease of use masks the complexity that is required to complete a trade, since amassing the expertise to 
perform all the necessary tasks to complete trades at scale is technically challenging and complex. In addition, our private 
market specialists support buyers and sellers who have questions or otherwise need help completing their transactions. The 
expertise our private market specialists provide is invaluable to help educate clients on the steps needed to access the private 
markets using our platform. We believe that through additional investments in technology, our platform will continue to 
further streamline historically analog processes, therefore driving greater efficiency in the execution of private market trades.

We earn revenue on Forge Markets through placement fees that we charge buyers and/or sellers. These fees, which 
we call take rates or commissions, are based on several factors including size of transaction, type of structure, type of buyer 
and seller and use of an external broker. Participants may pay a higher commission if the total dollar amount of the 
transaction is less than our typical minimum transaction amount. We take into consideration the following factors for 
determining any variance in our commissions charged: (i) availability of the security generally, (ii) estimated internal 
expenses on the transaction and (iii) total cost to buyers and sellers (i.e. does the buyer or seller pay additional fees imposed 
by the issuer, such as for legal opinions, transfer fees or escrow fees).

To strengthen our ties in the private market, our tech-enabled offering Forge Company Solutions (“FCS”) provides 
private companies with streamlined liquidity processes, expert guidance and relationship management. FCS leverages our 
software solution to provide private companies with oversight and control of company share transactions while reducing 
administrative burden. FCS offers fixed-price programs and market-based programs that provide issuer standard 
documentation and streamlined online workflows to efficiently run liquidity processes for shareholders and investors. 

Custody Solutions

Forge Trust

Forge Trust makes it easy and seamless for investors, equity holders and institutions to hold, value and manage 
assets. Through a South Dakota trust company, Forge Trust enables account holders to invest and custody assets such as 
private company shares, private equity, venture capital and real estate.

Forge Trust currently serves primarily as a custodian of self-directed individual retirement accounts ("SDIRAs") 
holding alternative assets. The evaluation of investment suitability and risks rests with the account holder and their advisor, if 
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any. As a result, Forge Trust is not responsible for the financial performance of custodial assets and does not provide any 
insurance coverage for the investment risks that are entirely borne by the SDIRA owner.

In addition, Forge Trust offers a powerful, highly scalable cloud-based custody platform that provides custody-as-a-
service to our clients. The custody platform provides an application programming interface (“API”) that enables our clients to 
easily integrate and offer our custody platform to their customers.

Our custody business earns recurring revenue from quarterly account and asset fees, cash administration fees, 
partnership fees and other transactional fees on accounts held at Forge Trust. On a quarterly basis, our SDIRA accounts are 
assessed maintenance fees and asset-based fees, with asset-based fees based on the complexity and the number of assets held. 
In addition, we assess per transaction fees based on the complexity of the transaction. This excludes our custody-as-a-service 
account revenues, which are based on contractually negotiated terms with our partners. As of December 31, 2022, Forge 
Trust had $14.9 billion of assets under custody through 1.9 million accounts.

Data Solutions

Forge Intelligence

Forge Intelligence is our subscription-based platform that provides customers data from multiple sources, including 
our anonymized historical trade and IOI data from the Forge Markets platform. This product serves market participants who 
are looking for timely and accurate data to solve the inherent information asymmetry that exists within the private markets.

As of December 31, 2022, our data set contained more than a decade of secondary trading data across more than 
1,000 private companies. We aggregate, verify, anonymize and supplement this data with additional details on companies that 
investors can use to research and analyze investment opportunities, including company descriptions, management team and 
investor details, and financing rounds and valuations on those rounds. We also provide analytics such as sector insights, peer 
comparisons and investment trends of prominent investors. Further data points include company waterfall charts, which can 
be used to analyze the changes in equity ownership and valuation resulting from different exit scenarios, as well as preferred 
equity conversion ratios and protective provisions such as liquidation preferences. 

Subscribers can access this data set through our web platform, as well as through our data feed offerings and file-
based and API delivery so that investors can utilize this data set in a manner that best matches their investment processes. 
Forge Intelligence earns revenue through an annual subscription fee. We aim to grow this revenue stream moving forward 
through direct sales, distribution and partnership arrangements, as well by adding new features and upgrades to the platform.

Our Growth Strategy

We believe the private market has an unmet need for the solutions we have built. We expect to leverage our platform 
to continue to drive growth primarily in the following areas:

• Additional Scale.  We will continue to invest and scale our key solutions and build our client and investor networks.

• New Products.  We will continue to build and add new products in support of, or in addition to our existing 
solutions.

• Partnerships.  We are building strong relationships with partners that we can work with to create improved 
technologies and help distribute our products and services.

• International Expansion. Issuers, buyers and sellers from over 70 jurisdictions have transacted on our platform 
since inception (as of December 31, 2022 and including the historical business and companies we have acquired on 
a pro forma basis). While our operations are chiefly located in the United States and the majority of our trading 
revenues are derived from transactions involving U.S. issuers, we have and may continue to expand our operations 
internationally in order to match the global demand for our products and services. In September 2022, we announced 
the establishment of Forge Europe with our long-time strategic partner Deutsche Börse to expand our platform into 
the European private market. Subject to the requisite regulatory approvals, Forge Europe is targeting its launch first 
in Germany in 2023, before a plan to expand to the rest of Europe. See “Risk Factors—Regulatory, Tax and Legal 
Risks—We have expanded and may continue to expand into international markets, which expose us to significant 
new risks, and our international expansion efforts may not be successful.”

• New Asset Classes.  We will continue to explore other asset classes that have significant investor demand.
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• Inorganic Opportunities.  We will focus on value-generating mergers, acquisitions and other strategic transactions, 
drawing on our track record of successfully completing acquisitions.

Our Competitive Strengths

We have built a market-leading financial services platform to streamline a complex and historically analog process 
and, in the process, changed the landscape of private market investing for companies, employees and investors. We believe 
we are well-positioned to serve an increasing portion of the broader financial services ecosystem.

Solely Focused on the Private Market

Since inception, we have built world-class technology and invested heavily in an organization focused solely on 
facilitating private market transactions. This proprietary technology and operating expertise is supported by standard 
documentation and efficient workflows which makes the processing of trades an efficient and user-friendly experience. 
Amassing the technical expertise and know-how to perform these tasks at scale is difficult, and we believe we are uniquely 
positioned as we continue to streamline large parts of this traditionally analog process.

Strategy Powered by Complementary and Integrated Solutions

We strategically built our business model around complementary solutions to deliver a robust set of products and 
services that provide a synergized customer experience, and strong user economics. We believe over time customers will 
increasingly look to end-to-end providers such as us that can provide a holistic approach to their private market needs. We 
believe the investments we have and continue to make will enable us to quickly introduce new products and services while 
also providing us the opportunity to quickly and profitably continue to scale.

Leading Platform in the Private Markets Operating at Scale

We believe that we are a leading private market trading platform based on the number of transactions we facilitate 
and an expanding network of participating companies, employees and investors, as well as strategic investors and commercial 
partners. Since inception, we have facilitated over $12 billion in transaction volume for approximately 23,000 transactions in 
over 500 companies (each figure as of December 31, 2022 and including the historical business and companies we have 
acquired on a pro forma basis). We have approximately 568,000 registered users, which includes approximately 552,000 
individual investors and approximately 16,000 institutional investors, with institutional investors representing approximately 
57% of our transaction volume since inception (each figure as of December 31, 2022 and including the historical business 
and companies we have acquired on a pro forma basis). We define institutional investors as (i) participants on our platform 
who report as legal entities with primary business activities related to private equity, investment activities or financial 
services and (ii) participants we verify as such. We continually seek client feedback and invest resources to improve the user 
experience, accelerate liquidity and attract new clients on the platform.

Technology and Creative Product Design

We believe participation in the private markets at scale can only happen by actively engaging with, and providing 
access to, a larger portion of the population through intuitive user-friendly technology and products. We put innovation and 
design at the center of our products with the goal of making the user experience as easy and enjoyable as possible. We 
involve our talented product designers early and often throughout our product development process to create elegant 
experiences that solve the private markets’ biggest pain points and address our customers’ largest needs.

Diverse and Experienced Team

We have assembled a deep and experienced leadership team that includes senior executives from innovative 
technology companies and top-tier financial firms, leading public market exchanges and globally recognized asset managers. 
We operate as one team, leveraging our collective expertise, particularly in technology and product development, to enhance 
and expand our operations. We are also proud and fortunate to have talented and passionate employees that are bold, humble 
and accountable and a culture that puts trust, transparency and collaboration top-of-mind.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy creates enterprise value by building our brand, attracting, engaging, converting and retaining 
clients, and delivering compelling content and experiences that help people reach their financial goals.
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We believe that our brand is the collection of every experience a person has with our company over time and we 
strive to deliver on our brand promise to our customers, our partners and our employees each and every day. As such, we 
know that marketing serves as our voice to customers and the source of unification across the end-to-end customer journey. 
Our focus is to amplify Forge’s position as the experts in the private markets and to develop customer experiences that 
reinforce that position. 

We approach customer engagement and acquisition across a combination of owned, earned, and paid channels 
including:

• An integrated growth strategy across product, marketing and sales, that engages our discrete audiences to learn and 
participate in the private market with Forge

• A robust content strategy and search engine optimization (“SEO") that drives organic customer awareness and 
engagement

• PR and social media that amplifies our messages and drives qualified customers to us directly

• Paid channels including paid search, digital acquisition, and sponsorships to target prospective customers across 
their journey

• A strategic lifecycle communications program - through product and marketing - that engages prospects and clients 
with content and experiences that serve to qualify and drive participation in the private market

We believe we have built a highly effective and efficient approach to new customer engagement and lead 
acquisition, and are focused on expanding our full-funnel marketing programs—from awareness to re-engagement—across 
our priority audiences to extend our reach and reinforce our position in the market.

Competition

We compete with individual brokers and companies that provide access to private market trading, issuer tender 
offers, custody services, data products and other private market capital solutions. Competitors in these spaces include other  
private market platforms and offline brokers, global banks, custodial service providers and subscription-based data providers 
(including data divisions of large stock exchanges).

We believe we are highly differentiated relative to our competition as a result of having a business focused on 
unified and complementary solutions, strategic and commercial partners that includes exchanges, global banks, cap table 
companies and asset managers, as well as existing scale where volume begets volume, creating an inflection point that 
accelerates market adoption for our solutions.

Human Capital Resources

At Forge, we believe that our people are our greatest asset. We welcome people from all backgrounds and foster a 
culture where everyone can show up as their whole self each day. We care for and respect each other, and embrace diversity 
by celebrating different perspectives, skills and experiences. As of December 31, 2022, we had approximately 315 full-time 
employees. We also engage temporary employees and consultants as needed to support our operations.

Employee Experience

Our priority is to promote a sense of belonging and community through our fun and compelling work environment. 
We cultivate community and collaboration through an excellent employee experience. By providing transparency through 
continuous, high-impact communication, we strive to ensure that employees understand what we do, how the organization 
works and how their work impacts the greater goals of the organization.

We have established a Culture Council consisting of representatives across the organization with the purpose of 
promoting a unified culture, ensuring inclusion and participation of all employees. Objectives and goals of the Culture 
Council include awareness, promotion and modeling of values; cross divisional trust and collaboration with supporting 
dialogue; employee engagement and satisfaction; and consistency across divisions through communication, culture-
supportive training and leadership. We also have employee resource groups that meet regularly, providing opportunities for 
employees to connect over shared interests and activities; senior executives regularly attend these meetings and get to know 
our growing employee base.
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Career Opportunities

Forge offers unique career development and growth opportunities in our fast-paced, high-growth environment. 
Everyone is an innovator at Forge - we seek ideas and inspiration from all teams and levels across the organization. We 
support innovation and encourage entrepreneurship as we forge connections and relationships, creating an enriched future for 
all.

Health, Wellness and Total Rewards

Our goal is to help our employees thrive by supporting where they are in their lives through competitive 
compensation and rich benefits offerings. Our compensation programs are designed to attract, retain and motivate employees 
who are highly skilled in their roles and share in our vision and values of being bold, accountable and humble. In addition to 
traditional benefits, we offer employee rewards and recognition programs to recognize and celebrate excellent work that 
aligns with our core company values. We provide continuous recognition of employee milestones, wins and hard work.

Values

We are driven by our shared values and put team before self. We are:

• Bold: Innovate by delivering new ideas and solutions. We have the courage to take risks and push past our comfort 
zone while respectfully challenging ideas. We redefine failures as learning opportunities.

• Accountable: Debate, commit, take ownership and support the team. Once the direction has been determined, we 
work as a team by going beyond personal responsibilities to deliver results.

• Humble: Exemplify excellence without arrogance. We focus on collective success through collaboration while 
practicing empathy to support the team. We listen with openness and seek to understand before being understood.

Diversity and Inclusion

Diversity is about our people, geography and partners. We strive to build a globally inclusive culture and diverse 
organization. Inclusion is about our connections. We aim to build skills that nurture respectful conversations, create deeper 
human connections and encourage diverse interactions.

The purpose of our Diversity and Inclusion programs is advocacy for underrepresented groups, community service 
and workplace wellness; ensure all employees have the opportunity to be heard, valued and engaged; and to share ideas, drive 
results, forge relationships and ensure alignment between business and diversity strategies.

Our Diversity and Inclusion programs continue to grow and evolve, just as we do as a team. Through our Diversity 
and Inclusion programs, we seek to uplift coworkers and communities as we work with teammates across the organization to 
get involved and give back to the community.

Government Regulation

We operate in a rapidly evolving regulatory environment and are subject to extensive and complex regulations. Any 
actual or perceived failure to comply with these requirements may result in, among other things, revocation of required 
licenses or registrations, loss of approved status, regulatory or governmental investigations, administrative enforcement 
actions, sanctions (including monetary penalties, civil and criminal liability, litigation, reputational harm or constraints on our 
ability to operate. We could be subject to additional legal and regulatory requirements if laws and regulations change in the 
jurisdictions we operate.

U.S. Regulation

U.S. federal and state securities laws establish a system of regulation of securities, fund management, custody and 
lending markets in which we operate. This regulatory framework applies to our U.S. businesses in the following ways:

• regulation of our broker-dealer and registered investment advisor subsidiaries;

• regulation of our South Dakota chartered non-depository licensed trust company; and

• regulation of our California licensed lending subsidiary.
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Broker Dealer Regulation. Our broker-dealer subsidiary, Forge Securities LLC ("Forge Securities"), is subject to 
regulation by the SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”), regulators in all U.S. states, Washington, 
DC, Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands. FINRA is a self-regulatory organization that oversees and regulates Forge 
Securities in addition to oversight and regulation by the SEC. Forge Securities also operates an SEC-regulated alternative 
trading system that facilitates the purchase and sale of unregistered securities. Forge Securities is subject to the Bank Secrecy 
Act, as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act (the "Bank Secrecy Act"), the regulations promulgated by the Financial Crimes 
Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”), as well as the economic and trade sanction programs administered by the U.S. 
Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”).

Investment Advisor Regulation. Our investment adviser subsidiary, Forge Global Advisors LLC (“FGA”), is 
registered with and subject to regulation by the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 (the "Advisers Act”). FGA 
provides advisory and management services to our Investment Funds that are not registered under the Investment Company 
Act of 1940. The Advisers Act imposes duties and restrictions on FGA, including requirements relating to the safekeeping of 
client funds and securities, prohibitions of fraudulent activities, disclosure and reporting obligations, and fiduciary duty 
obligations.

Trust Regulation. Our state-chartered non-depository trust company subsidiary, Forge Trust Co., is subject to 
regulation and examination by the South Dakota Division of Banking. Forge Trust Co. provides individual investors custodial 
services for self-directed Traditional Individual Retirement Accounts, Roth Individual Retirement Accounts, SIMPLE 
Accounts, SEP Accounts, and Coverdell Education Savings Accounts, as well as Inherited IRAs, Individual Solo 401k plans, 
Private Fund Custody and safekeeping. Forge Trust Co. is also subject to the Bank Secrecy Act, the regulations promulgated 
by FinCEN, as well as the economic and trade sanction programs administered by OFAC.

Lending Regulation. Forge Lending, LLC (“Forge Lending”), our licensed lender with the State of California, is 
subject to regulation and examination by the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation pursuant to the California 
Finance Lending Laws. Forge Lending is engaged in the business of originating loans to option holders in the stock of 
unregistered private companies for the purpose of exercising these options in connection with a follow up sale of the acquired 
securities on Forge Markets.

Asia-Pacific Regulation

Our Singapore-based subsidiary, SharesPost Asia Pte. Ltd. (“SP-Asia”) is subject to regulation by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) under the Securities and Futures Act (Cap. 289), the Securities and Futures (Organized 
Markets) Regulations 2018, and any directives issued by the MAS from time to time, including those pertaining to the 
prevention of money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism. SP-Asia holds a Recognized Market Operator 
license with MAS; however, it currently does not engage in any business activities.

Data Privacy

Our businesses collect, store, share, transfer, use and otherwise process the personal data of individuals worldwide. 
Laws and regulations such as the European Union General Data Protection Regulation, the California Consumer Privacy Act 
and other U.S. state regulations may impose stringent data protection requirements on our businesses and grant covered 
individuals various rights with regard to personal information relating to them, including in some cases the right to request 
disclosure of the categories and specific pieces of personal information collected by our businesses and the right to request 
erasure of such personal information.

Intellectual Property

At Forge, we rely primarily on trade secret, copyright and trademark law to protect our proprietary intellectual 
property in the United States and foreign jurisdictions. Because federal, state and common law rights provide only limited 
protection for intellectual property, we employ a strict policy of requiring non-disclosure agreements and intellectual property 
protections in our vendor and licensing agreements, including feedback assignments and work-for-hire provisions. As an 
example, Forge’s licensing agreement for our Forge Intelligence product features strong confidentiality and intellectual 
property protections. Further, users of our websites and solutions all accept the terms of service that clearly identify content 
owned and controlled by Forge. We have always emphasized innovation in our products and solutions. As of December 31, 
2022, we have 12 active applications for patents in the United States and EU.

Corporate Information
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Forge was initially founded in January 2014 as Equidate, Inc. We acquired IRA Services, Inc. ("IRA Services") in 
October 2019. We acquired SharesPost, Inc. ("SharesPost") in November 2020 (which was formed in March 2009). On 
March 21, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), we consummated our business combination pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and 
Plan of Merger, dated September 13, 2021 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Motive Capital Corp, a blank check 
company incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company in 2020 ("MOTV"), FGI Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of MOTV (“Merger Sub”), and Forge Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation 
("Legacy Forge"). 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, immediately prior to the consummation of the Business 
Combination (as defined below), MOTV changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of 
Delaware and changed its corporate name to "Forge Global Holdings, Inc." (the “Domestication”). On the Closing Date, 
Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Forge (the "Merger"), with Legacy Forge surviving the Merger as a direct, wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Merger, the Domestication and the other transactions contemplated by 
the Merger Agreement, the “Business Combination”).

Our principal executive offices are located at 415 Mission Street, Suite 5510, San Francisco, California 94105, and 
our telephone number is (415) 881-1612. Our website address is www.forgeglobal.com. Information contained on, or that can 
be accessed through, our website does not constitute part of this Report and inclusions of our website address in this Report 
are inactive textual references only. You should not consider information contained on our website to be part of this Report or 
in deciding whether to purchase our securities.

“Forge Global”, our logo and our other registered or common law trademarks, service marks or trade names 
appearing in this Report are the property of Forge. Other trademarks and trade names referred to in this Report are the 
property of their respective owners.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and 
amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the 
Exchange Act, are filed with the SEC. Such reports and other information filed by us with the SEC are available free of 
charge on our website at www.ir.forgeglobal.com when such reports are available on the SEC’s website. The SEC maintains 
an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file 
electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The information contained on the websites referenced in this Report is not 
incorporated by reference into this filing. Further, our references to website URLs are intended to be inactive textual 
references only.

We announce material information to the public about our company and other matters through a variety of means, 
including our website (www.forgeglobal.com), the investor relations section of our website (ir.forgeglobal.com), press 
releases, filings with the SEC, and public conference calls, in order to achieve broad, non-exclusionary distribution of 
information to the public. We encourage investors and others to review the information we make public in these locations, as 
such information could be deemed to be material information. Please note that this list may be updated from time to time.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the factors discussed elsewhere in this Report, the following risks and uncertainties, some of which 
have occurred and any of which may occur in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we 
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Our actual 
results may differ materially from any future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements as a result of 
various factors, including, but not limited to, those discussed in the sections of this Report titled “Cautionary Note Regarding 
Forward-Looking Statements” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations.”

Risk Factor Summary

An investment in our securities is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and the following is a summary of key 
risk factors when considering an investment. You should read this summary together with the more detailed description of 
each risk factor contained in the subheadings further below. 

• We have a history of losses and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.
• Our customers may encounter difficulties with investing through our platform, and face risks including those related 

to a lack of information available about private companies, liquidity concerns and potential transfer or sale 
restrictions with respect to securities offered on our platform.
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• There is no assurance that our revenue and business models will be successful.
• If we are unable to develop new solutions or adapt to technological changes, our revenue may not grow as expected.
• If we fail to attract new customers, or fail to do so in a cost-effective manner, our business may be harmed.
• We face intense and increasing competition and, if we do not compete effectively, our competitive positioning and 

our operating results will be harmed. Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, 
particularly with respect to our financial services business, significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and 
other resources and a larger customer base than we do.

• Geopolitical conflicts, trailing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and other macroeconomic conditions and their 
resultant impacts on the global financial markets, may harm our business and our reputation. 

• We rely on our management team and will require additional key personnel to grow our business, and the loss of key 
management members or key employees, or an inability to hire key personnel, could harm our business.

• Our business is subject to extensive laws and regulations promulgated by U.S. state, U.S. federal and non-U.S. laws, 
including those applicable to broker dealers, investment advisers and alternative trading systems, including 
regulation by the SEC and FINRA in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Compliance with laws and regulations 
require significant expense and devotion of resources, which may adversely affect our ability to operate profitably.

• We may be unable to sufficiently obtain, maintain, protect, or enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary 
rights, any of which could reduce our competitiveness and harm our business and operating results.

• We collect, store, share, disclose, transfer, use and otherwise process customer information and other data, including 
personal information, and an actual or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers to protect such 
information and data or respect customers’ privacy could damage our reputation and brand, negatively affect our 
ability to retain customers and harm our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and prospects.

• We depend on third parties for a wide array of services, systems and information technology applications, and a 
breach or violation of law by one of these third parties could disrupt our business or provide our competitors with an 
opportunity to enhance their position at our expense. Additionally, the loss of any of those service providers could 
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

• Cyber incidents or attacks directed at us and to our systems could result in unauthorized access, information theft, 
data corruption, operational disruption and/or financial and reputational loss, and we may not be able to insure 
against such risk.

• We have previously completed and may continue to evaluate and complete acquisitions in the future, which could 
require significant management attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders, increase expenses and 
disrupt our business and adversely affect our financial results.

Risks Related to Our Business

We have a history of losses and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

Our net loss was $111.9 million and $18.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
As of December 31, 2022, we had an accumulated deficit of $190.4 million. We may continue to incur net losses in the 
future. We will need to generate and sustain significant revenue for our business generally in future periods in order to 
achieve and maintain profitability. We also expect general and administrative expenses to continue to increase to meet the 
increased compliance and other requirements associated with operating as a public company and evolving regulatory 
requirements.

Our efforts to grow our business may be more costly than we expect, and we may not be able to increase our 
revenue sufficiently to offset our higher operating expenses. We may continue to incur losses, and we may not achieve or 
maintain future profitability due to a number of reasons, including the risks described in this Report, unforeseen expenses, 
difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown events. Furthermore, if our future growth and operating 
performance fail to meet investor or analyst expectations, or if we have future negative cash flow or losses resulting from 
expanding our operations, this could make it difficult for you to evaluate our current business and our future prospects and 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We face intense and increasing competition and, if we do not compete effectively, our competitive positioning and our 
operating results will be harmed. Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, 
particularly with respect to our financial services business, significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other 
resources and a larger customer base than we do.

We expect our competition to continue to increase. In addition to established enterprises and global banks, we may 
also face competition from early-stage companies attempting to capitalize on the same, or similar, opportunities as we are. 
Some of our current and potential competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical, 
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marketing, and other resources and a larger customer base than we do. Any of these advantages would allow competitors to 
potentially offer more competitive pricing or other terms or features, a broader range of investment and financial products, or 
a more specialized set of specific products or services, as well as respond more quickly than we can to new or emerging 
technologies and changes in customer preferences, among other items. Our existing or future competitors may develop 
products or services that are similar to our products and services or that achieve greater market acceptance than our products 
and services, which could attract new customers away from our services and reduce our market share in the future. 
Additionally, when new competitors seek to enter our markets, or when existing market participants seek to increase their 
market share, these competitors sometimes undercut, or otherwise exert pressure on, the pricing terms prevalent in that 
market, which could adversely affect our revenues, market share or ability to capitalize on new market opportunities.

Our customers may encounter difficulties with investing through our platform, and face risks including those related to a 
lack of information available about private companies, liquidity concerns and potential transfer or sale restrictions with 
respect to securities offered on our platform.

Institutions and individual investors face significant risk when buying securities on our platform, which may make our 
product offerings generally less attractive. These risks include the following:

• private companies may exercise their right of first refusal over the securities or otherwise prohibit the transfer of the 
securities, and therefore certain securities on our platform may not be available to certain investors;

• private companies are not required to make periodic public filings, and therefore certain capitalization, operational 
and financial information may not be available for evaluation;

• an investment may only be appropriate for investors with a long-term investment horizon and a capacity to absorb a 
loss of some or all of their investment;

• the securities, when purchased, are generally highly illiquid, are often subject to further transfer restrictions, and no 
public market exists for such securities;

• post-IPO transfer restrictions, including lock-up restrictions, may ultimately limit the ability to sell the securities on 
the open market; and

• transactions may fail to settle, which could harm our reputation.

We have been or are involved in, and may in the future become involved in, disputes or litigation matters between 
customers with respect to failed transactions on our platform (such as in the event of delayed delivery or a failure to 
deliver securities).

We have been or are involved in, and may in the future become involved in, disputes and litigation matters between 
customers with respect to transactions on our platform. The high notional value of transactions on our platform makes us a 
target for clients to engage in lawsuits between one another and/or with us. There is a risk that clients may increasingly look 
to us to make them whole for delayed and/or broken trades. Customers may litigate over a failure of sellers to deliver 
securities or over the untimely deliveries of securities. Any litigation to which we are a party could be expensive and time 
consuming, regardless of the ultimate outcome, and the potential costs and risks of such litigation may incentivize us to settle. 
Additionally, we may agree to forego commissions in a failed settlement situation even if we are not at fault or do not have an 
obligation to do so for customer relations or other reasons. If we reduce or forego commissions on behalf of clients, it would 
lead to a reduction in profits.

There is no assurance that our revenue and business models will be successful.

The majority of our revenue is derived from commissions earned on securities-based transactions, or placement fees. 
We maintain a platform which generates revenue through our Forge Markets offering by volume-based fees sourced from 
institutions, individual investors and shareholders. Furthermore, although we continue to invest and develop our platform to 
complete transactions in a more automated and tech enabled manner, portions of our platform rely upon manual procedures 
carried out by our private market specialists who help facilitate trades between buyers and sellers. We also generate revenues 
through our Forge Trust offering with account fees, cash management fees and custody-as-a-service fees through custodial 
offerings, or custodial administration fees for all Forge customers and also through our Forge Intelligence and FCS offerings.

With respect to placement fees, a decline in the price of securities transactions brokered by us, or a decline in the 
financial markets generally, or a decline in fee rates could negatively impact our revenue and overall financial position. 
Additionally, if we fail to acquire and retain new institutions, individual investors and shareholders, or fail to do so in a cost-
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effective manner, we may be unable to increase revenue and achieve profitability for our Forge Markets and Forge Trust 
offerings. Additionally, our Forge Intelligence and FCS offerings may not gain market acceptance or prove to be profitable in 
the long term. While some of our issuer customers may prefer that we not publish the transaction prices for transactions in 
their securities, which could impact our Forge Intelligence and Forge Markets offerings, we maintain that such prices are, by 
definition, information belonging to us. We negotiate exceptions to this policy on a case-by-case basis, and such exceptions 
have historically been very limited.

We are continually refining our revenue and business model, which is premised on creating a virtuous cycle for our 
clients to engage in more products across our platform. We promote our complementary offerings such as Forge Intelligence 
and FCS to the institutions, individual investors and shareholders who partake in our Forge Markets offering. There is no 
assurance that these efforts will be successful or that we will generate revenues commensurate with our efforts and 
expectations, or become profitable. We may be forced to make significant changes to our revenue and business model to 
compete with our competitors’ offerings, and even if such changes are undertaken, there is no guarantee that they will be 
successful. Additionally, we will likely be required to hire, train and integrate qualified personnel to meet and further our 
business objectives, and our ability to successfully do so is uncertain.

If we are unable to develop new solutions or adapt to technological changes, our revenue may not grow as expected.

We operate in a dynamic industry characterized by rapidly evolving technology, frequent product introductions and 
competition based on pricing and other differentiators. Our scalability could be contingent on us successfully building a 
mobile app for our services, which may be expensive and time consuming, and the success of which is not guaranteed. In 
addition, we may increasingly rely on technological innovation as we introduce new types of products, expand our current 
products into new markets and continue to streamline our platform. The process of developing new technologies and products 
is complex, and if we are unable to successfully innovate and continue to deliver a superior experience, demand for our 
products may decrease and our growth and operations may be harmed.

If we fail to attract new customers, or fail to do so in a cost-effective manner, our business may be harmed.

Our continued business and revenue growth is dependent on our ability to attract new customers, retain existing 
customers and increase their use of our products, and we cannot be sure that we will be successful in these efforts. As we 
expand our business operations and potentially enter new markets, new challenges in attracting and retaining customers will 
arise that we may not successfully address. Our success, and our ability to increase revenues and operate profitably, depends 
in part on our ability to cost-effectively acquire new customers, retain existing customers and keep existing customers 
engaged so that they continue to use our products and services.

If we fail to effectively manage any future growth, our business, operating results and financial condition could be 
adversely affected.

We have and expect to continue to experience growth, and intend to continue to expand our operations. This growth 
has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our management and operational and financial infrastructure, 
and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected if we are unable to 
manage such growth.

In addition, we are required to continuously develop and adapt our systems and infrastructure in response to the 
increasing sophistication of the financial services market, evolving fraud and information security landscape, and regulatory 
developments relating to existing and projected business activities. Our future growth will depend, among other things, on 
our ability to maintain an operating platform and management system apt to address such growth, and will require us to incur 
significant additional expenses, expand our workforce and commit additional senior management and operational resources.

To manage our growth effectively, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and management systems 
and controls by, among other things:

• effectively attracting, training, integrating and retaining new employees;

• further improving our key business systems, processes, and information technology infrastructure, including our and 
third-party services, to support our business needs;

• enhancing our information, training and communication systems to ensure that our employees are well-coordinated 
and can effectively communicate with each other and our customers; and
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• improving our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures to ensure timely and 
accurate reporting of our operational and financial results.

If we fail to manage our expansion, implement improvements or maintain effective internal controls and procedures, 
our costs and expenses may increase more than we plan and we may lose the ability to develop new solutions, satisfy our 
customers, respond to competitive pressures or otherwise execute our business plan.

Our projections and key performance metrics are subject to significant risks, assumptions, estimates, judgments and 
uncertainties. As a result, our financial and operating results may differ materially from our expectations.

We operate in a competitive industry, and our projections and calculations of key performance metrics are subject to 
the risks and assumptions made by management with respect to our industry. Operating results are difficult to forecast 
because they generally depend on a number of factors, including the competition we face, as well as our ability to attract and 
retain customers while generating sustained revenues through our services. We may be unable to adopt measures in a timely 
manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in income. Any of these factors could cause our operating results in a 
given quarter to be higher or lower than expected, which makes creating accurate forecasts and budgets challenging. As a 
result, we may fall materially short of our forecasts and expectations, including with respect to our key performance metrics, 
which could cause our stock price to decline and investors to lose confidence in us and our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

We may require additional capital to satisfy our liquidity needs and support business growth and objectives, and this 
capital might not be available to us on reasonable terms, if at all, and may be delayed or prohibited by applicable 
regulations.

Maintaining adequate liquidity is crucial to our securities brokerage business operations, including key functions 
such as transaction settlement and custody requirements. We meet our liquidity needs primarily from working capital and 
cash generated by customer activity, as well as from external equity financing. Increases in the number of customers, 
fluctuations in customer cash or deposit balances, as well as market conditions or changes in regulatory treatment of customer 
deposits, may affect our ability to meet our liquidity needs. Our broker-dealer subsidiary, Forge Securities, LLC (“Forge 
Securities”), is subject to Rule 15c3-1 under the Exchange Act, which specifies minimum capital requirements intended to 
ensure the general financial soundness and liquidity of broker-dealers, and Forge Securities is subject to Rule 15c3-3 under 
the Exchange Act, which requires broker-dealers to maintain certain liquidity reserves. Additionally, our trust company 
subsidiary, Forge Trust, is subject to minimum capital requirements of the State of South Dakota, in which it is chartered.

A reduction in our liquidity position could reduce our customers’ confidence in us, which could result in the 
withdrawal of customer assets and loss of customers, or could cause us to fail to satisfy broker-dealer or other regulatory 
capital guidelines, which may result in immediate suspension of securities activities, regulatory prohibitions against certain 
business practices, increased regulatory inquiries and reporting requirements, increased costs, fines, penalties or other 
sanctions, including suspension or expulsion by the SEC, FINRA or other self-regulatory organizations or state regulators, 
and could ultimately lead to the liquidation of our broker-dealers or other regulated entities.

In addition to requiring liquidity for our securities brokerage business and our other regulated businesses, we may 
also require additional capital to continue to support the growth of our business and respond to competitive challenges, 
including the need to promote our products and services, develop new products and services, enhance our existing products, 
services and operating infrastructure, and acquire and invest in complementary companies, businesses and technologies.

When available cash is not sufficient for our liquidity and growth needs, we may need to engage in equity or debt 
financings to secure additional funds. There can be no assurance that such additional funding will be available on terms 
attractive to us, or at all, and our inability to obtain additional funding when needed could have an adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or 
convertible debt securities, our stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new shares we issue in connection 
therewith could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of our current stockholders. Any debt financing 
secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital-raising activities and other financial and 
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue future business 
opportunities. In addition, the current market environment with rising term structures of rates, increasing credit spreads, and a 
lull in capital raise activities generally, could make it challenging to raise capital or shore up additional liquidity.

We have previously completed and may continue to evaluate and complete acquisitions in the future, which could require 
significant management attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders, increase expenses and disrupt our 
business and adversely affect our financial results.
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Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to expand our business. In some circumstances, we may determine to 
do so through the acquisition of complementary assets, businesses and technologies rather than through internal development. 
The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and costly, and we may not be able to 
successfully complete or integrate acquisitions. The risks we face in connection with acquisitions include:

• diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to addressing acquisition integration 
challenges;

• poor quality or misleading performance data available during due diligence, and resultant inability to realize the 
projected benefits of such acquisitions;

• coordination of technology, product development, risk management and sales and marketing functions;

• retention of employees from the acquired company, and retention of our employees who were attracted to us because 
of our smaller size or for other reasons;

• cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization;

• integration of the acquired company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other 
administrative systems;

• the need to implement or improve controls, procedures and policies at a business that prior to the acquisition may 
have lacked effective controls, information security safeguards, procedures and policies;

• potential write-offs or impairments of goodwill, other intangible assets or long-lived assets ;

• liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including intellectual property infringement 
claims, violations of laws, commercial disputes, tax liabilities and other known and unknown liabilities;

• litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, 
subscribers, former shareholders or other third parties; and

• geographic expansion that may expose our business to known and unknown regulatory compliance risks including 
elevated risk factors for tax compliance, money laundering controls, and supervisory controls oversight.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our acquisitions and investments 
could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause us to incur unanticipated 
liabilities and harm our business generally. Future acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, 
the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, regulatory obligations to further capitalize our business, and goodwill and 
intangible asset impairments, any of which could harm our financial condition and negatively impact our shareholders. To the 
extent we pay the consideration for any future acquisitions or investments in cash, it would reduce the amount of cash 
available to us for other purposes. In addition, to the extent we issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisitions or 
investments, any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant dilution of their 
ownership interests and the per share value of our common stock to decline.

Geopolitical conflicts, trailing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, and other macroeconomic conditions and their 
resultant impacts on the global financial markets, may harm our business and our reputation. 

As a financial services company, our business, results of operations and reputation are directly affected by elements 
beyond our control, such as macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions that might affect the volatility in financial markets. 

We continue to operate through a period of economic uncertainty and capital markets disruption, given the high 
global inflation being experienced, and the monetary responses of U.S. and global regulators to tame it through means such as 
interest rate hikes. Lowered growth forecasts and potential recession outcomes of an unknown duration have led to increased 
volatility and liquidity risks to private equity valuations and uncertainty around settlement prices for illiquid assets. Such 
events have and could continue to negatively impact our performance by decreasing investor appetite and investment 
preferences across the alternative investment and private markets space. A prolonged weakness in the U.S. equity markets or 
a general economic recession could also cause our existing customers to incur losses, which in turn could cause our brand and 
reputation to suffer. If our reputation is harmed, the willingness of such customers to continue engaging with our platform 
could decrease, which would further adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The escalation of geopolitical tensions, including the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine continue to stress 
supply chains as do ongoing COVID-19 impacts. Our business may be adversely affected by any negative impact on the 
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global economy and capital markets resulting from the conflict in Ukraine or any other geopolitical tensions. We are 
continuing to monitor the conflict in Ukraine and globally and assessing its potential impact on our business.

In addition, although the U.S. federal government recently announced that the emergency declaration for the 
COVID-19 pandemic will end in May 2023, the long-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations remains uncertain. The COVID-19 pandemic and the various measures instituted by 
governments and businesses to mitigate its spread, including travel restrictions, stay-at-home orders and quarantine 
restrictions, have had an adverse impact on our customers, employees and business partners. It may continue to disrupt our 
operations if there is a resurgence, such as an outbreak of a new variant, which could exacerbate the factors described above 
and intensify the impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We also continue to monitor developments related to the U.K. formally leaving the European Union (“EU”) on 
January 31, 2020 (“Brexit”) following the end of the transition period on December 31, 2020. While the EU and the U.K. 
agreed to the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, which took effect on January 1, 2021, to establish some of the key 
aspects of the U.K. and EU post-Brexit relationship, it is incomplete, and the full effects of Brexit are uncertain. Any 
operations we conduct or may conduct in the U.K. or EU in the future as the U.K. determines which EU laws to replace or 
replicate could be adversely affected by these effects of Brexit.

Our business depends on our trusted brand, and failure to maintain and protect our brand, or any damage to our 
reputation, or the reputation of our partners, could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of 
operations.

We believe we are developing a trusted brand that has contributed to the success of our business. We believe that 
maintaining and promoting our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our 
products and services and expanding our base of customers. Maintaining, promoting and positioning our brand and reputation 
will depend on our ability to continue to provide useful, reliable, secure, and innovative products and services; to maintain 
trust and remain a financial services leader; and to provide a consistent, high-quality customer experience.

We may introduce, or make changes to, features, products, services, privacy practices or terms of service that 
customers do not like, which may materially and adversely affect our brand. Our brand promotion activities may not generate 
customer awareness or increase revenue, and even if they do, any increase in revenue may not offset the expenses we incur in 
building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, 
our business could be materially and adversely harmed.

Harm to our brand can arise from many sources, including failure by us or our partners and service providers to 
satisfy expectations of service and quality, inadequate protection or actual or perceived misuse of personally identifiable 
information, compliance failures and claims, regulatory inquiries and enforcement, rumors, litigation and other claims, 
misconduct by our partners, employees or other counterparties, and actual or perceived failure to adequately address the 
environmental, social and governance expectations of our various stakeholders, any of which could lead to a tarnished 
reputation and loss of customers. We may in the future be the target of incomplete, inaccurate, and misleading or false 
statements about our company and our business that could damage our brand and deter customers from adopting our services. 
Any negative publicity about our industry or our company, the quality and reliability of our products and services, our 
compliance and risk management processes, changes to our products and services, our privacy, data protection, and 
information security practices, litigation, regulatory licensing and infrastructure, and the experience of our customers with our 
products or services could adversely affect our reputation and the confidence in and use of our products and services. If we do 
not successfully maintain a strong and trusted brand, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be 
materially and adversely affected.

We conduct our brokerage and other business operations through subsidiaries and may in the future rely on dividends 
from our subsidiaries for a substantial amount of our cash flows.

We may in the future depend on dividends, distributions and other payments from our subsidiaries to fund payments 
on our obligations, including any debt obligations we may incur. Regulatory and other legal restrictions may limit our ability 
to transfer funds to or from certain subsidiaries, including Forge Securities. In addition, certain of our subsidiaries are subject 
to laws and regulations that authorize regulatory bodies to block or reduce the flow of funds to us, or that prohibit such 
transfers altogether in certain circumstances. These laws and regulations may hinder our ability to access funds that we may 
need to make payments on our obligations, including any debt obligations we may incur and otherwise conduct our business 
by, among other things, reducing our liquidity in the form of corporate cash. In addition to negatively affecting our business, 
a significant decrease in our liquidity could also reduce investor confidence in us. Certain rules and regulations of the SEC 
and FINRA may limit the extent to which our broker-dealer subsidiary may distribute capital to us. For example, under SEC 
rules applicable to Forge Securities, a dividend in excess of 30% of a member firm’s excess net capital may not be paid 
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without Forge Securities providing prior written notice. Compliance with these rules may impede our ability to receive 
dividends, distributions and other payments from Forge Securities.

Fluctuations in interest rates could impact our business.

Fluctuations in interest rates may adversely impact our customers’ general spending levels and risk appetite and 
ability and willingness to invest through our platform. Sustained high interest rates could shift investment preferences and 
affect fund redemption rates. Additionally, some of our services, such as our Forge Trust services, are affected by interest rate 
changes. Low interest rates directly reduce our ability to earn custodiaal administration fees from our Forge Trust services, 
which would adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and future prospects.

Any failure by us to maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting could have an adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures 
and internal controls over financial reporting. We are continuing to develop and refine our disclosure controls and other 
procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file with the SEC 
is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms and that 
information required to be disclosed in reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our principal 
executive and financial officers. We are also continuing to develop and refine our internal controls over financial reporting. 
Some members of our management team have limited or no experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with 
public company investors, and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies, and we have 
limited accounting and financial reporting personnel and other resources with which to address our internal controls and 
related procedures. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal 
controls over financial reporting, we have expended, and anticipate that we will continue to expend, significant resources, 
including accounting-related costs and significant management oversight.

Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of changes in conditions 
in our business. In addition, changes in accounting principles or interpretations, such as generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States, could also challenge our internal controls and require that we establish new business 
processes, systems and controls to accommodate such changes. We have limited experience with implementing the systems 
and controls that are necessary to operate as a public company, as well as adopting changes in accounting principles or 
interpretations mandated by the relevant regulatory bodies. Additionally, if these new systems, controls or standards and the 
associated process changes do not give rise to the benefits that we expect or do not operate as intended, it could adversely 
affect our financial reporting systems and processes, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial reports or the 
effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. Moreover, our business may be harmed if we experience 
problems with any new systems and controls that result in delays in their implementation or increased costs to correct any 
post-implementation issues that may arise.

Further, weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal controls over financial reporting may be discovered in 
the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or 
improvement could harm our business or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of 
our consolidated financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls over 
financial reporting could also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and annual independent 
registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial 
reporting that we will eventually be required to include in our periodic reports that will be filed with the SEC. Ineffective 
disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence 
in the accuracy and completeness of our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect 
on the trading price of our shares. In addition, if we are unable to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to 
remain listed on the NYSE. 

As a public company, we are required to provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of our internal 
controls over financial reporting commencing with our second Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, our independent 
registered public accounting firm will be required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial 
reporting commencing with our second Annual Report on Form 10-K. At such time, our independent registered public 
accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is not satisfied with the level at which our internal controls 
over financial reporting is documented, designed or operating. Any failure to maintain effective disclosure controls and 
internal controls over financial reporting could harm our business and could cause a decline in the trading price of our 
securities. In addition, we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the 
SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources. These events could 
have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
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If our goodwill, or other intangible assets, or fixed assets become impaired, we may be required to record a charge to our 
earnings.

We are required to test goodwill for impairment at least annually or earlier if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. As of December 31, 2022, we had recorded a total of approximately 
$134 million of goodwill and other intangible assets. An adverse change in domestic or global market conditions, particularly 
if such change has the effect of changing one of our critical assumptions or estimates made in connection with the impairment 
testing of goodwill or intangible assets, could result in a change to the estimation of fair value that could result in an 
impairment charge to our goodwill or other intangible assets. Any such material charges may have a negative impact on our 
operating results or financial condition.

Regulatory, Tax and Legal Risks

Our business is subject to extensive laws and regulations promulgated by U.S. state, U.S. federal and non-U.S. laws, 
including those applicable to broker-dealers, investment advisers and alternative trading systems, including regulation by 
the SEC and FINRA in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Compliance with laws and regulations require significant 
expense and devotion of resources, which may adversely affect our ability to operate profitably.

We offer investment management services through Forge Global Advisors ("FGA"), an investment adviser 
registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”), which is subject to regulation by the 
SEC. Forge Securities is an affiliated registered broker-dealer and FINRA member.

Investment advisers are subject to the anti-fraud provisions of the Advisers Act and to fiduciary duties derived from 
these provisions, which apply to our relationships with the funds we manage. These provisions and duties impose restrictions 
and obligations on us with respect to our dealings with our customers, fund investors and our investments; including, for 
example, restrictions on transactions with our affiliates. Accordingly, FGA is subject to periodic SEC examinations and other 
requirements under the Advisers Act and related regulations primarily intended to benefit advisory customers. These 
additional requirements relate to matters including maintaining effective and comprehensive compliance programs, record-
keeping and reporting and disclosure requirements. The Advisers Act generally grants the SEC broad administrative powers, 
including the power to limit or restrict an investment adviser from conducting advisory activities in the event it fails to 
comply with federal securities laws. Additional sanctions that may be imposed for failure to comply with applicable 
requirements include the prohibition of individuals from associating with an investment adviser, the revocation of 
registrations and other censures and fines. Even if an investigation or proceeding did not result in a sanction or the sanction 
imposed against us or our personnel by a regulator were small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity relating to the 
investigation, proceeding or imposition of these sanctions could harm our reputation and cause us to lose existing customers 
or fail to gain new customers.

Our subsidiary, Forge Securities, is a registered broker-dealer and FINRA member and operates an alternative 
trading system which files reports with the SEC. The securities industry is highly regulated, including under federal, state and 
other applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and we may be adversely affected by regulatory changes related to suitability of 
financial products, supervision, sales practices, advertising, private placements, application of fiduciary standards, best 
execution, and market structure, any of which could limit our business and damage our reputation. FINRA has adopted 
extensive regulatory requirements relating to sales practices, advertising, registration of personnel, compliance and 
supervision, and compensation and disclosure, to which Forge Securities and its personnel are subject. FINRA and the SEC 
also have the authority to conduct periodic examinations of Forge Securities, and may also conduct administrative 
proceedings. Additionally, material expansions of the business in which Forge Securities engages are subject to approval by 
FINRA. This could delay, or even prevent, the firm’s ability to expand its securities and brokerage offerings in the future.

We are subject to extensive, complex and evolving laws, rules and regulations, which are subject to change and which are 
interpreted and enforced by various federal, state and local government authorities and self-regulatory organizations. The 
ultimate impact of these laws and regulations remains uncertain, but may adversely affect our ability to operate profitably.

We are subject to various federal, state and local regulatory regimes. The principal policy objectives of these 
regulatory regimes are to protect borrowers, investors, and other financial services customers and to prevent fraud, money 
laundering, and terrorist financing. Laws and regulations, among other things, impose licensing and qualifications 
requirements; require various disclosures and consents; mandate or prohibit certain terms and conditions for various financial 
products; prohibit discrimination based on certain prohibited bases; prohibit unfair, deceptive, or abusive acts or practices; 
require us to submit to examinations by federal, state and local regulatory regimes; and require us to maintain various 
policies, procedures and internal controls, including in some cases, internal information barriers. There is a risk that our 
affiliated entities will not maintain proper information barriers if we fail to develop and enforce appropriate policies and 
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procedures regarding information barriers between entities. The introduction of new laws and regulations related to our 
businesses, and changes in the enforcement of existing laws and regulations, could have a negative impact on our results and 
ability to operate.

For example, recent news articles and statements from SEC commissioners have raised the possibility of additional 
transparency from large private companies. The reports indicate that the SEC will consider plans to require more private 
companies to routinely disclose information about their finances and operations. Currently, federal statute requires companies 
with more than 2,000 shareholders “of record” to register their securities with the SEC, but the SEC also allows an unlimited 
number of people to own shares in “street name” (through the same broker or investment vehicle) and count as one 
shareholder. The reports indicate that the SEC may decide to look through certain vehicles and count underlying investors as 
distinct shareholders.

We facilitate investments in certain issuers by way of pooled investment vehicles (each, an "Investment Fund"). If 
these Investment Funds were to be “looked through” to their underlying investors, issuers may be less amenable to funding 
from Investment Funds, including those facilitated on our platform. If new laws and regulations require certain private 
companies to publicly report, those companies may be incentivized to go public, which could decrease the number of issuers 
on our platform. On the other hand, if increased disclosure obligations do not drive impacted issuers to go public, the 
increased transparency could drive growth and interest in our platform.

As another example, Forge Trust Co., our South Dakota non-depository trust company and one of our wholly owned 
subsidiaries, is authorized to act as a custodian of self-directed individual retirement accounts. The United States Congress 
has recently proposed draft legislation that would significantly limit the types of investments and amounts that may be held in 
individual retirement accounts which, if enacted as proposed or substantially similar form, could negatively impact our 
current and future Forge Trust account holders and have an adverse effect on our Forge Trust custody business, which may in 
turn have an adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to overview by multiple regulators. Forge Trust Co. is subject to regulation and examinations by the 
South Dakota Division of Banking. Forge Trust Co. is also subject to the Bank Secrecy Act, the regulations promulgated by 
FinCEN, as well as the economic and trade sanction programs administered by OFAC. Additionally, Forge Lending LLC, our 
licensed lender with the State of California and one of our wholly owned subsidiaries, is subject to regulation and 
examinations by the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation pursuant to the California Finance Lending Laws.

Monitoring and complying with all applicable laws, regulations and regulators can be difficult and costly. Failure to 
comply with any of these requirements may result in, among other things, enforcement action by governmental authorities, 
lawsuits, monetary damages, fines or monetary penalties, restitution or other payments to investors, modifications to business 
practices, revocation of required licenses or registrations, voiding of loan contracts and reputational harm, all of which could 
materially harm our results of operations.

The regulatory requirements to which we are subject result in substantial compliance costs, and our business would be 
adversely affected if any applicable authorities determine we are not in compliance with those requirements.

We must comply with state licensing requirements and varying compliance requirements in all the states in which 
we operate and the District of Columbia. In addition, we rely on certain exemptions from licensing requirements in other 
jurisdictions where we conduct business. Changes in licensing and registration laws may result in increased disclosure 
requirements, increased fees, or may impose other conditions to licensing or registrations that we or our personnel are unable 
to meet. In most states and jurisdictions in which we operate, a regulatory agency or agencies regulate and enforce laws 
relating to loan servicers, brokers, and originators, collection agencies, and money services businesses. We are subject to 
periodic examinations by state and other regulators in the jurisdictions in which we conduct business, which can result in 
increases in our administrative costs and refunds to borrowers of certain fees earned by us, and we may be required to pay 
substantial and material penalties imposed by those regulators due to compliance errors, including any failures to properly 
register for applicable licenses or registrations, or we may lose our license or our ability to do business in the jurisdiction 
otherwise may be impaired. Fines and penalties incurred in one jurisdiction may cause investigations or other actions by 
regulators in other jurisdictions.

We may not be able to acquire or maintain all requisite licenses, registrations and permits. If we change or expand 
our business activities, such as through our recent establishment of Forge Europe, we may be required to obtain additional 
licenses before we can engage in those activities. When we apply for a new license, the applicable regulator may determine 
that we were required to do so at an earlier point in time, and as a result, may impose substantial and material penalties or 
refuse to issue the license, which could require us to modify or limit our activities in the relevant jurisdiction.
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In addition, the jurisdictions that currently do not provide extensive regulation of our business may later choose to 
do so, and if such jurisdictions so act, we may not be able to obtain or acquire or maintain all requisite licenses, registrations 
and permits, which could require us to modify or limit our activities in the relevant jurisdictions. The failure to satisfy those 
and other regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We have expanded and may continue to expand into international markets, which exposes us to significant new risks, and 
our international expansion efforts may not be successful.

We operate and serve investors in foreign jurisdictions, and our business is subject to the laws and requirements of 
each jurisdiction in which we operate. Issuers, buyers and sellers from over 70 jurisdictions use our platform. While our 
operations are chiefly located in the United States and the majority of our trading revenues are derived from transactions 
involving U.S. issuers, we have and may continue to expand our operations internationally in order to match the global 
demand for our products and services. For example, our Singapore-based subsidiary, SharesPost Asia Pte. Ltd. (“SP-Asia”) is 
subject to regulation by the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) under the Securities and Futures Act (Cap. 289), the 
Securities and Futures (Organized Markets) Regulations 2018, and any directives issued by the MAS from time to time, 
including those pertaining to the prevention of money laundering and countering the financing of terrorism. SP-Asia holds a 
Recognized Market Operator license with MAS; however, it currently does not engage in any business activities.

There is risk that local regulators may determine we are not in compliance with applicable local laws and 
regulations. In such cases, we may be subject to material fines and penalties, and may need to materially modify, limit, or 
cease operations in that jurisdiction. In addition, if we change or expand our business activities, such as through our recent 
establishment of Forge Europe, we may be required to obtain additional licenses or registrations before we can engage in 
those activities in each jurisdiction, which could cause us to incur substantial compliance costs. If we apply for a new license 
or registration, a regulator may determine that we were required to do so at an earlier point in time, and as a result, may 
impose penalties or refuse to issue the license, which could require us to materially modify, limit, or cease our activities in the 
relevant jurisdiction. We may be required to pay substantial penalties imposed by those regulators due to compliance errors, 
or we may lose our license or our ability to do business in the jurisdiction otherwise may be impaired. Fines and penalties 
incurred in one jurisdiction may cause investigations or other actions by regulators in other jurisdictions. This could be 
detrimental to our business, resulting in lost revenue, fines, or other adverse consequences. In addition, the jurisdictions that 
currently do not provide extensive regulation of our business may later choose to do so, and if such jurisdictions so act, we 
could incur substantial compliance costs and may not be able to obtain or maintain all requisite licenses and permits, which 
could require us to modify, limit, or cease our activities in the relevant jurisdiction or jurisdictions.

In addition to regulatory risks, there are significant risks and costs inherent in doing business in international 
markets, including:

• difficulty establishing and managing international operations and the increased operations, travel, infrastructure and 
legal and compliance costs associated with locations in different countries or regions;

• difficulties or delays in obtaining and/or maintaining the regulatory permissions, authorizations, licenses or consents 
that may be required to offer certain products in one or more international markets;

• difficulties in managing multiple regulatory relationships across different jurisdictions on complex legal and 
regulatory matters;

• difficulties in identifying and obtaining appropriate local foreign counsel in the jurisdictions in which we operate or 
plan to operate;

• if we were to engage in any merger or acquisition activity internationally, this is complex and would be new for us 
and subject to additional regulatory scrutiny;

• the need to vary products, pricing and margins to effectively compete in international markets;

• the need to adapt and localize products for specific countries, including obtaining rights to third-party intellectual 
property used in each country;

• increased competition from local providers of similar products and services;

• the challenge of positioning our products and services to meet a demand in the local market;

• the ability to obtain, maintain, protect, defend and enforce intellectual property rights abroad;
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• the need to offer customer support and other aspects of our offering (including websites, articles, blog posts and 
customer support documentation) in various languages;

• compliance with anti-bribery laws and the potential for increased complexity due to the requirements on us as a 
group to follow multiple rule sets;

• complexity and other risks associated with current and future legal requirements in other countries, including laws, 
rules, regulations and other legal requirements related to cybersecurity and data privacy frameworks and labor and 
employment laws;

• the need to enter into new business partnerships with third-party service providers in order to provide products and 
services in the local market, which we may rely upon to be able to provide such products and services or to meet 
certain regulatory obligations;

• varying levels of internet technology adoption and infrastructure, and increased or varying network and hosting 
service provider costs and differences in technology service delivery in different countries;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the requirements of currency control regulations, which might restrict or 
prohibit conversion of other currencies into U.S. dollars;

• taxation of our international earnings and potentially adverse tax consequences due to requirements of or changes in 
the income and other tax laws of the United States or the international jurisdictions in which we operate; and

• political or social unrest or economic instability in a specific country or region in which we operate.

We have limited experience with international regulatory environments and market practices, and we may not be 
able to penetrate or successfully operate in the markets we choose to enter. In addition, we may incur significant expenses as 
a result of our international expansion, and we may not be successful. We also may fail to sufficiently adapt our offerings in 
terms of language, culture, issuer operations, shareholder behaviors, investor preferences or otherwise, which would limit or 
prevent our success in entering new markets.

We have in the past, and will continue to be, subject to inquiries, exams, investigations or enforcement matters, any of 
which could have an adverse effect on our business.

The financial services industry is subject to extensive regulation under federal, state, and applicable international 
laws. From time to time, we have been threatened with or named as a defendant in lawsuits, arbitrations and/or administrative 
claims involving securities, consumer financial services and other matters.

For example, in 2016, we became subject to a SEC Order (in the Matter of Equidate, Inc. and Equidate Holdings 
LLC, Release No. 10262) pursuant to Section 8A of the Securities Act and Section 21C of the Exchange Act (the “Order”). 
The Order required us to cease and desist from committing or causing any violations or future violations of Section 5(e) of 
the Securities Act and Section 6(l) of the Exchange Act and required us to pay civil money penalties in the amount of 
$80,000. Following a request by us, the SEC determined that we had made a showing of good cause under Rule 506(d)(2)(ii) 
of Regulation D and Rule 262(b)(2) of Regulation A and the SEC granted a waiver regarding any bad-actor disqualification 
by reason of the entry of the Order. Following the Order, we have completely ceased the transactions described in the Order 
that were found to be security-based swaps and have implemented new transaction contracts and fund structures.

We are also subject to periodic regulatory examinations and inspections. Compliance and trading problems or other 
deficiencies or weaknesses that are reported to regulators, such as the SEC, FINRA, the CFPB, or state regulators, by 
dissatisfied customers or others, or that are identified by regulators themselves, are investigated by such regulators, and may, 
if pursued, result in formal claims being filed against us by customers or disciplinary action being taken against us or our 
employees by regulators or enforcement agencies.  To resolve issues raised in examinations or other governmental actions, 
we may be required to take various corrective actions, including changing certain business practices, making refunds or 
taking other actions that could be financially or competitively detrimental to us. We expect to continue to incur costs to 
comply with governmental regulations. Any such claims or disciplinary actions that are decided against us could have a 
material impact on our financial results.

Employee misconduct, including insider trading violations (given the nature of our business), can be difficult to detect and 
deter, and could harm our reputation and subject us to significant legal liability. We cannot ensure that all of our 
employees and agents will comply with our internal policies and procedures and applicable law, including anti-corruption, 
anti-bribery and similar laws. We may ultimately be held responsible for any such non-compliance.
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We operate in an industry in which integrity and the confidence of our customers is of critical importance. We are 
subject to risks of errors and misconduct by our employees that could adversely affect our business, including:

• engaging in misrepresentation or fraudulent activities when marketing or performing brokerage and other services to 
our customers;

• improperly using or disclosing confidential information of our customers or other parties;

• concealing unauthorized or unsuccessful activities; or

• otherwise not complying with applicable laws and regulations or our internal policies or procedures, including those 
related to insider trading.

There have been numerous highly-publicized cases of fraud and other misconduct by financial services industry 
employees. The precautions that we take to detect and deter employee misconduct might not be effective. If any of our 
employees engage in illegal, improper, or suspicious activity or other misconduct, we could suffer serious harm to our 
reputation, financial condition, member relationships and our ability to attract new customers. We also could become subject 
to regulatory sanctions and significant legal liability, which could cause serious harm to our financial condition, reputation, 
member relationships and prospects of attracting additional customers.

Litigation, regulatory actions and compliance issues could subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments, 
remediation costs, negative publicity, changes to our business model and requirements resulting in increased expenses.

Our business is subject to increased risks of litigation and regulatory actions as a result of a number of factors and 
from various sources, including as a result of the highly regulated nature of the financial services industry and the focus of 
state and federal enforcement agencies on the financial services industry.

From time to time, we are also involved in, or the subject of, reviews, requests for information, investigations and 
proceedings (both formal and informal) by state and federal governmental agencies and self-regulatory organizations, 
regarding our business activities and our qualifications to conduct our business in certain jurisdictions, which could subject us 
to significant fines, penalties, obligations to change our business practices and other requirements resulting in increased 
expenses and diminished earnings. Our involvement in any such matter also could cause significant harm to our reputation 
and divert management attention from the operation of our business, even if the matters are ultimately determined in our 
favor. Moreover, any settlement, or any consent order or adverse judgment in connection with any formal or informal 
proceeding or investigation by a government agency, may prompt litigation or additional investigations or proceedings as 
other litigants or other government agencies begin independent reviews of the same activities.

The current regulatory environment, increased regulatory compliance efforts and enhanced regulatory enforcement 
have resulted in significant operational and compliance costs and may prevent us from providing certain products and 
services. There is no assurance that these regulatory matters or other factors will not affect how we conduct our business and, 
in turn, have a material adverse effect on our business. In particular, legal proceedings brought under state consumer 
protection statutes or under several of the various federal consumer financial services statutes may result in a separate fine for 
each violation of the statute, which, particularly in the case of class action lawsuits, could result in damages substantially in 
excess of the amounts we earned from the underlying activities.

Our enterprise risk management and regulatory compliance framework may not be fully effective in identifying or 
mitigating risk exposures in evolving market and regulatory environments or against all types of risk.

As a financial services company operating in the securities industry, among others, our business model exposes us to 
various risks, including capital adequacy and liquidity risk, strategic risk, operational risk, information technology risk, 
cybersecurity risk, vendor/third party risk, financial risk and reputational risk. Our enterprise risk management and 
compliance processes, policies and procedures may not be fully effective in identifying or mitigating all exposures and 
particularly against emerging risks. We have devoted significant resources to develop our compliance and risk management 
policies and procedures and will continue to do so, but there can be no assurance these are sufficient or that we will not 
sustain unexpected losses, especially as our business is growing and evolving. 

Our limited operating history, evolving business and growth make it difficult to predict all of the risks and 
challenges we may encounter and the level of resources needed to address them, particularly when compared with more 
mature financial services companies. It also makes it difficult to predict completely the landscape of risks we will face as we 
introduce new products and services and expand into new jurisdictions. Insurance and other traditional risk mitigating tools 
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may be held by or available to us in order to manage certain exposures, but they are subject to terms such as deductibles, 
coinsurance, limits and policy exclusions, as well as risk of counterparty denial of coverage, default or insolvency. Any 
perceived or actual breach of laws and regulations  could also negatively impact our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

We are subject to stringent laws, rules, regulations, policies, industry standards and contractual obligations regarding 
data privacy and security and may be subject to additional related laws and regulations in jurisdictions into which we 
expand. Many of these laws and regulations are subject to change and reinterpretation and could result in claims, 
changes to our business practices, monetary penalties, increased cost of operations or other harm to our business.

We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local, and non-U.S. laws, directives, rules, policies, industry standards 
and regulations, as well as contractual obligations, relating to privacy and the collection, protection, use, retention, security, 
disclosure, transfer and other processing of personal information and other data, including the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 
1999 (“GLBA”), Section 5(c) of the Federal Trade Commission Act (the "FTC Act") and the California Consumer Privacy 
Act (the "CCPA"). The regulatory framework for data privacy and security worldwide is continuously evolving and 
developing and, as a result, interpretation and implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to remain 
uncertain for the foreseeable future. New laws, amendments to or reinterpretations of existing laws, regulations, standards 
and other obligations may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations, and may require us to 
change how we use, collect, store, transfer or otherwise process certain types of personal information and to implement new 
processes to comply with those laws and our customers’ exercise of their rights thereunder.

In the United States, federal law, such as the GLBA and its implementing regulations, restricts certain collection, 
processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal information, requires notice to individuals of privacy practices and 
provides individuals with certain rights to prevent the use and disclosure of certain nonpublic or otherwise legally protected 
information. These rules also impose requirements for the safeguarding and proper destruction of personal information 
through the issuance of data security standards or guidelines. Additionally, the FTC Act imposes standards for the online 
collection, use and dissemination of personal information. The U.S. government, including Congress, the Federal Trade 
Commission and the Department of Commerce, has expressed the need for greater regulation for the collection, use and other 
processing of information concerning consumer behavior on the internet, including regulation aimed at restricting certain 
targeted advertising practices. There is also a risk of enforcement actions in response to rules and regulations promulgated 
under the authority of federal agencies and state attorneys general and legislatures and consumer protection agencies. In 
addition, privacy advocates and industry groups have proposed and may propose new and different self-regulatory standards 
that either legally or contractually may apply to our business operations. If we fail to follow these security standards, even if 
no personal information is compromised, we may incur significant fines or experience a significant increase in costs.

Numerous states have enacted or are in the process of enacting state-level data privacy laws and regulations 
governing the collection, use, and other processing of state residents’ personal information. For example, the CCPA, which 
took effect on January 1, 2020, established a new privacy framework for covered businesses such as ours, and may require us 
to modify our data processing practices and policies and incur compliance related costs and expenses. The CCPA provides 
certain data privacy rights to California residents, such as affording California residents the right to access and delete their 
information and to opt out of certain sharing and sales of personal information. The law also prohibits covered businesses 
from discriminating against California residents (for example, charging more for services) for exercising any of their rights 
under the CCPA. The CCPA allows for severe civil penalties and statutory damages as well as a private right of action for 
certain data breaches involving personal information. This private right of action is expected to increase the likelihood of, and 
risks associated with, data breach litigation. In November 2020, California voters passed the California Privacy Rights Act of 
2020 (“CPRA”). Effective in most material respects as of January 1, 2023, the CPRA imposes additional obligations on 
companies covered by the legislation and significantly amends the CCPA, including by expanding the CCPA with additional 
data privacy compliance requirements that may impact our business. The CPRA also establishes a regulatory agency 
dedicated to enforcing the CCPA, as amended by the CPRA. The effects of the CCPA, as amended by the CPRA, other 
similar state or federal laws and other future changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection and 
information security, particularly any new or modified laws or regulations that require enhanced protection of certain types of 
data or new obligations with regard to data retention, transfer or disclosure, are significant and may require us to modify our 
data processing practices and policies and could greatly increase the cost of providing our offerings, require significant 
changes to our operations or even prevent us from providing certain offerings in jurisdictions in which we currently operate 
and in which we may operate in the future or incur potential liability in an effort to comply with such legislation.

The CPRA and the CCPA have led other states to pass comparable legislation, with potentially greater penalties and 
more rigorous compliance requirements relevant to our business, and additional states may follow suit. For example, many 
state legislatures have adopted comprehensive legislation that would apply to the online collection of personal information of 
a broad number of U.S. state residents, including measures relating to privacy, data security, data breaches and the protection 
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of sensitive and personal information. We also may be subject to laws in all 50 states which require businesses to provide 
notice to customers whose personally identifiable information has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. These laws are 
inconsistent with one another, as certain state laws may be more stringent, broader in scope, or offer greater individual rights 
with respect to sensitive and personal information. Privacy laws at the federal or international level may also impose differing 
obligations, which could make our compliance efforts more complex, costly, and may increase the likelihood that we become 
subject to enforcement actions or other liabilities for noncompliance.

The NYDFS also imposes Cybersecurity Requirements for Financial Services Companies, and which require banks, 
insurance companies and other financial services institutions regulated by the NYDFS, including Forge Securities, to 
establish and maintain a cybersecurity program designed to protect personal information of consumers and ensure the safety 
and soundness of New York State’s financial services industry. The cybersecurity regulation adds specific requirements for 
these institutions’ cybersecurity compliance programs and imposes an obligation to conduct ongoing, comprehensive risk 
assessments. Further, on an annual basis, each institution is required to submit a certification of compliance with these 
requirements. We have in the past and may in the future be subject to investigations and examinations by the NYDFS 
regarding, among other things, our cybersecurity practices.

Additionally, we are subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation (the “EU GDPR”), which imposes 
additional obligations and risk upon our business, including substantial expenses and changes to business operations that are 
required to comply with the EU GDPR. Further, following the withdrawal of the U.K. from the EU, we are required to 
comply separately with the EU GDPR as implemented in the U.K. (the "U.K. GDPR," and together with the EU GDPR, the 
"GDPR"), which may lead to additional compliance costs and could increase our overall risk. Failure to comply with the 
GDPR, and any supplemental European Economic Area country’s national data protection laws which may apply by virtue of 
the location of the individuals whose personal information we may collect, may result in significant fines and other 
administrative penalties. For example, non-compliance with the GDPR, and the related national data protection laws of 
European Economic Area countries, may result in monetary penalties of up to €20,000,000 (£17.5 million) or 4% of 
worldwide annual revenue, whichever is higher.  

We make public statements about our use, collection, disclosure and other processing of personal information 
through our privacy policies, information provided on our website and press statements. Although we endeavor to comply 
with our public statements and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. The 
publication of our privacy policies and other statements that provide promises and assurances about data privacy and security 
can subject us to potential government or legal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair or misrepresentative of our 
actual practices. Any failure or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers to comply with our posted privacy 
policies or with any applicable federal, state or similar foreign laws, rules, regulations, industry standards, policies, 
certifications or orders relating to data privacy and security, or any compromise of security that results in the theft, 
unauthorized access, acquisition, use, disclosure, or misappropriation of personal information or other customer data, could 
result in significant awards, fines, civil and/or criminal penalties or judgments, proceedings or litigation by governmental 
agencies or customers, including class action privacy litigation in certain jurisdictions and negative publicity and reputational 
harm, one or all of which could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

We collect, store, share, disclose, transfer, use and otherwise process customer information and other data, including 
personal information, and an actual or perceived failure by us or our third-party service providers to protect such 
information and data or respect customers’ privacy could damage our reputation and brand, negatively affect our ability 
to retain customers and harm our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and prospects.

The operation of our platform involves the use, collection, storage, sharing, disclosure, transfer and other processing 
of customer information, including personal information. Despite our implementation of security measures, security breaches 
and other security incidents in our internal computer systems, and those of our contractors and consultants, could expose us to 
a risk of loss or exposure of this information, which could result in potential liability, investigations, regulatory fines, 
penalties for violation of applicable laws or regulations, litigation, and remediation costs, as well as reputational harm. 
Further, it may not be possible for us to know all potential ramifications of a disruption event and it is possible that certain 
risks created may remain undetected for an extended period of time. 

Successful and attempted attacks upon information technology systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of 
persistence, sophistication and intensity, and are being conducted by sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with 
a wide range of motives and expertise. Such attacks can include third parties gaining access to systems and confidential 
information, including personal information of our employees or customers, including through the use of stolen or inferred 
credentials, computer malware, viruses, spamming, phishing attacks, ransomware, card skimming code, business email 
compromises, and other deliberate attacks and attempts to gain unauthorized access or otherwise compromise or disrupt our 
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systems or those of our third-party providers. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we may also face increased 
cybersecurity risks due to our reliance on internet technology and the number of our employees who are working remotely, 
which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities.  Furthermore, because the techniques 
used to obtain unauthorized access to, compromise or to sabotage our networks, platforms or systems, and those of our third-
party providers change frequently and often are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate 
these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. We or our third-party providers may also experience security 
breaches or other incidents that may remain undetected for an extended period. Even if identified, we may be unable to 
adequately investigate or remediate additional incidents or breaches due to attackers increasingly using tools and techniques 
that are designed to circumvent controls, to avoid detection, and to remove or obfuscate forensic evidence.

Any or all of the issues above could adversely affect our ability to attract new customers and continue our 
relationship with existing customers, cause our customers to stop using our products and services, result in negative publicity 
or subject us to governmental, regulatory or third-party lawsuits, disputes, investigations, orders, regulatory fines, penalties 
for violation of applicable laws or regulations or other actions or liability, thereby harming our business, financial condition, 
operating results, cash flows and prospects. Any accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction, 
disablement or encryption of, use or misuse of or modification of data, including personal information, cybersecurity breach 
or other security incident that we, our customers or our third-party service providers experience or the perception that one has 
occurred or may occur, could harm our reputation, reduce the demand for our products and services and disrupt normal 
business operations. In addition, it may require us to expend significant financial and operational resources in response to a 
security breach, including repairing system damage, increasing security protection costs by deploying additional personnel 
and modifying or enhancing our protection technologies, investigating, remediating or correcting the breach and any security 
vulnerabilities, defending against and resolving legal and regulatory claims, and preventing future security breaches and 
incidents, all of which could expose us to uninsured liability, increase our risk of regulatory scrutiny, expose us to legal 
liabilities, including litigation, regulatory enforcement, indemnity obligations or damages for contract breach, divert 
resources and the attention of our management and key personnel away from our business operations, and cause us to incur 
significant costs, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to anti-money laundering and anti-terrorism financing laws and regulations, and failure to comply with 
these obligations could have significant adverse consequences for us, including subjecting us to criminal or civil liability 
and harm to our business.

Various laws and regulations in the United States and abroad, such as the Bank Secrecy Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, 
the USA PATRIOT Act, and the Credit Card Accountability Responsibility and Disclosure Act, impose certain anti-money 
laundering requirements on companies that are financial institutions or that provide financial products and services. Under 
these laws and regulations, financial institutions are broadly defined to include money services businesses such as money 
transmitters. In 2013, FinCEN issued guidance regarding the applicability of the Bank Secrecy Act to administrators and 
exchangers of convertible virtual currency, clarifying that they are money service businesses, and more specifically, money 
transmitters. The Bank Secrecy Act requires money services businesses (“MSBs”) to develop and implement risk-based anti-
money laundering programs, report large cash transactions and suspicious activity, and maintain transaction records, among 
other requirements. State regulators may impose similar requirements on licensed money transmitters. In addition, our 
contracts with financial institution partners and other third parties may contractually require us to maintain an anti-money 
laundering program.

We are also subject to economic and trade sanctions programs administered by OFAC, which prohibit or restrict 
transactions to or from or dealings with specified countries, their governments, and in certain circumstances, their nationals, 
and with individuals and entities that are specially-designated nationals of those countries, narcotics traffickers, terrorists or 
terrorist organizations, and other sanctioned persons and entities. Our failure to comply with anti-money laundering, 
economic and trade sanctions regulations, and similar laws could subject us to substantial civil and criminal penalties, or 
result in the loss or restriction of our MSB or broker-dealer registrations and state licenses, or liability under our contracts 
with third parties, which may significantly affect our ability to conduct some aspects of our business. Changes in this 
regulatory environment, including changing interpretations and the implementation of new or varying regulatory 
requirements by the government.

We are subject to anti-corruption, anti-bribery and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to 
significant adverse consequences, including criminal or civil liability and harm our business.

We are subject to the FCPA, U.S. domestic bribery laws and other U.S. and foreign anti-corruption laws. Anti-
corruption and anti-bribery laws have been enforced aggressively in recent years and are interpreted broadly to generally 
prohibit companies, their employees and their third-party intermediaries from authorizing, offering or providing, directly or 
indirectly, improper payments or benefits to recipients in the public sector. These laws also require that we keep accurate 
books and records and maintain internal controls and compliance procedures designed to prevent any such actions. In 
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addition, we or our third-party intermediaries may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of 
government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities. We can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of 
these third-party intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners and agents, even if we do not explicitly 
authorize such activities. The failure to comply with any such laws could subject us to criminal or civil liability, cause us 
significant reputational harm and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be unable to sufficiently obtain, maintain, protect, or enforce our intellectual property and other proprietary 
rights, any of which could reduce our competitiveness and harm our business and operating results.

Our ability to service our customers depends, in part, upon our proprietary technology. We may be unable to protect 
our proprietary technology effectively, which would allow competitors to duplicate our business processes and know-how, 
and adversely affect our ability to compete with them. A third party may attempt to reverse engineer or otherwise obtain and 
use our proprietary technology without our consent. The pursuit of a claim against a third party for infringement of our 
intellectual property could be costly, and there can be no guarantee that any such efforts would be successful.

In addition, our platform may infringe upon claims of third-party intellectual property, and we may face intellectual 
property challenges from such other parties. We may not be successful in defending against any such challenges or in 
obtaining licenses to avoid or resolve any intellectual property disputes. The costs of defending any such claims or litigation 
could be significant and, if we are unsuccessful, could subject us to substantial liability, prevent us from using the relevant 
technology or providing related products or services, or result in a requirement that we pay significant damages or licensing 
fees. Furthermore, our technology may become obsolete, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to successfully 
develop, obtain or use new technologies to adapt our platform to stay competitive in the future. If we cannot protect our 
proprietary technology from intellectual property challenges, or if our platform becomes obsolete, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Accusations of infringement of third-party intellectual property rights could materially and adversely affect our business.

Our success depends upon our ability to refrain from infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. Some 
companies, including some of our competitors, may own large numbers of patents, copyrights and trademarks, which they 
may use to assert claims against us. As we grow and enter new markets, we will face a growing number of competitors. As 
the number of competitors in our industry grows and the functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps, we 
expect that software and other solutions in our industry may be subject to such claims by third parties. Third parties may in 
the future assert claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of intellectual property rights against us. We 
cannot assure you that infringement claims will not be asserted against us in the future, or that, if asserted, any infringement 
claim will be successfully defended. A successful claim against us could require that we pay substantial damages, prevent us 
from offering our services, or require that we comply with other unfavorable terms. Even if we were to prevail in such a 
dispute, any litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention of our 
management and key personnel from our business operations.

Changes in tax laws, differences in interpretation of tax laws and regulations, and proposed legislation that would impose 
taxes on certain financial transactions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations.

We operate in multiple jurisdictions and are subject to tax laws and regulations of the U.S. federal, state and local 
and non-U.S. governments. U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. tax laws and regulations are complex and subject to 
change (possibly with retroactive effect) and to varying interpretations. U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. tax 
authorities may interpret tax laws and regulations differently than we do and challenge tax positions that we have taken. This 
may result in differences in the treatment of revenues, deductions, credits and/or differences in the timing of these items. The 
differences in treatment may result in payment of additional taxes, interest or penalties that could have an adverse effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations. Further, future changes to U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. tax laws 
and regulations could increase our tax obligations in jurisdictions where we do business or require us to change the manner in 
which we conduct some aspects of our business.

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”) was enacted in the United States, which introduced, 
among other provisions, a new minimum corporate income tax on certain large corporations, an excise tax of 1% on certain 
share repurchases by corporations, and increased funding for the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”). Although we do not 
anticipate the new corporate minimum income tax will currently apply to us, changes in our business and any future 
regulations or other guidance on the interpretation and application of the new corporate minimum tax, as well as the potential 
application of the share repurchase excise tax, may result in additional taxes payable by us, which could materially and 
adversely affect our financial results and operations.
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We have in the past recorded, and may in the future record, significant valuation allowances on our deferred tax 
assets, which may have a material impact on our results of operations and cause fluctuations in such results. As of December 
31, 2022, we had a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets in the United States and in other countries. Our net deferred 
tax assets relate predominantly to the U.S. federal and state tax jurisdictions. The need for a valuation allowance requires an 
assessment of both positive and negative evidence when determining whether it is more likely than not that deferred tax 
assets are recoverable; such assessment is required on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis. In making such an assessment, 
significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified. We continue to monitor the likelihood that we will be 
able to recover our deferred tax assets in the future. Future adjustments in our valuation allowance may be required. The 
recording of any future increases in our valuation allowance could have a material impact on our reported results, and both 
the recording and release of the valuation allowance could cause fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results of 
operations.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a corporation that 
undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its net operating loss carryforwards 
("NOLs") to offset future taxable income. Future changes in our stock ownership as well as other changes that may be outside 
of our control, could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382 of the Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired 
under similar provisions of state law. Further, additional changes to federal or state tax laws or technical guidance relating to 
such laws that would further reduce the corporate tax rate could operate to effectively reduce or eliminate the value of any 
deferred tax asset. Our tax attributes as of December 31, 2022 may expire unutilized or underutilized, which could prevent us 
from offsetting future taxable income.

Personnel and Business Continuity Risks

We rely on our management team and will require additional key personnel to grow our business, and the loss of key 
management members or key employees, or an inability to hire key personnel, could harm our business.

We believe our success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our senior management, 
including our Chief Executive Officer Kelly Rodriques, who have significant experience in industries we operate, are 
responsible for our core competencies and would be difficult to replace. Our future success depends on our continuing ability 
to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and 
we may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. In addition, the loss of any of our senior management or key 
employees could materially adversely affect our ability to execute our business plan and strategy, and we may not be able to 
find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all. Our executive officers and other employees are at-will employees, 
which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and 
industry would be extremely difficult to replace. We cannot ensure that we will be able to retain the services of any members 
of our senior management or other key employees. If we do not succeed in attracting well-qualified employees or retaining 
and motivating existing employees, our business could be materially and adversely affected.

We may not be able to secure adequate insurance to cover all known risks and our insurance policies may not be 
sufficient to cover all potential claims.

Our systems and operations, as well as those of the third parties on whom we rely to conduct certain key functions, 
are vulnerable to disruptions from natural disasters, power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, software 
bugs, cyber-attacks, computer viruses, malware, distributed denial of service attacks, spam attacks, phishing or other social 
engineering, ransomware, security breaches, credential stuffing, technological failure, human error, terrorism and other 
similar events. If our technology is disrupted, we may have to make significant investments to upgrade, repair or replace our 
technology infrastructure and may not be able to make such investments on a timely basis, if at all. While we have made 
significant investments designed to enhance the reliability and scalability of our operations, we cannot assure that we will be 
able to maintain, expand and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to meet future requirements and mitigate future risks on 
a timely basis. Disruptions in service and slower system response times could interrupt our business and result in substantial 
losses, decreased customer service and satisfaction, customer attrition, fines, litigation, and harm to our reputation. Our 
insurance coverage may be insufficient to protect us against all losses and costs stemming from operational and technological 
failures and we cannot be certain that such insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms, or 
at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim. The successful assertion of one or more large claims 
against us that exceed available insurance coverage, or the occurrence of changes in our insurance policies, including 
premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could have a material and adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Information Technology and Data Risks
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We depend on third parties for a wide array of services, systems and information technology applications, and a breach or 
violation of law by one of these third parties could disrupt our business or provide our competitors with an opportunity to 
enhance their position at our expense. Additionally, the loss of any of those service providers could materially and 
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on third-party service providers to perform various functions relating to operational functions, cloud 
infrastructure services and information technology. We do not have control over the operations of any of the third-party 
service providers that we utilize. In the event that a third-party service provider for any reason fails to perform functions 
properly, including through negligence, willful misconduct or fraud, our ability to process billings and perform other 
operational functions for which we currently rely on such third-party service providers will suffer and our business, cash 
flows and future prospects may be negatively impacted.

Additionally, if one or more key third-party service providers were to cease to exist, or to terminate its relationship 
with us, there could be delays in our ability to process transactions and perform other operational functions for which we are 
currently relying on such third-party service providers for, and we may not be able to promptly replace such third-party 
service provider with a different third-party service provider that has the ability to promptly provide the same services in the 
same manner and on the same economic terms. In many cases, we rely on a single third party to provide such services, and 
we may not be able to replace that provider on the same terms or at all. As a result of any such delay or inability to replace 
such key third-party service provider, our ability to process investments and perform other business functions could suffer 
and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 

Because we rely on third parties to provide services, we could also be adversely impacted if they fail to fulfill their 
obligations or if our arrangements with them are terminated and suitable replacements cannot be found on commercially 
reasonable terms or at all.

Our products and internal systems rely on software that is highly technical, and if these systems contain errors, bugs or 
vulnerabilities, or if we are unsuccessful in addressing or mitigating technical limitations or vulnerabilities in our systems, 
our business could be adversely affected.

Our products and internal systems rely on software, including software developed or maintained internally and by 
third parties, that is highly technical and complex. In addition, our platform and our internal systems depend on the ability of 
such software to collect, store, retrieve, transmit, manage and otherwise process immense amounts of data. The software on 
which we rely may contain errors, bugs or vulnerabilities, and our systems are subject to certain technical limitations that 
may compromise our ability to meet our objectives. Some errors, bugs or vulnerabilities inherently may be difficult to detect 
and may only be discovered after code has been released for external or internal-use. Errors, bugs, vulnerabilities, design 
defects or technical limitations within the software on which we rely may lead to negative customer experiences (including 
the communication of inaccurate information to customers), compromised ability of our products to perform in a manner 
consistent with customer expectations, delayed product introductions, compromised ability to protect the data (including 
personal information) of our customers and our intellectual property or an inability to provide some or all of our services. 
Such errors, bugs, vulnerabilities or defects could also be exploited by malicious actors and result in exposure of data of 
customers on our platform, or otherwise result in a security breach or other security incident. We may need to expend 
significant financial and development resources to analyze, correct, eliminate, or work around errors or defects or to address 
and eliminate vulnerabilities. Any failure to timely and effectively resolve any such errors, bugs, vulnerabilities or defects in 
the software on which we rely, and any associated degradations or interruptions of service, could result in damage to our 
reputation, loss of customers, loss of revenue, regulatory or governmental inquiries, civil litigation or liability for damages, 
any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Certain of our systems also rely on older programming languages and are dependent upon hardware that may soon 
be in need of replacement. A breakdown or shutdown of our operating systems could cause a major disruption to the 
business, and our attempts to modernize our systems or implement new hardware or software may not be successful, and may 
otherwise be costly and time-consuming.

Cyber incidents or attacks directed at us and to our systems could result in unauthorized access, information theft, data 
corruption, operational disruption and/or financial and reputational loss, and we may not be able to insure against such 
risk.

We depend on digital technologies, including information systems, infrastructure and cloud applications and 
services, including those of third parties with which we may deal. Sophisticated and deliberate attacks on, or security 
breaches in, our systems or infrastructure, or the systems or infrastructure of third parties or the cloud, could lead to 
corruption or misappropriation of our assets, proprietary information and sensitive or confidential data. Our platform may 
make an attractive target for hacking and may be vulnerable to computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins and similar 
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disruptions. It is possible that we may not be able to anticipate or to implement effective preventive measures against all 
security threats of these types, in which case there would be an increased risk of fraud or identity theft. Security incidents 
could occur from outside our company, and also from the actions of persons inside our company who may have authorized or 
unauthorized access to our technology systems. We may not have sufficient resources to adequately protect against, or to 
investigate and remediate any vulnerability to, cyber incidents. It is possible that any of these occurrences, or a combination 
of them, could have adverse consequences on our business and lead to financial loss.

Financial services providers like us, as well as our customers, colleagues, regulators, vendors and other third parties, 
have experienced a significant increase in fraudulent activity in recent years and will likely continue to be the target of 
increasingly sophisticated criminal activity in the future.

We develop and maintain systems and processes aimed at detecting and preventing fraudulent activity, which 
require significant investment, maintenance and ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies and regulatory 
requirements change and as efforts to overcome security and anti-fraud measures become more sophisticated. Despite our 
efforts, the possibility of fraudulent or other malicious activities and human error or malfeasance cannot be eliminated 
entirely and will evolve as new and emerging technology is deployed, including the increasing use of personal mobile and 
computing devices that are outside of our network and control environments. Risks associated with each of these include theft 
of funds and other monetary loss, the effects of which could be compounded if not detected quickly. Indeed, fraudulent 
activity may not be detected until well after it occurs and the severity and potential impact may not be fully known for a 
substantial period of time after it has been discovered. Additionally, if hackers were able to access our secure data, they might 
be able to gain access to the personal information of our customers. If we are unable to prevent such activity, we may be 
subject to significant liability, negative publicity and a material loss of customers, all of which may materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Fraudulent activity and other actual or perceived failures to maintain a product’s integrity and/or security has led to 
increased regulatory scrutiny and negative assessments of us.

Fraudulent activity and other related incidents related to the actual or perceived failures to maintain the integrity of 
our processes and controls could negatively affect us, including harming the market perception of the effectiveness of our 
security measures or harming the reputation of the financial system in general, which could result in reduced use of our 
products and services. Such events could also result in legislation and additional regulatory requirements. Although we 
maintain insurance, there can be no assurance that liabilities or losses we may incur will be covered under such policies or 
that the amount of insurance will be adequate. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and distract our management, which could make it 
difficult to manage our business, particularly since we are no longer an “emerging growth company.”

As a public company, we are incurring legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not previously incur. We are 
subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the listing requirements of the NYSE and 
other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations could continue to increase our 
legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand on 
our systems and resources, particularly since we are no longer an “emerging growth company.” The Exchange Act requires 
that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we establish and maintain effective internal controls and 
procedures for financial reporting. Furthermore, the need to establish the corporate infrastructure demanded of a public 
company may divert our management’s attention from implementing our growth strategy, which could prevent us from 
improving our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have made, and will continue to make, changes to 
our internal controls and procedures for financial reporting and accounting systems to meet our reporting obligations as a 
public company. However, the measures we take may not be sufficient to satisfy our obligations as a public company. In 
addition, these rules and regulations could continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some 
activities more time consuming and costly. These additional obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are 
creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more 
time consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack 
of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory 
and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated 
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by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We have and intend to continue investing resources to comply 
with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative 
expenses and a diversion of our management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. 
If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or 
governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal 
proceedings against us and there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Our management has limited prior experience in managing a publicly traded company. As such, our management 
team may encounter difficulties in managing a public company and in complying with our reporting and other obligations 
under federal securities laws and other regulations and in connection with operating as a public company. Their lack of prior 
experience in dealing with the reporting and other obligations and laws pertaining to public companies could result in our 
management being required to devote significant time to these activities which may result in less time being devoted to our 
management and growth. In addition, we have and may continue to hire additional personnel with the appropriate level of 
knowledge, experience, and training in the accounting policies, practices and internal controls over financial reporting 
required of public companies. We may be required to incur significant expense in connection with these efforts.

Delaware law, our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover 
provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that 
stockholders may consider favorable.

Delaware law, our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of 
rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an acquisition that stockholders may consider favorable, including 
transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the 
price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares, and therefore depress the trading price of our common 
stock. These provisions could also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who 
are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or taking other corporate actions, including effecting 
changes in our management. Among other things, our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws include provisions 
regarding:

• providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to 
determine the price and other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder 
approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the prohibition of cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to 
elect director candidates;

• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;

• the ability of our board of directors to amend our Bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional 
actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and inhibit the ability of an acquirer to amend our Bylaws to facilitate an 
unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or 
to propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing 
matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our board of directors and also may 
discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of 
directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in 
our board of directors or management.

The provisions of our Bylaws requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware for certain 
types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers.

Our Bylaws provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, unless we consent in writing to an alternative forum, 
(a) the Delaware Court of Chancery (or, if such court does not have, or declines to accept, jurisdiction, another state court or a 
federal court located in Delaware) will be the exclusive forum for any complaint asserting any internal corporate claims, 
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including claims in the right of Forge based upon a violation of a duty by a current or former director, officer, employee or 
stockholder in such capacity, or as to which the Delaware General Corporation Law confers jurisdiction upon the Court of 
Chancery and (b) the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for any complaint asserting a 
cause of action arising under the Securities Act. The choice of forum provision may limit the ability of our shareholders to 
bring a claim in a forum that they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, and may 
discourage such lawsuits. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision. If a court ruled the choice 
of forum provision was inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs to resolve such action in 
other jurisdictions. The choice of forum provision is intended to apply to the fullest extent permitted by law to the above-
specified types of actions and proceedings, including any derivative actions asserting claims under state law or the federal 
securities laws, and is intended to require, in each case, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that (i) any Securities Act 
claims be brought in the federal district courts of the United States in accordance with clause (b) of the choice of forum 
provision and (ii) suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act be brought in the United States 
District Court for the District of Delaware. The provision does not apply to any direct claims brought by our shareholders on 
their own behalf, or on behalf of any class of similarly situated shareholders, under the Exchange Act. Our shareholders will 
not be deemed, by operation of the choice of forum provision, to have waived our obligation to comply with all applicable 
federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.

An active, liquid trading market for our common stock may not be sustained, which may make it difficult to sell the shares 
of our common stock you purchase.

An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained which would make it difficult for you to sell 
your shares of our common stock at an attractive price (or at all). A public trading market having the desirable characteristics 
of depth, liquidity, and orderliness depends upon the existence of willing buyers and sellers at any given time, and its 
existence is dependent upon the individual decisions of buyers and sellers over which neither we nor any market maker has 
control. The failure of an active and liquid trading market to develop and continue would likely have a material adverse effect 
on the value of our common stock. The market price of our common stock may decline below your purchase price, and you 
may not be able to sell your shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid for such shares (or at all).

Our operating results and stock price may be volatile.

Stock markets, including the NYSE, the NYSE Amex and the Nasdaq Stock Market, have from time to time 
experienced significant price and volume fluctuations. Even if an active, liquid and orderly trading market develops and is 
sustained for our common stock, the market price of our common stock may be volatile and could decline significantly. In 
addition, the trading volume in our common stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. If the market 
price of our common stock declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your shares. We cannot assure you that the 
market price of our common stock will not fluctuate widely or decline significantly in the future in response to a number of 
factors, including, among others, the following:

• the realization of any of the risk factors presented in this Report;

• actual or anticipated differences in our estimates, or in the estimates of analysts, for our revenues, results of 
operations, level of indebtedness, liquidity or financial condition;

• additions and departures of key personnel;

• failure to comply with the requirements of the NYSE;

• failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or other laws or regulations;

• future issuances, sales or resales, or anticipated issuances, sales or resales, of common stock;

• perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with common stock relative to other investment alternatives;

• the performance and market valuations of other similar companies;

• future announcements concerning our business or our competitors’ businesses;

• broad disruptions in the financial markets, including sudden disruptions in the credit markets;

• speculation in the press or investment community;

• actual, potential or perceived control, accounting or reporting problems;
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• changes in accounting principles, policies and guidelines; and

• general economic and political conditions, such as the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, ongoing geopolitical 
tensions related to the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine, recessions, interest rates, local and national 
elections, fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, corruption, political instability and acts of war or terrorism.

In addition, as a result of substantial redemptions by the holders of MOTV’s Class A ordinary shares in connection 
with the Business Combination, since the Closing of the Business Combination there have been a limited number of shares of 
our common stock available for trading, and the price of our common stock has experienced substantial volatility in trading 
price. Accordingly, there is the potential for rapid and substantial decreases in the price of our common stock, including 
decreases unrelated to our operating performance or prospects. 

In the past, securities class-action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of 
volatility in the market price of their securities. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our 
management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet the guidance provided to the public or the 
expectations of investment analysts, the market price of our common stock may decline.

We have in the past, and we may, but are not obligated to, provide public guidance on our expected operating and 
financial results for future periods. Any such guidance consists of forward-looking statements, subject to the risks and 
uncertainties described in this Report and in our other public filings and public statements. The ability to provide this public 
guidance, and the ability to accurately forecast our results of operations, are inherently uncertain and subject to numerous 
risks and uncertainties, including those described in this Report, many of which may be beyond our control. Our actual 
results may not always be in line with or exceed any guidance we have provided, especially in times of economic uncertainty, 
such as the current global economic uncertainty being experienced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or the ongoing 
geopolitical tensions related to the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine. If, in the future, our operating or financial 
results for a particular period do not meet any guidance provided or the expectations of investment analysts, or if we reduce 
our guidance for future periods, the market price of our common stock may decline as well. Even if we do issue public 
guidance, there can be no assurance that we will continue to do so in the future.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, publish inaccurate or unfavorable research or cease publishing 
research about us, our share price and trading volume could decline significantly.

The market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts 
publish about us or our business. Securities and industry analysts may not publish research on us. If no or few securities or 
industry analysts commence coverage of us, the market price and liquidity for our common stock could be negatively 
impacted. In the event securities or industry analysts initiate coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade 
their opinions about common stock, publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, or cease publishing about us 
regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our share price and trading volume to decline 
significantly.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our stockholders in the public market could cause the market price 
for our common stock to decline.

The sale of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could 
harm the prevailing market price of shares of our common stock. These sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, 
also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that it deems appropriate. 
Future resales of common stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is 
doing well. As such, sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any 
time. These sales, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could 
reduce the market price of our common stock.

Future issuances of debt securities and equity securities may adversely affect us, including the market price of common 
stock and may be dilutive to existing shareholders.

While we have not previously incurred indebtedness to finance our business in the past and do not currently intend 
to do it in the future, there is no assurance that we will not incur debt or issue equity ranking senior to common stock. Those 
securities will generally have priority upon liquidation. Such securities also may be governed by an indenture or other 
instrument containing covenants restricting its operating flexibility. Additionally, any convertible or exchangeable securities 
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that we issue in the future may have rights, preferences and privileges more favorable than those of our common stock. 
Because our decision to issue debt or equity in the future will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our 
control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing, nature or success of our future capital raising efforts. As a result, 
future capital raising efforts may reduce the market price of our common stock and be dilutive to existing shareholders.

We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our 
business and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be 
at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, capital 
requirements, restrictions contained in future agreements and financing instruments, business prospects and such other factors 
as our board of directors deems relevant.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility 
in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of 
litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert management’s attention from 
other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters occupies approximately 10,800 square feet in San Francisco, California under a lease 
agreement that expires December 2023. We also lease and sub-lease additional offices in San Francisco, California; San 
Mateo, California; Sioux Falls, South Dakota; and New York, New York. 

We believe that our existing facilities are sufficient for our current needs. In the future, we may need to add new 
facilities and expand our existing facilities as we add employees, grow our infrastructure and evolve our business, and we 
believe that suitable additional or substitute space will be available on commercially reasonable terms to meet our future 
needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business 
activities. Defending such proceedings is costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. The 
results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have 
an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.

On January 7, 2022, Erika McKiernan, in her capacity as Stockholder Representative for the former stockholders of 
SharesPost, filed a lawsuit against Forge in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, asserting claims in connection 
with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 10, 2020, by and among Forge, SharesPost, Thanksgiving Merger 
Sub, Inc., and Erika McKiernan as the Stockholder Representative, as amended on November 6, 2020 (the “SharesPost 
Merger Agreement”). In general, the complaint asserts breaches of the SharesPost Merger Agreement and seeks declaratory 
judgments establishing those breaches. The complaint includes but is not limited to the following material allegations: (i) 
Forge breached the SharesPost Merger Agreement by failing to issue and deliver the warrants contemplated therein (the 
“Buyer Warrants”) in a form that Stockholder Representative claims that the parties agreed, but which is not the form 
reflected in the SharesPost Merger Agreement; (ii) Forge should be compelled to issue and deliver the Buyer Warrants in the 
form Stockholder Representative claims the parties agreed; (iii) Forge’s alleged breaches of the SharesPost Merger 
Agreement have caused Stockholder Representative and the former stockholders of SharesPost to suffer losses which Forge 
must indemnify under the terms of the SharesPost Merger Agreement, and that Forge has further breached the SharesPost 
Merger Agreement by failing to do so; and (iv) the losses that Stockholder Representative and other indemnified parties have 
suffered and will suffer as a result of Forge’s alleged breaches are indemnifiable under the SharesPost Merger Agreement. 
On February 24, 2022, Forge filed its Answer and a counterclaim denying the alleged claims. On March 9, 2022, SharesPost 
submitted its Reply denying Forge's counterclaim and the majority of Forge's allegations. In August 2022, SharesPost filed an 
Amended Complaint adding our public company entity Forge Global Holdings, Inc. as a party to the action. At this juncture 
we do not believe this action will have a material adverse impact on our operations or financial position. We believe the 
allegations set forth in this action are without merit and we intend to defend vigorously against the lawsuit. 
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We are also the subject of various actions, inquiries, investigations, and proceedings by regulatory and other 
governmental agencies. We intend to cooperate fully with such investigations. We are not presently a party to any other legal 
or regulatory proceedings that in the opinion of our management, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken 
together have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition, or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.
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Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities 

Market Information for Common Stock

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FRGE”.

Holders of Record

As of December 31, 2022, there were approximately 115 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual 
number of shareholders is greater than this number of record holders, and includes shareholders who are beneficial owners, 
but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. 

Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future.

Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total 
return on the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index (S&P 500) and S&P 500 Information Technology Index (S&P IT) through 
December 31, 2022. The graph assumes $100 was invested at the market close on March 21, 2022, which was the first day 
our common stock began trading after the Closing of the Business Combination. The comparisons in this chart are required 
by the SEC and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of the possible future performance of our common stock. The 
performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall 
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or Exchange Act, except to the extent 
that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

We did not sell any equity securities which were not registered under the Securities Act during the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2022 that were not otherwise disclosed in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or our Current Reports on 
Form 8-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the three months ended December 31, 2022, we repurchased 163,054 shares of our common stock, which 
represented early exercised but unvested stock options from a former employee. 

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans can be found 
under Item 12 of this Report.
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Item 6. [Reserved]
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provide information that our management believes is relevant to an 
assessment and understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This discussion and analysis 
should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Report. This discussion 
and analysis contains forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions, as described under the heading “Forward-Looking Statements.” Actual results and timing of selected events 
may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including 
those set forth under “Risk Factors” or elsewhere in this Report. 

Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this section to "Forge," the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” 
refer to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries following the Business Combination (as defined below).

 Business Overview

Forge is building the private market of the future – a more accessible, transparent and liquid market for participating 
in private market growth. We offer a trusted trading platform, proprietary data and insights to inform investment strategies, 
along with custody services to help companies, shareholders, institutions and accredited investors confidently navigate and 
transact in the private market. Our scaled and integrated business model is at the nexus of the private market ecosystem, 
which we believe creates a sustaining competitive advantage fueling our clients' participation in the private market and our 
growth. The key solutions offered by our platform include:

• Trading Solutions - Forge Markets is our platform that connects potential investors with private company 
shareholders and enables them to efficiently facilitate private share transactions.

• Custody Solutions - Forge Trust is our non-depository trust company that enables clients to securely custody and 
manage assets through a robust and user-friendly online portal.

• Data Solutions - Forge Data is our data business that provides market participants the information and insight to 
confidently navigate, analyze and make investment decisions in the private market.

Corporate History and Background 

On March 21, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), we consummated our business combination pursuant to the terms of the 
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 13, 2021 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Motive Capital Corp, a 
blank check company incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company in 2020 ("MOTV"),  FGI Merger Sub, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of MOTV (“Merger Sub”), and Forge Global, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation ("Legacy Forge"). 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, immediately prior to the consummation of the Business 
Combination (as defined below), MOTV changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from the Cayman Islands to the State of 
Delaware and changed its corporate name to "Forge Global Holdings, Inc." (the “Domestication”). On the Closing Date, 
Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Forge (the "Merger"), with Legacy Forge surviving the Merger as a direct, wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Merger, the Domestication, and the other transactions contemplated by 
the Merger Agreement, the “Business Combination”).

Legacy Forge is considered the Company’s accounting predecessor. The Merger was accounted for as a reverse 
recapitalization with Legacy Forge as the accounting acquirer and MOTV as the acquired company for accounting purposes. 
Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in the consolidated financial statements represents the accounts of 
Legacy Forge.

Key Factors Affecting our Performance

The key factors affecting our performance described below are not the only ones applicable to us. We believe that 
the growth of our business and our future success are dependent upon a number of key factors, including the following:

Growing our Customer Base

Sustaining our growth requires continued adoption of our platform by new customers and increased usage by current 
customers. We plan to continue to introduce products and features to attract and retain current and new customers, and we 
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plan to seek to increase brand awareness and customer adoption of our platform through digital and broad-scale advertising. 
The circumstances that we believe can accelerate the growth of our customer base may not continue in the future.

Expanding our Relationship with Existing Customers

Our revenue has grown historically as we have introduced new products and features to our customers and as our 
customers have increased their usage of our platform. Additionally, we believe that our strategic evolution initiative centered 
around complementary solutions will further increase customer engagement.  However, certain circumstances that have 
accelerated the growth of our business may not continue in the future. We aim to grow with our customers over time and to 
grow our relationship with our customers as they build and manage their wealth. Through our customer-centric and 
complementary solutions, we seek to a future where sellers become buyers, buyers become custody account holders and 
account holders continue to participate in the private market. Our ability to expand our relationship with our customers is 
therefore an important contributor to our long-term growth.

Investing in our Platform

We intend to continue to invest in our platform capabilities and regulatory and compliance functions to support new 
and existing customers and products that we believe will drive our growth. As our customer base and platform functionalities 
expand, areas of investment priority include product innovation, automation, technology and infrastructure improvements and 
customer support. We believe these investments will contribute to our long-term growth. Additionally, we strive to 
strengthen our relationships with our customers by responding to customer feedback not only through the introduction of new 
products, but also through improvements to our existing products and services. In this period of market disruption, we are 
focused on building by improving our platform to drive down the cost and time of trading. 

Market Trends

Our results of operations are impacted by the overall health of the economy, and consumer and institutional 
investing patterns, which include the following key drivers:

• Private Market Trends. As private market investing continues and the number of venture-backed companies and late-
stage private growth companies fluctuate, our supply and demand will shift accordingly as such factors affect the 
number of existing shareholders looking for liquidity as well as potential investors interested in obtaining equity in 
such companies while they remain private. Although our operating history has coincided with a period of general 
macroeconomic growth in the United States, particularly in the U.S. equity markets, which has previously stimulated 
growth in overall investment activity on our platform, we have and may continue to be impacted by any slowdowns in 
growth or downturns and volatility in the private equity markets. 

• Consumer Behavior. Buyers' and sellers' behaviors vary over time and are affected by numerous conditions. For 
example, behavior may be impacted by social or economic factors such as changes in disposable income levels and 
the need for liquidity, employee tenure at a venture-backed firm, general interest in investing, interest rate levels, and 
reaction to stock market volatility. There may also be high profile IPOs, SPACs or idiosyncratic events impacting 
single companies that impact consumer behavior. These shifts in consumer behavior may influence interest in our 
products over time.

• Macroeconomic Events. Customer and business behavior is impacted by the overall macroeconomic environment. 
Unprecedented global inflation and related monetary response (including the Federal Reserve raising interest rates by 
425 basis points to 4.33% in 2022. As of the filing of this Report, the Federal Reserve raised interest rates another 25 
basis points to 4.58% with more raises possible in 2023 if inflation is not controlled) is leading to what we believe to 
be a buildup of systemic financial vulnerabilities and asset valuation risks across public and private equity markets, 
real estate and credit. Lowered growth forecasts and potential recession outcomes of an unknown duration could lead 
to a period of prolonged uncertainty. Increased volatility and liquidity risks to private equity valuations, as well as 
uncertainty around settlement prices for illiquid assets, have and could continue to lead to negatively impact investor 
appetite and investment preferences across the alternative investment and private markets space. The effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic, continued global supply chain disruptions and the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine 
could continue to affect both global business and individuals’ behavior. Energy and commodity price increases could 
further contribute to prolonged systemic weaknesses in global and regional economies.  
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Custodial administration fees

We generate revenues through fees for performing custodial account administrative and maintenance services for 
our customers, including quarterly or monthly account fees, asset fees and transaction fees. We assess a flat fee per account, 
with additional fees based on the number and types of assets held and services purchased by account holders. We also receive 
cash administration fees for facilitating customers’ transactions with Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") banks, 
with fees contingent on prevailing interest rates and cash balances in custodial accounts. Our revenues depend on the number 
of Total Custodial Accounts, which include accounts clients open directly with us and the activity within these accounts as 
well as accounts we custody on behalf of partners. Our business depends on maintaining and growing the number of Total 
Custodial Accounts.

Types of Structures

We have facilitated direct trades, trades in both our own special purpose vehicles (each, an "Investment Fund") and 
other firms’ funds, and certain forward agreements. We may adjust placement fees to account for the operational costs of 
these transaction types, and we incur certain transaction-based costs depending on the structure. The mix of trades in different 
structures will impact our overall take rate and revenues.

Types of Buyers/Sellers

The type of client may influence our placement fee revenue. Examples of a type of client are institutional and 
individual clients, who may receive various placement fee rates depending on different factors. Having clients that come to 
our platform through external brokers or FCS programs may also impact our placement fee revenue. The mix of clients in any 
given period will impact our overall take rate and revenues.

Use of External Brokers and Referral Partners

When working with an external broker or partner, we share a portion of the placement fees, which are recognized in 
our consolidated financials under transaction-based expenses. The mix of fees paid to external brokers and partners fluctuates 
each time period, which we expect to continue based on the size of our order book and our number of partners, as well as 
changes in the market overall.

Segment Information

We operate as a single operating segment and reportable segment. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief 
Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating 
decisions, assessing financial performance, allocating resources and evaluating our financial performance. Accordingly, we 
have concluded that we consist of a single operating segment and reportable segment for accounting and financial reporting 
purposes.
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Key Business Metrics

We monitor the following key business metrics to help us evaluate our business, identify trends affecting our business, 
formulate business plans and make strategic decisions. The tables below reflect period-over-period changes in our key business 
metrics, along with the percentage change between such periods. We believe the following business metrics are useful in 
evaluating our business:

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change

Dollars in thousands 2022 2021 2020 Change % Change Change % Change

TRADING BUSINESS

Trades   .................................................  2,184  4,890  1,779  (2,706)  (55) %  3,111  175 %
Volume   ............................................... $ 1,222,879 $ 3,180,257 $ 1,151,028 $ (1,957,378)  (62) % $ 2,029,229  176 %
Net Take Rate     ....................................  3.3 %  3.3 %  2.2 %  — %  — %  1.1 %  50 %
Placement fee revenues, less 
transaction-based expenses   ................ $ 40,182 $ 104,689 $ 25,352 $ (64,507)  (62) % $ 79,337  313 %

The following table contains our key performance measures based on our actual results of operations as of and for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 and our pro forma results of operations as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2020. The key performance measures presented below as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 are prepared on a pro 
forma basis, which combines the metrics from Legacy Forge's and SharesPost's brokerage business, and as if the SharesPost 
acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the fiscal year 2020. We present this pro forma data as we believe it is an important 
indicator of the growth of our business and normalizes the effects of the acquisition.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change

Dollars in thousands 2022 2021 2020 Change % Change Change % Change

TRADING BUSINESS

Trades   .................................................  2,184  4,890  3,448  (2,706)  (55) %  1,442  42 %
Volume   ............................................... $ 1,222,879 $ 3,180,257 $ 1,863,333 $ (1,957,378)  (62) % $ 1,316,924  71 %
Net Take Rate     ....................................  3.3 %  3.3 %  2.6 %  — %  — %  0.7 %  27 %
Placement fee revenues, less 
transaction-based expenses   ................ $ 40,182 $ 104,689 $ 48,864 $ (64,507)  (62) % $ 55,825  114 %

• Trades are defined as the total number of orders executed by us and acquired entities buying and selling private stocks 
on behalf of private investors and shareholders. Increasing the number of orders is critical to increasing our revenue and, 
in turn, to achieving profitability.

• Volume is defined as the total sales value for all securities traded through our Forge Markets platform. Volume is 
defined as the aggregate value of the issuer company’s equity attributed to both the buyer and seller in a trade and as 
such a $100 trade of equity between buyer and seller would be captured as $200 of volume for us. Although we 
typically capture a commission on each side of a trade, we may not in certain cases due to factors such as the use of an 
external broker by one of the parties or supply factors that would not allow us to attract sellers of shares of certain 
issuers. Volume is influenced by, among other things, the pricing and quality of our services as well as market 
conditions that affect private company valuations, such as increases in valuations of comparable companies at IPO.

• Net Take Rates are defined as our placement fee revenues, less transaction-based expenses (defined below), divided by 
Volume. These represent the percentage of fees earned by our platform on any transactions executed from the 
commission we charged on such transactions (less transaction-based expenses), which is a determining factor in our 
revenue. The Net Take Rate can vary based upon the service or product offering and is also affected by the average 
order size and transaction frequency.
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Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in thousands 2022 2021 Change % Change

CUSTODY BUSINESS
Total Custodial Accounts    .............................................................  1,871,146  2,124,677  (253,531)  (12) %
Assets Under Custody    .................................................................. $ 14,870,257 $ 14,334,527 $ 535,730  4 %

• Total Custodial Accounts, previously called Billable Core and Platform Accounts, are defined as our customers’ 
custodial accounts that are established on our platform and billable. These relate to our Custodial Administration fees 
revenue stream and are an important measure of our business as the number of Total Custodial Accounts is an indicator 
of our future revenues from certain account maintenance, transaction, and sub-account fees. Total Custodial Accounts 
declined during the year ended December 31, 2022 due to delayed bulk account closures made by one of our partners. 

• Assets Under Custody is the reported value of all client holdings held under our agreements, including cash submitted to 
us by the responsible party. These assets can be held at various financial institutions, issuers and in our vault. As the 
custodian of the accounts, we collect all interest and dividends, handle all fees and transactions and any other 
considerations for the assets concerned. Our fees are earned from the overall maintenance activities of all assets and are 
not charged on the basis of the dollar value of Assets Under Custody, but we believe that Assets Under Custody is a 
useful metric for assessing the relative size and scope of our business.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our financial results determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States ("GAAP"), we present Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure. We use Adjusted EBITDA to 
evaluate our ongoing operations and for internal planning and forecasting purposes. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA, when 
taken together with the corresponding GAAP financial measure, provides meaningful supplemental information regarding our 
performance by excluding specific financial items that have less bearing on our core operating performance. We consider 
Adjusted EBITDA to be an important measure because it helps illustrate underlying trends in our business and our historical 
operating performance on a more consistent basis.

However, non-GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has 
limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented 
in accordance with GAAP. In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate similarly titled 
non-GAAP financial measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce 
the usefulness of Adjusted EBITDA as a tool for comparison. A reconciliation is provided below for Adjusted EBITDA to 
net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP. Investors are encouraged to review 
Adjusted EBITDA and the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, and not to rely on any single financial measure to 
evaluate our business.

We defined Adjusted EBITDA as net loss, adjusted to exclude: (i) interest expense, net, (ii) provision for or benefit 
from income taxes, (iii) depreciation and amortization, (iv) share-based compensation expense, (v) change in fair value of 
warrant liabilities, (vi) acquisition-related transaction costs and (vii) other significant gains, losses and expenses (such as 
impairments or transaction bonus) that we believe are not indicative of our ongoing results.

The following table reconciles net loss to our Adjusted EBITDA for the periods presented below (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Net loss    ............................................................................................................. $ (111,905) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Add:
Interest (income) expense, net    ........................................................................  (2,681)  2,307  2,405 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes  ......................................................  327  386  (803) 
Depreciation and amortization    ........................................................................  6,026  5,390  2,406 
Loss on impairment of long lived assets    .........................................................  446  —  — 
Share-based compensation expense   ................................................................  57,924  12,231  4,906 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities    ......................................................  (19,836)  6,064  292 
Acquisition-related transaction costs(1)

  5,113  882  3,289 
Transaction bonus (2)

     .......................................................................................  17,735  —  — 
Adjusted EBITDA  .......................................................................................... $ (46,851) $ 8,761 $ 2,783 

(1) Acquisition-related transaction costs include transaction costs related to the Business Combination, which consisted of 
legal, accounting and other professional services directly related to the Merger, direct and incremental expenses in 
connection with business acquisitions, which consist primarily of professional services fees for investment banking 
advisors, legal services, accounting advisory and other external costs directly related to acquisitions and other strategic 
opportunities, including the formation of Forge Europe.  

(2) Represents a one-time transaction bonus to certain executives as a result of consummation of the Business Combination, 
included in the compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Some of the limitations of Adjusted EBITDA include: (i) Adjusted EBITDA does not properly reflect capital 
commitments to be paid in the future, and (ii) although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the underlying 
assets may need to be replaced and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect these capital expenditures. In evaluating Adjusted 
EBITDA, be aware that in the future we will incur expenses similar to the adjustments in this presentation. Our presentation 
of Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by these expenses or 
any unusual or non-recurring items. We compensate for these limitations by providing specific information regarding the 
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GAAP items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA. When evaluating our performance, consider Adjusted EBITDA in addition 
to, and not a substitute for, other financial performance measures, including our net loss and other GAAP results.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Report include our 
accounts and accounts of our consolidated subsidiaries and were prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue from providing private market services, which include fees charged for private placements on 
our platform, and fees charged for account and asset management to customers.

We categorize our services into the following three categories:

Placement fees — We maintain a platform which generates revenues through our Forge Markets offering with 
volume-based fees sourced from institutions, individual investors and private equity holders. Placement fees represent fees 
charged by us for executing a private placement on our platform. We earn agency placement fees in non-underwritten 
transactions, such as private placements of equity securities. We enter into arrangements with individual accredited customers 
or pooled investment vehicles (each, an "Investment Fund") to execute private placements in the secondary market. We 
anticipate placement fees to grow in the long run as the secondary market continues to grow and we continue to execute 
trades more efficiently.

Custodial administration fees — We generate revenues primarily through fees for performing custodial account 
administrative and maintenance services for our customers, including quarterly or monthly account fees, asset fees and 
transaction fees. We assess a flat fee per account, with additional fees based on the number and types of assets held and 
services purchased by account holders. We also receive cash administration fees for facilitating customers’ transactions with 
FDIC banks, with fees contingent on prevailing interest rates and cash balances in custodial accounts. Our revenues depend 
on the number of Total Custodial Accounts, which include accounts clients opened directly with us and the activity within 
these accounts as well as accounts we custody on behalf of partners. Revenues from custodial administration fees are 
recognized either over time as underlying performance obligations are met and day-to-day maintenance activities are 
performed for custodial accounts, or at a point in time upon completion of transactions requested by custodial account 
holders.  

Subscription Fees — We generate revenues through our Forge Data offering with subscription fees earned from our 
data product, Forge Intelligence, and through our FCS fees. We anticipate subscription fees to continue to grow as we expand 
our sales and marketing efforts and develop more features and products. Subscription fees for the periods presented were 
included as part of placement fees in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Transaction-based expenses

Transaction-based expenses represent fees incurred to support placement activities. These include, but are not 
limited to, those for fund management, fund and trade settlement, external broker fees and transfer fees. We generally expect 
these expenses to increase in absolute dollars as our placement fee revenue grows.

Compensation and benefits

Compensation and benefits expense is our most significant operating expense and includes employee wages, 
bonuses, share-based compensation, severance costs, benefits and employer taxes. The bonus component of our 
compensation and benefits expense consists of incentive bonuses, which are based on both our financial performance and 
individual employee performance, and transaction bonuses, which are related to the consummation of the Business 
Combination for certain employees. We expect our compensation and benefits expense to increase, over the long term, as our 
revenue grows and we hire additional personnel to continue developing new products and services and increase the 
functionality of our platform. In addition, the share-based compensation component of the compensation and benefits 
expense may or may not increase as we continue to align our headcount with current and future business needs.
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Professional services

Professional services expense includes fees for consulting services received on strategic and technology initiatives, 
temporary labor, as well as regulatory, legal and accounting fees. We have and expect to incur additional professional 
services expenses as we continue implementing procedures and processes to address public company regulatory requirements 
and customary practices.

Acquisition-related transaction costs

Acquisition-related transaction costs consist primarily of professional services fees for investment banking advisors, 
legal services, accounting advisory, and other external costs directly related to acquisitions and other strategic opportunities. 
We expect to continue to explore and pursue various potential acquisitions and other strategic opportunities to strengthen our 
competitive position and support our growth. Acquisition-related transaction costs may be significant in relation to certain 
acquisitions, however, they are non-recurring in nature, as we identify and pursue targets for particular purposes as necessary. 
Acquisition-related transaction costs also include the costs related to the Business Combination, which consisted of legal, 
accounting and other professional services directly related to the Business Combination, but not considered as part of 
issuance cost. As a result, we may or may not incur acquisition-related transaction costs in future periods.

Advertising and market development

Advertising and market development is an important driver of our value and we intend to continue making 
meaningful investments in the Forge brand and growth marketing. This includes brand advertising, thought leadership, 
content marketing, public relations, partnerships and other strategies that amplify our brand. We have a rigorous approach to 
measuring customer lifetime value and optimizing our customer acquisition investments according to market dynamics and 
effective return on investment ("ROI"). We manage our discretionary expenses in growth marketing in real-time, as audience-
specific dynamics show positive ROI. We generally expect our marketing expenses to increase in the long term in absolute 
dollars but manage our spend judiciously and adapt as market conditions evolve.

Rent and occupancy

Rent and occupancy expense is related to our leased property and includes rent, maintenance, real estate taxes, 
utilities and other related costs. We generally expect our rent and occupancy expense to remain stable in the near term, 
increasing overtime in absolute dollars as a result of our expansion efforts.

Technology and communications

Technology and communications consist of costs for our hosting fees paid to third-party data centers, software 
development engineers, and maintenance of our computer hardware and software required to support our technology and 
cybersecurity. Technology and communications also include costs for network connections for our electronic platforms and 
telecommunications. We generally expect our technology and communications expense to increase, over the long term, as we 
continue to increase our headcount and innovate on our offerings and services.

General and administrative

General and administrative includes insurance, bank service charges, dues and subscriptions, travel and 
entertainment, and other general and administrative costs. Our general and administrative expense has and we expect it to 
continue to increase in the near term as a result of operating as a public company, including regulatory fees associated with 
compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC and other regulatory bodies, as well as increases in general office 
expenses as we grow our business.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization is attributable to property and equipment, intangible assets and capitalized internal-
use software. We expect our depreciation and amortization expense to increase for the foreseeable future as we plan 
additional capital expenditures to support the growth of our business.

Interest income (expense), net

Interest income (expense), net, primarily includes interest income earned on our cash and cash equivalents.
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Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

Changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities, including Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants, are 
related to warrant liabilities that are marked-to-market each reporting period with the change in fair value recorded in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations until the warrants are exercised, expire or other facts and circumstances 
lead the warrant liabilities to be reclassified to stockholders’ equity or deficit.

Other income, net

Other income, net, includes loss on an equity method investment, and other non-operating income and expenditures.

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Income tax expense consists of Federal, state and foreign income taxes. We maintain a valuation allowance against 
deferred tax assets except as relate to our indefinite-lived deferred tax liabilities as we have concluded it is not more likely 
than not that we will realize our net deferred tax assets.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 
2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Revenues:
Placement fees       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,665 $ 107,723 $ 29,240 
Custodial administration fees    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28,718  20,333  22,404 
  Total revenues     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 69,383 $ 128,056 $ 51,644 

Transaction-based expenses:
Transaction-based expenses         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (483)  (3,034)  (3,888) 

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68,900 $ 125,022 $ 47,756 
Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  145,514  94,654  37,330 
Professional services      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  14,265  12,450  3,371 
Acquisition-related transaction costs      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,113  882  3,289 
Advertising and market development      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,754  5,090  1,528 
Rent and occupancy    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,455  3,744  2,381 
Technology and communications       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,489  8,243  4,616 
General and administrative     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,324  4,358  452 
Depreciation and amortization     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,026  5,390  2,406 

Total operating expenses      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 203,940 $ 134,811 $ 55,373 
Operating loss        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (135,040) $ (9,789) $ (7,617) 
Interest and other income (expenses):

Interest income (expenses), net    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,681  (2,307)  (2,405) 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19,836  (6,064)  (292) 
Other income (expenses), net    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  945  47  (201) 

Total interest income (expenses) and other income (expenses)       . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,462 $ (8,324) $ (2,898) 
Loss before provision for income taxes    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,578) $ (18,113) $ (10,515) 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  327  386  (803) 
Net loss    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,905) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (46)  —  — 
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc.        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,859) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
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The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of revenue:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

(as a percentage of revenue)

Revenues:
Placement fees       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  59 %  84 %  57 %
Custodial administration fees    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  41 %  16 %  43 %
  Total revenues     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  100 %  100 %  100 %

Transaction-based expenses:
Transaction-based expenses         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1) %  (2) %  (8) %

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  99 %  98 %  92 %
Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  210 %  74 %  72 %
Professional services      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  21 %  10 %  6 %
Acquisition-related transaction costs      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7 %  1 %  6 %
Advertising and market development      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7 %  4 %  3 %
Rent and occupancy    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8 %  3 %  5 %
Technology and communications       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16 %  6 %  9 %
General and administrative     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  16 %  3 %  1 %
Depreciation and amortization     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9 %  4 %  5 %

Total operating expenses      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  294 %  105 %  107 %
Operating loss        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (195) %  (7) %  (15) %
Interest and other income (expenses):

Interest income (expenses), net    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4 %  (2) %  (5) %
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  29 %  (5) %  (1) %
Other income (expenses), net    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1 %  — %  — %

Total interest income (expenses) and other income (expenses)       . . . . . . . . . . . . .  34 %  (7) %  (6) %
Loss before provision for income taxes    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (161) %  (14) %  (21) %
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — %  — %  (2) %
Net loss    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (161) %  (14) %  (19) %
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — %  — %  — %
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc.        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (161) %  (14) %  (19) %

Revenue

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Placement fees       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,665 $ 107,723 $ 29,240 $ (67,058)  (62) % $ 78,483  268 %
Custodial administration fees      . . . . . . $ 28,718  20,333  22,404  8,385  41 %  (2,071)  (9) %
  Total revenues       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 69,383 $ 128,056 $ 51,644 $ (58,673)  (46) % $ 76,412  148 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Revenue was $69.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $128.1 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, representing a decrease of $58.7 million, or 46%. 

Placement fees decreased by $67.1 million, or 62%, driven primarily by lower trading volumes. We attribute lower 
trading volumes in the private markets to macroeconomic and geopolitical instability that triggered a higher spread between 
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the price sellers are asking for their shares and the price at which buyers want to buy. We believe buyers have also paused 
due to high market volatility and uncertain market conditions. 

Custodial administration fees increased by $8.4 million, or 41%, driven by fee increases for these services and the 
rising interest rate environment leading to increased revenue for cash administration services.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Revenue was $128.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to $51.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $76.5 million, or 148%.

Placement fees increased by $78.5 million, driven by higher trading volumes and amounts due to strong markets, 
IPO activity and increased numbers of late stage private companies, as well as an increased customer base from the 
SharesPost acquisition.

Custodial administration fees decreased by $2.1 million, or 9%, driven by declining interest rates. In a lower interest 
rate environment, customers receive reduced interest payments on their custodial cash balances, which in turn affects cash 
administration fees we receive for facilitating the acquisition of FDIC insurance on behalf of these customers and other cash 
administration services.

Transaction-based expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Transaction-based expenses         . . . . . . $ (483) $ (3,034) $ (3,888) $ 2,551  (84) % $ 854  (22) %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Transaction-based expenses were $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $3.0 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a decrease of $2.6 million or 84%, driven by a decrease in external broker 
fees.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Transaction-based expenses were $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $3.9 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2020, representing a decrease of $0.9 million or 22%. Though our revenues increased during 
the same period, the volume of transactions that gave rise to transaction-based expenses decreased.

Compensation and benefits

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Salary    ................................................. $ 47,836 $ 33,197 $ 19,915 $ 14,639  44 % $ 13,282  67 %
Bonus   .................................................  34,356  45,433  10,303  (11,077)  (24) %  35,130  341 %
Benefits     ..............................................  5,344  3,729  2,167  1,615  43 %  1,562  72 %
Share-based compensation   .................  57,924  12,231  4,906  45,693  374 %  7,325  149 %
Other   ..................................................  54  64  39  (10)  (16) %  25  64 %
Total compensation and benefits      ....... $ 145,514 $ 94,654 $ 37,330 $ 50,860  54 % $ 57,324  154 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Compensation and benefits expense was $145.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $94.7 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $50.9  million, or 54%.

The change was primarily due to the increase in share-based compensation expense of $45.7 million, primarily 
related to restricted stock units ("RSUs"), which we first granted on June 1, 2022 under our 2022 Stock Option and Incentive 
Plan. RSU expense was $40.6 million, of which $24.3 million related to the Executive Retention RSUs granted to certain 
executives described in Note 13, "Share-Based Compensation" to our  consolidated financial statements included elsewhere 
in this Report. Additionally, $7.5 million of the share-based compensation increase was due to the cumulative catch-up 
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expense and continued amortization for stock option grants containing performance and market-based conditions, of which 
the performance condition was met as a result of the consummation of the Business Combination, and $2.2 million due to 
stock option modifications. These expenses were partially offset by a $4.3 million decrease in share-based compensation for 
secondary transactions which occurred in 2021 but not in 2022.

We awarded one-time transaction bonuses for certain executives of $17.7 million related to the consummation of the 
Business Combination. Additionally, increases in headcount from organic growth of our business operations drove increases 
in salaries and benefits of $14.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. This was offset by a decrease in incentive bonuses of 
$28.8 million driven by lower attainment of Company performance targets.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Compensation and benefits expense was $94.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $37.3 
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $57.4 million, or 154%. This was primarily 
attributable to an increase of $35.1 million for accrued bonuses related to our financial performance and individual employee 
performance. Bonuses were also impacted by the additional headcount acquired from SharesPost and the overall upturn in the 
market in 2021 as compared to 2020, which contained the initial ramifications of the COVID-19 pandemic on the public and 
private stock markets. In addition, share-based compensation expense increased by $7.3 million, which was primarily driven 
by a $4.2 million increase in share-based compensation charges related to secondary transactions in 2021 that did not occur in 
2020. Refer to Note 13, "Share-Based Compensation" to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in the 
Report for more information. Additionally, the increase in compensation and benefits expense was attributable to the increase 
in employee salaries in the amount of $13.3 million, and benefits in the amount of $1.6 million primarily due to increases in 
headcount from our acquisitions and organic growth of business operations.

Professional services

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Professional services   . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 14,265  12,450  3,371 $ 1,815  15 % $ 9,079  269 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Professional services expense was $14.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $12.5 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $1.8 million, or 15%. The change in expense was 
primarily due to consulting and legal expenses related to increased compliance requirements as a result of becoming a public 
company.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Professional services expense was $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $3.4 million 
for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $9.1 million, or 269%. The increase in professional 
services expense was aligned with our plan of becoming a public company. Advisory fees increased $3.0 million, related to 
the issuance of Series B-1 and B-2 convertible preferred stock and the secondary sales of common stock during the year 
ended December 31, 2021. In addition, accounting and legal expenses rose $2.5 million and $1.4  million, respectively, due to 
increased business operations and regulatory review due to our Form S-4 and related SEC filings.

Acquisition-related transaction costs

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Acquisition-related transaction 
costs     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 5,113  882  3,289 $ 4,231  480 % $ (2,407)  (73) %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Acquisition-related transaction costs were $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $0.9 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $4.2 million, or 480%. The change was primarily 
related to transaction costs related to the Business Combination.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Acquisition-related transaction costs were $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $3.3  
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing a decrease of $2.4 million, or 73%. The decrease in acquisition-
related transaction costs was primarily related to the acquisition of SharesPost, which was completed in November 2020.

Advertising and market development

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Advertising and market development  $ 4,754  5,090  1,528 $ (336)  (7) % $ 3,562  233 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Advertising and market development expense was $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 
$5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a decrease of $0.3 million, or 7%. The change was driven 
primarily by a decrease in web development and public relations costs for public company readiness.   

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Advertising and market development expense was $5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to 
$1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $3.6 million, or 233%. The increase was 
driven by a combination of increased investment in new customer acquisition, launching a new website and increased 
investment in public relations for public company readiness.

Rent and occupancy

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Rent and occupancy     . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,455  3,744  2,381 $ 1,711  46 % $ 1,363  57 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Rent and occupancy expense was $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $3.7 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $1.7 million, or 46%. The change was primarily due to one 
additional operating lease which commenced in December 2021.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Rent and occupancy expense was $3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $2.4 million for 
the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $1.3 million, or 57%. The change was primarily due to three 
additional operating leases assumed as a part of the SharesPost acquisition in November 2020.

Technology and communications

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Technology and communications   . . $ 11,489  8,243  4,616 $ 3,246  39 % $ 3,627  79 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Technology and communications expense was $11.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 
$8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $3.3 million, or 39%. The change was 
primarily due to an increase of $1.7 million in software expenses for our growing business, and an increase of $1.5 million 
for third party software development engineers for the continued development and maintenance of our platform.

Table of Contents

53



Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Technology and communications expense was $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $4.6 
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $3.6 million, or 79%. The change was primarily 
due to an increase of $1.5 million in software expenses for our growing business, and an increase of $1.8 million for third 
party software development engineers for the continued development and maintenance of our platform.

General and administrative
Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change

(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

General and administrative      . . . . . . . . $ 11,324  4,358  452 $ 6,966  160 % $ 3,906  864 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

General and administrative expense was $11.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $4.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $7.0 million, or 160%. The increase was primarily 
driven by $5.0 million related to an increase in a company liability insurance and an increase of $0.7 million in travel and 
entertainment expenses as a result of more normalized travel expenses due to the lifting of travel restrictions associated with 
COVID-19. Additionally, bad debt expense increased $0.3 million and an impairment charge was recognized on long-lived 
assets of $0.2 million. For more information on the impairment charge refer to Note 5, "Consolidated Balance Sheet 
Components" to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report for more information.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

General and administrative expense was $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to $0.5 
million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $3.9 million, or 864%. The increase was primarily 
driven by $2.2 million related to a credit for fund insurance premiums as a result of re-negotiation of the insurance premium 
with our vendor during 2020. We further incurred increases of $1.7 million for various costs such as regulatory fees, 
franchise/business taxes, bank service charges, company liability insurance and travel and entertainment expenses. 

Depreciation and amortization

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Depreciation and amortization    . . . . . $ 6,026 $ 5,390 $ 2,406 $ 636  12 % $ 2,984  124 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Depreciation and amortization expense was $6.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $5.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $0.6 million, or 12%. The change was primarily 
driven by additional amortization expense of $1.6 million recognized on capitalized internal-use software placed in service, 
offset by a decrease of $0.8 million for certain intangible assets becoming fully amortized during the year ended 
December 31, 2021.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Depreciation and amortization expense was $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $2.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $3.0 million, or 124%. The increase was primarily 
driven by a $2.6 million increase in the amortization of intangible assets acquired from the acquisition of SharesPost in 
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November 2020, and a $0.3 million increase in depreciation and amortization of furniture, leasehold improvements, computer 
equipment and capitalized software.

Interest income (expenses), net

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Interest income (expenses), net      . . . . $ 2,681  (2,307)  (2,405) $ 4,988  100  (216) % $ 98  (4) %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Interest income, net, was $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to interest expenses, net of 
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a change of $5.0 million, or 216%. The change was 
primarily driven by more favorable interest rates earned on a higher cash balance received as a result of the Business 
Combination in the first quarter of 2022 as well as settlement of convertible notes and senior debt in the first quarter of 2021. 

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Interest expenses, net, was $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to interest expenses, net, 
of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing a decrease of $0.1 million, or 4%.

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Change in fair value of warrant 
liabilities     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 19,836  (6,064)  (292) $ 25,900  (427) % $ (5,772)  1977 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Gain from the change in fair value of warrant liabilities was $19.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, 
compared to a loss of $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $25.9 million, or 427%. 
The change was primarily driven by the decrease in the fair value of Private Placement Warrants, Junior Preferred Stock 
Warrants and Public Warrants during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Loss from the change in fair value of warrant liabilities was $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, 
compared to a loss of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increased loss of $5.8 million. The 
change was primarily driven by the increase in the fair value of the securities including common and convertible preferred 
stock during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the fair value of the underlying securities during the year 
ended December 31, 2020. 

Other income (expenses), net

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Other income (expenses), net     . . . . . . $ 945  47  (201) $ 898  1911 % $ 248  (123) %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Other income, net was $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to other income, net of less 
than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing an increase of $0.9 million, driven by an increase in 
sublease income related to a sublease that began in April 2022.

Table of Contents

55



Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Other income, net was less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to other expenses, net 
of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $0.3 million, or 123%. 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Over 2021 Change 2021 Over 2020 Change
(in thousands) 2022 2021 2020 $ % $ %

Provision for (benefit from) income 
taxes      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 327  386  (803) $ (59)  (15) % $ 1,189  (148) %

Effective tax rate    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (0.3) %  (2.1) %  7.6 %

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Provision for income tax was $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to provision for income 
tax of $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, representing a decrease of less than $0.1 million, or 15% driven 
primarily by the change in utilization of intangible assets .

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Provision for income tax was $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to benefit from income 
tax of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, representing an increase of $1.2 million, or 148%. The change was 
primarily driven by the carryback recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020 as well as utilization of intangible 
assets during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date, we have financed our operations primarily through revenue from operations, issuances of securities, 
issuances of debt and proceeds from the Business Combination. Our primary requirements for liquidity and capital are to 
finance working capital, capital expenditures and investments in business acquisitions.

As of December 31, 2022, our principal source of liquidity was our cash and cash equivalents balance of $193.1 
million. Since our inception, we have generated operating losses as reflected in our accumulated deficit. We had an 
accumulated deficit of $190.4 million as of December 31, 2022.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 will be sufficient to meet our operating 
working capital and capital expenditure requirements for the foreseeable future. Our future financing requirements will 
depend on many factors including our growth rate, the timing and extent of spending to support development of our platform 
and the expansion of sales and marketing activities. Although we currently are not a party to any agreement and do not have 
any understanding with any third parties with respect to potential investments in, or acquisitions of, businesses or 
technologies, we may enter into these types of arrangements in the future, which could also require us to seek additional 
equity or debt financing. Additional funds may not be available on terms favorable to us or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments in product development, sales efforts, and additional general and 
administrative costs in connection with operating as a public company. We expect to continue to maintain financing 
flexibility in the current market conditions. As a result, we may require additional capital resources to execute strategic 
initiatives to grow our business.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors including our revenue growth rate, the timing, and 
extent of spending to support further sales and marketing and research and development efforts. We may be required to seek 
additional equity or debt financing. In the event that additional financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able 
to raise it on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, results of 
operations, and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.
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Cash Flow Summary

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities    .............................................................................................. $ (68,806) $ 10,901 $ (2,528) 
Investing activities     ............................................................................................... $ (6,650) $ (3,256) $ (23,373) 
Financing activities     .............................................................................................. $ 192,862 $ 26,581 $ 39,380 

Operating Activities

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 of $68.8 million was primarily driven by our 
net loss of $111.9 million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $57.6 million and net cash outflows of $14.5 million provided by 
changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of share-based compensation of $57.9 
million, depreciation and amortization of $6.0 million, settlement of related party promissory notes of $5.5 million,  
transaction expenses related to the Business Combination of $3.1 million, amortization of right-of-use assets of $4.0 million, 
loss on impairment of long lived assets of $0.4 million, and bad debt reserve of $0.4 million, partially offset by changes in 
fair value of warrant liabilities of $19.8 million. The main drivers of the cash outflows from the changes in operating assets 
and liabilities were related to a decrease in accrued compensation and benefits of $7.9 million, a decrease in operating lease 
liabilities of $4.8 million, and an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $3.3 million, partially offset by a decrease 
in accounts receivable of $1.4 million, an increase in accounts payable of $0.9 million and an increase of $0.8 million in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities. 

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 of $10.9 million was primarily related 
to our net loss of $18.5 million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $26.7 million and net cash inflows of $2.7 million provided 
by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of share-based compensation of $12.2 
million, changes in fair value of warrant liabilities of $6.1 million, depreciation and amortization of $5.4 million, 
amortization of right-of-use assets of $2.8 million, bad debt reserve of $0.1 million, and other non-cash charges of $0.1 
million. The main drivers of the cash inflows were derived from the changes in operating assets and liabilities and were 
related to an increase in accrued compensation and benefits of $8.1 million and a decrease in accounts receivable of $0.4 
million, partially offset by an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $1.0 million, a decrease in accounts payable of 
$0.7 million, a decrease in operating lease liabilities of $3.5 million, and a decrease in accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities of $0.5 million.

Cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $2.5 million was primarily related to our 
net loss of $9.7 million, adjusted for non-cash charges of $10.2 million and net cash outflows of $3.0 million related to 
changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of share-based compensation of $4.9 
million, depreciation and amortization of $2.4 million, amortization of right-of-use assets of $1.6 million, bad debt reserve of 
$0.4 million, changes in fair value of warrant liabilities of $0.3 million, and other non-cash charges of $0.5 million. The main 
drivers of the cash outflows were derived from the changes in operating assets and liabilities and were related to an increase 
to accounts receivable of $3.4 million, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $2.2 million, a decrease in accounts 
payable of $1.7 million, and a decrease in operating lease liabilities of $1.7 million, partially offset by an increase in accrued 
compensation and benefits of $3.9 million, and an increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $2.1 million.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $6.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. This was due to cash paid 
for capitalized internal-use software of $6.3 million, purchases of property and equipment of $0.2 million and purchases of 
intangible assets of $0.1 million.

Cash used in investing activities was $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which consisted of 
purchases of intangible assets of $2.2 million and $1.1 million related to payments for capitalized internal-use software 
development costs. 

Cash used in investing activities was $23.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, which consisted 
primarily of cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired in the amount of $13.1 million related to the SharesPost 
acquisition, payment of deferred acquisition costs related to the IRA Services acquisition in the amount of $6.1 million, a 
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loan to SharesPost in the amount of $3.0 million, and $1.2 million related to capitalized internal-use software development 
costs.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $192.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which consisted 
primarily of proceeds from the PIPE Investment and A&R FPA investors of $208.5 million, proceeds from the exercise of 
Public Warrants of $22.9 million, proceeds from the formation of Forge Europe of $9.5 million, proceeds from the Business 
Combination of $7.9 million, and proceeds from the exercise of options of $1.1 million, partially offset by payments for 
offering costs of $56.9 million and payments for redemption of Public Warrants of $0.2 million.

Cash provided by financing activities was $26.6 million year ended December 31, 2021, which consisted primarily 
of proceeds from the issuance of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs, in the amount of $47.7 million, 
proceeds from the issuance of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock in the amount of $1.6 million, and proceeds from the 
exercise of options, including proceeds from the repayment of promissory notes, in the amount of $1.6 million, partially 
offset by repayments of debt in the amount of $19.4 million, and payments of deferred offering costs of $5.0 million.

Cash provided by financing activities was $39.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, which consisted 
primarily of proceeds from the issuance of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs in the amount of 
$41.5 million and proceeds from debt in the amount of $25.6 million, partially offset by repayment of debt in the amount of 
$27.7 million.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2022, and the years in which these 
obligations are due (in thousands):

Total
Less than 1 

year 1 to 3 years 3 to 5 years
More than 5 

years

Operating lease obligations (1)
     .................................... $ 7,973 $ 4,220 $ 3,753 $ — $ — 

Non-cancelable purchase obligations (2)
  ......................  10,095  2,699  3,940  3,456  — 

Total contractual obligations    ...................................... $ 18,068 $ 6,919 $ 7,693 $ 3,456 $ — 

__________
(1) Our lease portfolio primarily includes leased office space, all of which are accounted for as operating leases. Total 

payments listed represent total minimum future lease payments.

(2) In the normal course of business, we entered into non-cancelable purchase commitments with various parties mainly for  
software products and services.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our 
estimates on historical experience, current business factors and various other assumptions that we believe are necessary to 
consider forming a basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the recorded amounts of 
revenue and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We are subject to uncertainties such as the impact 
of future events, economic and political factors, and changes in our business environment; therefore, actual results could 
differ from these estimates. Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial 
statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained and as our 
operating environment changes. Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. Such changes in estimates and 
refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations; if material, the effects of changes in 
estimates are disclosed in the notes to our consolidated financial statements.
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On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions. Our actual results may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions or conditions. The most significant judgments, estimates and assumptions relate to the critical 
accounting policies, as discussed in more detail below.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from fees charged for the trading of private placements on our platform, and fees for account 
and asset management provided to customers. We disaggregate revenue by service type, as we believe that this level of 
disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are impacted by 
economic factors. We recognize revenue pursuant to ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. The amount of 
revenue recognized reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for services. To achieve the core principle 
of this standard, we applied the following five steps:

1. Identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer;

2. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determination of the transaction price;

4. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

5. Recognition of the revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers

We enter into contracts with customers that can include various services, which are generally capable of being 
distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. When applicable, allocation of the transaction fees to the 
performance obligations or to the distinct goods or services that form part of a single performance obligation will depend on 
the individual facts and circumstances of the contract.

All of our revenues are from contracts with customers. We are the principal in these contracts, with the exception of 
sub-account fees, in which case we act as the agent and record revenue from fees earned related to cash balances in 
customers’ custodial accounts. Refer to the section titled “Revenue Recognition and Transaction-Based Expenses” in Note 2 
to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Report.

Share-Based Compensation

We recognize share-based compensation expense in accordance with the provisions of ASC 718, Compensation — 
Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). ASC 718 requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all 
share-based awards, which primarily are stock options and restricted stock units ("RSUs"), granted to employees, directors 
and non-employees based on the grant date fair value of the awards. We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line 
basis over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the award's vesting term.  The fair value of stock 
options is determined by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the fair value of RSUs is based on the closing 
price of the Company's common stock.  Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

Prior to the Business Combination, the fair value of employee and non-employee stock options was determined on 
the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using various inputs, including the fair value of the underlying 
common stock, the expected term of the stock-based award, the expected volatility of the price of our common stock, risk-
free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of common stock. The assumptions used to determine the fair value of the 
stock-based awards represent management’s best estimates. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the 
application of management’s judgment.

During the year ended ended December 31, 2022, there were no new option grants. 

In addition, we have issued performance-based stock options to our Chief Executive Officer that vest based upon 
continued service through the vesting term and achievement of certain market conditions established by the board of directors 
for a predetermined period. We measure share-based compensation expense for performance-based stock options containing 
market conditions based on the estimated grant date fair value determined using the Monte Carlo valuation model. We 
recognize compensation expense for such awards over the requisite service period using the accelerated attribution method 
when it becomes probable that the performance condition will be satisfied.  The options are divided into three tranches of 
1,040,976 options, 1,040,976 options, and 1,040,979 options, corresponding to the three Aggregate Exit Proceeds Thresholds 
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(as defined below). The awards vest only upon the satisfaction of (1) certain performance conditions, which is the occurrence 
of an IPO, merger with a SPAC, or a secondary sale for total proceeds of at least $250.0 million and (2) market condition, 
which is holders of Legacy Forge's B-1 convertible preferred stock having realized (i) aggregate exit proceeds with fair 
market value of at least $9.94, $14.91, and $19.88 per share (the “Share Price Thresholds”); and (ii) an aggregate interest rate 
compounded annually which, when used as the discount rate to calculate the net present value, with respect to the occurrence 
of an IPO, merger with a SPAC or acquisition, that is equal to or greater than 20.0%, 30.0% and 35.0% (the “IRR 
Thresholds,” and together with the Share Price Thresholds, the “Aggregate Exit Proceeds Thresholds”). In the event of an 
IPO or a merger with a SPAC, the Aggregate Exit Proceeds Thresholds are measured on the basis of the closing price average 
for any trailing 20 trading day period (the “Measurement Period”) that occurs following such IPO or a merger with a SPAC, 
with the Measurement Period commencing upon expiration of the 180-day lock-up period following such IPO or merger with 
a SPAC, until the options expire or the Chief Executive Officer ceases to provide services to the Company. The options 
expire within 10 years less one day following the grant date. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the 
performance condition was met and we recorded cumulative catch-up compensation expense of $4.6 million. Total 
compensation expense recognized for the performance and market condition-based option during the year ended  
December 31, 2022 was $6.3 million. No compensation expense was recognized for the performance and market condition-
based option for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Modifications

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we modified stock options of five of our employees in connection with 
terminations of their employment and subsequent transition to service providers under consulting agreements. Under the 
terms of ASC 718 these employees were not obliged to perform substantive consulting services to us for the continued 
vesting of their options. We recognized incremental share-based compensation expense as the difference between the fair 
value of the options before and after the modifications.

We calculated the fair value of the options before and after modification using valuation inputs including our stock 
price of $3.79 - $17.71, a volatility metric 38.4% - 48.1%, a risk-free interest rate of 0.9% - 3.6% and an expected life 1.0 - 
5.5 years. The incremental fair value of the options resulting from the modifications was $2.2 million that was recognized as 
part of the share-based compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2022.

In December 2022, we accelerated vesting of 251,364 stock options and 210,987 Executive Retention RSUs as part 
of the severance package of one of our executives in connection with his employment termination. As a result, we recognized 
incremental share-based compensation expense of $0.5 million calculated by using the modification date valuation inputs 
including the our stock price of $1.52, a volatility metric of 47.34%, a risk-free interest rate of 4.09% and an expected life of 
3.0 years. In connection with his employment termination we also reversed portion of previously recognized share-based 
compensation expense resulting in a net reduction to share-based compensation of $4.4 million, net of incremental expense as 
well as additional share-based compensation recognized due to the acceleration of unvested shares under his original 
employment terms.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with ASC 360 - Property, Plant, and Equipment ("ASC 360"), our long-lived assets are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. 
We also evaluate the period of depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets to determine whether events or 
circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives. When indicators of impairment are present, we determine the 
recoverability of our long-lived assets by comparing the carrying value of our long-lived assets to future undiscounted net 
cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If the estimated future undiscounted 
cash flows demonstrate the long-lived assets are not recoverable, an impairment loss would be calculated based on the excess 
of the carrying amounts of the long-lived assets over their fair value.

We determined that recent developments in domestic and global economies, including significant market volatilities, 
interest rate increases, and the decline in the market value of our stock, which commenced prior to December 31, 2022, 
represent indicators that our long-lived assets may be impaired. Accordingly, we carried out an impairment test of our long-
lived assets pursuant to ASC 360, whereby we performed a quantitative assessment to determine whether our long-lived 
assets were recoverable. Our long-lived assets represent a single group of assets that individually are not independent from 
the cash flows of other assets. We determined that the carrying amount of our long-lived assets did not exceed the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use of these assets, thus, our long-lived assets were recoverable as of 
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December 31, 2022. As a result, no impairment loss was recorded for the long-lived assets other than several individually 
impaired long-lived assets related to our certain operating leases of $0.3 million, leasehold improvements of less than $0.1 
million and furniture and fixtures of less than $0.1 million. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination 
over the fair value of the assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment 
annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the goodwill may be impaired. Our 
annual goodwill impairment test resulted in no goodwill impairment. 

Additionally, as of December 31, 2022, we performed a goodwill impairment test as a result of the events and 
circumstances previously discussed. We have one reporting unit. In determining the fair value of the reporting unit in 
accordance with ASC 350 - Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, we performed a quantitative assessment of goodwill as of 
December 31, 2022 using the income approach in combination with various sensitivity analyses and reconciliations to market 
capitalization. The fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value. As a result, no impairment loss was recorded 
for goodwill.

In-process research and development (“IPR&D”) assets acquired in a business combination are considered indefinite 
lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. Upon conclusion of the 
relevant research and development project, we will amortize the acquired IPR&D over its estimated useful life or expense the 
acquired IPR&D should the research and development project be unsuccessful with no future alternative use. In September 
2021, we launched the acquired IPR&D data platform and started to record amortization expense using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the asset.

Acquired intangible assets also consist of identifiable intangible assets, primarily software technology, trade name 
and customer relationships, resulting from business acquisitions. Finite-lived intangible assets are recorded at fair value on 
the date of acquisition and are amortized over their estimated useful lives. We base the useful lives and related amortization 
expense on our estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used.

 Due to the inherent uncertainties of the current operating environment, we will continue to evaluate our goodwill 
and long-lived assets for events or circumstances that indicate that their fair values may be lower than their carrying value. 

Emerging Growth Company Status

Prior to December 31, 2022, we were an emerging growth company (“EGC”), as defined in the Jumpstart Our 
Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). The JOBS Act permits companies with EGC status to take advantage of an 
extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards, delaying the adoption of these accounting 
standards until they would apply to private companies. We elected to avail ourselves of this exemption prior to December 31, 
2022, when we were an EGC, and as a result, our financial statements prior to that date may not have been comparable to 
companies who were required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards applicable to public 
companies. As of December 31, 2022, we are no longer an EGC.

Subject to certain conditions, as an EGC we were able to rely on other exemptions and reduced reporting 
requirements provided by the JOBS Act, including without limitations: (i) providing an auditor’s attestation report on our 
system of internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; (ii) providing all of 
the compensation disclosure that may be required of non-emerging growth public companies under the Dodd-Frank Wall 
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act; (iii) complying with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board; and (iv) disclosing certain executive compensation-related items such as the 
correlation between executive compensation and performance and comparisons of the Chief Executive Officer’s 
compensation to median employee compensation. Because we no longer qualify as an EGC, we are no longer able to take 
advantage of the extended transition period for the adoption of certain accounting standards or of the reduced disclosure and 
other benefits available to EGCs.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See the section titled "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" in Note 2 of the notes to our consolidated 
financial statements included in this Report for more information.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
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Market risk generally represents the risk of loss that may result from the potential change in the value of a financial 
instrument as a result of fluctuations in interest rates and market prices. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures about these market risks is described below.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to changes in interest rates relates to interest earned on our cash and cash equivalents and interest 
incurred in relation to our debts. In addition, changes in interest rates could drive a significant impact to our custodial 
administration fees. If the Federal Reserve lowers interest rates, our customers receive reduced interest payments on their 
uninvested cash balances, which in turn limits the portion of sub-account fees we collect in exchange for facilitating the 
acquisition of FDIC insurance on behalf of the customer.

We perform a net interest sensitivity analysis to evaluate the effect that changes in interest rates might have on our 
revenue. The analysis assumes that the asset and liability structure of our consolidated balance sheets would not be changed 
as a result of a simulated change in interest rates. The results of the analysis based on our financial position for the years 
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 indicate that a hypothetical 50 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates 
would have impacted our custodial administration fee revenues by $3.4 million, $3.1 million and $2.7 million, respectively. 
Additionally, we perform a net interest sensitivity analysis to evaluate the effect that a hypothetical increase or decrease in 
risk-free rates would have on our interest income. The results of the analysis based on our financial position for the years 
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 indicate that a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in risk-free rates would not 
have a material effect on our financial results. 

Our measurement of interest rate risk involves assumptions that are inherently uncertain and, as a result, cannot 
precisely estimate the impact of changes in interest rates on net interest revenues. Actual results may differ from simulated 
results due to balance growth or decline and the timing, magnitude and frequency of interest rate changes, as well as changes 
in market conditions and management strategies, including changes in asset and liability mix.

Foreign Exchange Rate Risk

Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates. Currently, substantially all of our revenue and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars.

Revenue and expenses are remeasured each day at the exchange rate in effect on the day the transaction occurred. 
Our results of operations and cash flows in the future may be adversely affected due to an expansion of non-U.S. dollar 
denominated contracts and changes in foreign exchange rates. The effect of a hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency 
exchange rates applicable to our business would have affected the carrying amount of our net assets by approximately $1.5 
million as of December 31, 2022 and would not have had a material impact as of December 31, 2021. To date, we have not 
engaged in any hedging strategies. As our international activities grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to manage 
the risk relating to fluctuations in currency rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Forge Global Holdings, Inc. (the Company) as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, changes in convertible 
preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the 
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due 
to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over 
financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test 
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that 
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that 
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The 
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, 
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the 
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Impairment assessment of goodwill
Description of the Matter At December 31, 2022, the Company’s goodwill was $121 million. As discussed in 

notes 2 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company tests goodwill for 
impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level. The Company has determined 
that it has a single reporting unit. During 2022, the Company determined that recent 
developments in the economy and the decline in the market value of the Company's 
stock represent indicators that its goodwill may be impaired. The Company performed 
a quantitative impairment analysis to assess the enterprise value of the company and 
assess its goodwill for recoverability. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the 
Company did not recognize impairment charges on goodwill.

Auditing the Company's impairment assessment was complex and involved a high 
degree of subjectivity as the estimate of fair value of the reporting unit is based on 
significant assumptions including discount rates, revenue growth rates and projected 
operating margin.

How We Addressed the 
Matter in Our Audit

To test the fair value of the Company’s reporting unit, our audit procedures included, 
among others, assessing the methodology and assumptions described above used in 
the impairment assessment. We compared the assumptions described above to analyst 
expectations, historical performance and other available market information. We also 
performed our own sensitivity analyses by increasing or decreasing the assumptions 
and evaluated the potential impact on the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. 
We involved our specialist to assist us in evaluating the methodologies and 
assumptions used to calculate the estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting 
unit.

In addition, we tested the reconciliation of the fair value of the reporting unit 
developed by management to the market capitalization of the Company as of the 
valuation date and evaluated the implied control premium for reasonableness.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021.

San Francisco, California

March 1, 2023

Table of Contents

65



FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)
December 31,

2022 2021
Assets
 Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 193,136 $ 74,781 
Restricted cash       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,829  1,623 
Accounts receivable, net    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,544  5,380 
Payment-dependent notes receivable, current       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5  1,153 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  8,374  5,148 

Total current assets    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 206,888 $ 88,085 
Property and equipment, net     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  359  497 
Internal-use software, net      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,640  2,691 
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  133,887  137,774 
Operating lease right-of-use assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,706  7,881 
Payment-dependent notes receivable, noncurrent  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,371  13,453 
Other assets, noncurrent      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,878  7,514 
Total assets   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 363,729 $ 257,895 
Liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,797 $ 1,920 
Accrued compensation and benefits        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  13,271  21,240 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,416  8,343 
Operating lease liabilities, current      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,896  5,367 
Payment-dependent notes payable, current    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5  1,153 

Total current liabilities       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 26,385 $ 38,023 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,541  5,159 
Payment-dependent notes payable, noncurrent      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,371  13,453 
Warrant liabilities       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  606  7,844 
Other liabilities, noncurrent    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  365  — 
Total liabilities       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 38,268 $ 64,479 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs, $0.00001 par value; nil and 86,815,192 shares 
authorized as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively; nil and 73,914,149 
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively; 
aggregate liquidation preference of $0 and $271,845 as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 
2021, respectively  —  246,056 

Stockholders’ equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 172,560,916 and 63,090,701 shares issued and outstanding as 
of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively  18  — 

Additional paid-in capital       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  509,094  25,919 
Accumulated other comprehensive income    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  693  — 
Accumulated deficit       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (190,418)  (78,559) 
Total Forge Global Holdings, Inc. stockholders’ equity (deficit)         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 319,387 $ (52,640) 
Noncontrolling Interest  6,074  — 
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 325,461 $ (52,640) 
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)     . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 363,729 $ 257,895 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations 

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Revenues:
Placement fees        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 40,665 $ 107,723 $ 29,240 
Custodial administration fees       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  28,718  20,333  22,404 
  Total revenues        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 69,383 $ 128,056 $ 51,644 

Transaction-based expenses:
Transaction-based expenses       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (483)  (3,034)  (3,888) 

Total revenues, less transaction-based expenses       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 68,900 $ 125,022 $ 47,756 
Operating expenses:

Compensation and benefits     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  145,514  94,654  37,330 
Professional services     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  14,265  12,450  3,371 
Acquisition-related transaction costs     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,113  882  3,289 
Advertising and market development     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,754  5,090  1,528 
Rent and occupancy    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,455  3,744  2,381 
Technology and communications      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,489  8,243  4,616 
General and administrative      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,324  4,358  452 
Depreciation and amortization    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,026  5,390  2,406 

Total operating expenses      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 203,940 $ 134,811 $ 55,373 
Operating loss     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (135,040) $ (9,789) $ (7,617) 
Interest and other income (expenses):

Interest income (expenses), net       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,681  (2,307)  (2,405) 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  19,836  (6,064)  (292) 
Other income (expenses), net      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  945  47  (201) 

Total interest income (expenses) and other income (expenses)   . . . . . . . . . . $ 23,462 $ (8,324) $ (2,898) 
Loss before provision for income taxes      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,578) $ (18,113) $ (10,515) 
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  327  386  (803) 
Net loss       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,905) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (46)  —  — 
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc.     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,859) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Net loss per share attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. common 
stockholders:    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Basic $ (0.78) $ (0.34) $ (0.26) 
Diluted $ (0.80) $ (0.34) $ (0.26) 

Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to 
Forge Global Holdings, Inc. common stockholders:       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Basic  143,839,981  54,295,304  37,308,450 
Diluted  145,013,346  54,295,304  37,308,450 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Net loss $ (111,905) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Foreign currency translation adjustment      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,155  —  — 

Comprehensive loss    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (110,750)  (18,499)  (9,712) 
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest     416  —  — 

Comprehensive loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc. $ (111,166) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

(In thousands of U.S. dollars, except share data)

Convertible Preferred 
Stock Common Stock Additional 

Paid-In 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Noncontrolling 
Interest TotalShares Amount Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 
2019 8,697,229 $ 84,998 13,635,614

$                  
(*) $ 2,785 $ (50,348) $ — $ — $ (47,563) 

Retroactive application of 
recapitalization (Note 3) 18,463,619  — 28,946,803  4  (4)  —  —  —  — 
Balance as of December 31, 
2019 27,160,848 $ 84,998 42,582,417 $ 4 $ 2,781 $ (50,348) $ — $ — $ (47,563) 
 Issuance of Series B-1 
convertible preferred stock at 
$3.9760 per share, net of 
issuance costs of $2,713 11,126,594  41,527 —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
 Issuance of Series B-1 
convertible preferred stock at 
$2.7826 per share upon 
conversion of convertible 
notes and accrued interest 3,571,458  9,940 —  —  —  —  —  —  — 

 Issuance of Class AA 
common stock upon exercise 
of vested options —  — 64,020  (*)  21  —  —  —  21 

 Issuance of Class AA 
common stock upon early 
exercise of unvested options —  — 897,149  —  —  —  —  —  — 

 Repurchase of early 
exercised stock options and 
restricted stock awards —  — (578,226)  —  —  —  —  —  — 

 Issuance of Class AA 
common stock in connection 
with SharesPost acquisition —  — 28,153,660  —  44,817  —  —  —  44,817 
 Issuance of Junior 
convertible preferred stock in 
connection with SharesPost 
acquisition 7,225,285  20,383 —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
 Vesting of early exercised 
stock options —  — —  —  32  —  —  —  32 
Share-based compensation 
expense —  — —  —  4,906  —  —  —  4,906 
Net loss —  — —  —  —  (9,712)  —  —  (9,712) 
Balance as of December 31, 
2020 49,084,185 $ 156,848 71,119,020 $ 4 $ 52,557 $ (60,060) $ — $ — $ (7,499) 
Issuance of Series B-1 
convertible preferred stock at 
$3.9760 per share upon 
conversion of convertible 
notes and accrued interest 27,947  111 —  —  — —  —  —  — 
Issuance of Series B-1 
convertible preferred stock at 
$3.9760 per share, net of 
issuance costs of $2,838 12,719,398  47,735 —  —  — —  —  —  — 

Issuance of Series B-2 
convertible preferred stock at 
$3.9760 per share 412,623  1,640 —  —  — —  —  —  — 

Issuance of Class AA 
common stock upon exercise 
of vested stock options, 
including stock options 
exercised via promissory 
notes —  — 1,290,307 (*)  704 —  —  —  704 
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Issuance of Class AA 
common stock upon early 
exercise of unvested stock 
options, including stock 
options exercised via 
promissory notes —  — 2,604,724  —  — —  —  —  — 
Repurchase of early exercised 
stock options —  — (43,052)  —  — —  —  —  — 

Exchange of Class AA 
common stock for Series B-1 
convertible preferred stock 11,669,996  39,722 

(11,669,996
) (*)  (39,722) —  —  —  (39,722) 

Vesting of early exercised 
stock options —  — — —  145 —  —  —  145 
Share-based compensation 
expense —  — — —  12,231 —  —  —  12,231 
Net loss —  — — — —  (18,499)  —  —  (18,499) 
Balance as of December 31, 
2021 73,914,149 $ 246,056 63,301,003 $ 4 $ 25,915 $ (78,559) $ — $ — $ (52,640) 

Unissued common stock (1) —  — (210,302)  —  — —  —  —  — 
Balance as of December 31, 
2021 73,914,149 $ 246,056 63,090,701 $ 4 $ 25,915 $ (78,559) $ — $ — $ (52,640) 
 Pre-close issuance of 
common stock upon exercise 
of vested options 

— — 190,505 (*) 102 — — — 102
 Pre-close issuance of 
common stock upon exercise 
of unvested options 

— — 4,472 — — — — — —

 Pre-close issuance of 
common stock for services 

— — 62,952 (*) 621 — — — 621

 Conversion of preferred 
stock to common stock 

(73,914,149) (246,056) 73,914,149 7 246,049 — — — 246,056
 Conversion of May 2020 and 
October 2020 preferred stock 
warrants of Legacy Forge to 
common stock warrants 

— — — — 2,949 — — — 2,949

 Settlement of promissory 
notes 

— — — 2 4,205 — — — 4,207
 Issuance of common stock 
upon Merger (net of 
redemptions), including PIPE 
Investment and A&R FPA 
investors, net of transaction 
cost of $58,673, including 
previously unissued 210,302 
shares (1) — — 32,171,349 3 140,808 — — — 140,811

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of Public 
Warrants — — 1,994,790 (*) 23,638 — — — 23,638

Issuance of common stock 
upon release of restricted 
stock units — — 139,340 (*) (*) — — — (*)

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of vested 
options — — 954,257 (*) 854 — — — 855

Issuance of common stock 
upon early exercise of 
unvested options — — 78,076 — — — — — —

Issuance of common stock 
upon exercise of Junior 
Preferred Stock Warrants — — 123,379 (*) 653 — — — 653
Formation of Forge Europe — — — — 3,830 — — 5,658 9,488
Repurchase of early exercised 
stock options — — (163,054) — — — — — —
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Vesting of early exercised 
stock options and restricted 
stock awards — — — — 1,554 — — — 1,554
Share-based compensation 
expense — — — — 57,917 — — — 57,917
Net loss — — — — — (111,859) — (46) (111,905)
Foreign currency translation 
adjustment — — — — — — 693 462 1,155
Balance as of December 31, 
2022 — $ — 172,560,916 $ 18 $ 509,094 $ (190,418) $ 693 $ 6,074 $ 325,461 

(*) amount less than 1

(1) This amount represents shares that were not issued upon the closing of the Business Combination (see Note 3) as a result of a 
shareholder’s demand for appraisal rights. These shares were issued to the shareholder during the year ended December 31, 2022 after 
the statutory period to perfect such rights lapsed.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands of U.S. dollars)
Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (111,905) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operations:
Share-based compensation    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  57,924  12,231  4,906 
Depreciation and amortization   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,026  5,390  2,406 
Transaction expenses related to the Merger      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,132  —  — 
Amortization of right-of-use assets    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,999  2,804  1,638 
Loss on impairment of long lived assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  446  —  — 
Bad debt reserve     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  433  121  424 
Change in fair value of warrant liabilities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (19,836)  6,064  292 
Settlement of related party promissory notes (Note 3)       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,517  —  — 
Other    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  107  462 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,403  382  (3,386) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (3,321)  (1,031)  (2,191) 
Accounts payable     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  904  (692)  (1,683) 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (788)  (520)  2,138 
Accrued compensation and benefits   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (7,911)  8,080  3,869 
Operating lease liabilities     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (4,829)  (3,536)  (1,691) 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (68,806) $ 10,901 $ (2,528) 
Cash flows from investing activities:

Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acquired       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  (13,114) 
Purchases of property and equipment      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (220)  —  (13) 
Purchases of intangible assets         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (118)  (2,202)  — 
Capitalized internal-use software development costs     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (6,312)  (1,054)  (1,149) 
Loan to SharesPost    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  (3,000) 
Payment of deferred payments related to IRA Services acquisition    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  (6,097) 

Net cash used in investing activities       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (6,650) $ (3,256) $ (23,373) 
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from the Merger       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,865  —  — 
Proceeds from PIPE investment and A&R FPA investors     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  208,500  —  — 
Payments for offering costs      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (56,852)  (4,954)  — 
Proceeds from exercise of Public Warrants   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  22,940  —  — 
Proceeds from notes payable     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  25,566 
Formation of Forge Europe (Note 1)      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  9,488  —  — 
Proceeds from exercise of options, including proceeds from repayment of promissory 
notes    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 1,086  1,621  24 

Payments for redemption of Public Warrants    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (165)  —  — 
Proceeds from issuance of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock, net of issuance 
costs     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 —  47,735  41,527 

Proceeds from issuance of Series B-2 convertible preferred stock, net of issuance 
costs     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 —  1,640  — 

Repayment of notes payable     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  (19,438)  (27,688) 
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Cash paid to purchase equity awards      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  (23)  (49) 
Net cash provided by financing activities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 192,862 $ 26,581 $ 39,380 

Effect of changes in currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents      . . . . . . . . . . .  1,155  —  — 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  118,561  34,226  13,479 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of the period     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  76,404  42,178  28,699 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the period     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 194,965 $ 76,404 $ 42,178 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash to the amounts 
reported within the consolidated balance sheets       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Cash and cash equivalents    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 193,136 $ 74,781 $ 40,577 
Restricted cash   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,829  1,623  1,601 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of the period     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 194,965 $ 76,404 $ 42,178 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 2,118 $ 425 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,087 $ 1,702 $ — 
Capitalized internal-use software development costs accrued and not yet paid    . . . . . . $ 180 $ 214 $ — 
Deferred payments related to SharesPost acquisition    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 783 
Forgiveness of loan to SharesPost in relation to acquisition    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 3,000 
Issuance of Junior convertible preferred stock in relation to SharesPost acquisition        . . $ — $ — $ 20,383 
Issuance of Junior convertible preferred stock warrants in relation to SharesPost 
acquisition     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ — $ — $ 1,285 

Issuance of Class AA common stock in relation to SharesPost acquisition     . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 44,817 
Reclassification of deferred offering costs to equity    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,923 $ — $ — 
Conversion of preferred stock       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 246,049 $ — $ — 
Conversion of May 2020 and October 2020 preferred stock warrants of Legacy Forge 
to common stock warrants       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 2,949 $ — $ — 

Non-cash assets acquired in the Merger     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 193 $ — $ — 
Warrants issued in connection with A&R FPA      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,080 $ — $ — 
Assumption of merger warrants liability    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,983 $ — $ — 
Exchange of Class AA common stock for Series B-1 convertible preferred stock     . . . . $ — $ 39,722 $ — 
Vesting of early exercised stock options and restricted stock awards     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,554 $ 145 $ 32 
Warrant liability reclassified to additional paid-in capital upon exercise of Public 
Warrants     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 698 $ — $ — 

Warrant liability reclassified to additional paid-in capital upon exercise of Junior 
Preferred Stock Warrants    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$ 653 $ — $ — 

Issuance of common stock upon settlement of related party promissory notes       . . . . . . . $ 4,207 $ — $ — 
Early exercise of stock options upon settlement of related party promissory notes      . . . $ 1,310 $ — $ — 
Deferred offering cost accrued and not yet paid     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 969 $ — 
Conversion of convertible notes into Series B-1 convertible preferred stock      . . . . . . . . $ — $ 111 $ 9,940 
Warrant issued in connection with issuance of convertible notes payable     . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 51 
Warrant issued in connection with issuance of term loan      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 151 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. Organization and Description of Business

Forge Global Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”, and f/k/a Motive Capital Corp) is a financial services platform 
headquartered in San Francisco, California. The Company offers a trusted trading platform, proprietary data and insights to 
inform investment strategies, along with custody services to help companies, shareholders, institutions and accredited 
investors confidently navigate and transact in the private market. The Company's scaled and integrated business model is at 
the nexus of the private market ecosystem, which it believes creates a sustaining competitive advantage fueling its clients' 
participation in the private market and the Company's growth.

On March 21, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), the Company consummated the Business Combination (as defined below) 
pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated September 13, 2021 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and 
among Motive Capital Corp, a blank check company incorporated as a Cayman Islands exempted company in 2020 
(“MOTV”), FGI Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of MOTV (“Merger Sub”), and 
Forge Global, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Legacy Forge”). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, on the Closing Date, 
immediately prior to the consummation of the Business Combination, MOTV changed its jurisdiction of incorporation from 
the Cayman Islands to the State of Delaware and changed its corporate name to "Forge Global Holdings, Inc." (the 
“Domestication”). On the Closing Date, Merger Sub merged with and into Legacy Forge (the "Merger"), with Legacy Forge 
surviving the Merger as a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (together with the Merger, the Domestication, and 
the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the “Business Combination”).

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization with Legacy Forge being the accounting acquirer and 
MOTV as the acquired company for accounting purposes. Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in the 
consolidated financial statements represents the accounts of Legacy Forge and its wholly owned subsidiaries as if Legacy 
Forge is the predecessor to the Company. The shares and net loss per common share prior to the Merger have been 
retroactively restated as shares reflecting the exchange ratio (the "Exchange Ratio") as established by the Merger Agreement 
(each outstanding share of Legacy Forge Class A common stock was exchanged for approximately 3.122931 shares of the 
Company’s common stock, including all shares of Legacy Forge preferred stock, which were converted to shares of Legacy 
Forge's Class A common stock immediately prior to the Merger). 

Prior to the Business Combination, MOTV’s units, public shares, and Public Warrants were listed on the New York 
Stock Exchange under the symbols “MOTV-UN”, “MOTV”, and “MOTV-WT”, respectively. On the Closing Date, the 
Company's common stock and Public Warrants began trading on The New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), under the 
symbols “FRGE” and “FRGE WS”, respectively. See Note 3, "Recapitalization" for additional details.

Forge Europe GmbH

In September 2022, the Company and Deutsche Börse Aktiengesellschaft (“DBAG,” a German company and 
together with the Company, the “Investors”) formed a subsidiary, Forge Europe GmbH (“Forge Europe”), to further expand 
the Company’s business in the European market. Upon formation, the Investors contributed to Forge Europe an aggregate 
cash amount of $14.1 million  (the “Cash Consideration”) and certain of the Company’s intangible assets (the “Noncash 
Consideration”). $4.6 million of the Cash Consideration was contributed by the Company and $9.5 million was contributed 
by DBAG. The Company has a majority ownership interest in Forge Europe and accounts for Forge Europe as a fully 
consolidated subsidiary. The remaining interest, held by DBAG (a related party of the Company), was reported as a 
noncontrolling interest in the consolidated financial statements. 

Upon initial consolidation, Forge Europe did not have any assets other than the $14.1 million transferred as Cash 
Consideration and the intangible assets contributed as Noncash Consideration with zero carrying value. Accordingly, the 
Cash Consideration contributed by DBAG as the noncontrolling interest holder of DBAG was in excess of its share of Forge 
Europe’s net assets, and the excess was recognized in additional paid-in capital upon consolidation of Forge Europe in the 
consolidated statements of changes in convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, and its subsidiaries and 
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) 
and in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). All intercompany 
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In the normal course of business, the Company has transactions with various investment entities as discussed in Note 
10, "Off Balance Sheet Items." In certain instances, the Company provides investment advisory services to pooled investment 
vehicles (each, an “Investment Fund”). The Company does not have discretion to make any investment, except for the 
specific investment for which an Investment Fund was formed. The Company performs an assessment to determine (a) 
whether the Company’s investments or other interests will absorb portions of a variable interest entity’s expected losses or 
receive portions of the entity’s expected residual returns and (b) whether the Company’s involvement, through holding 
interests directly or indirectly in the entity would give it a controlling financial interest. The Company consolidates entities in 
which it, directly or indirectly, is determined to have a controlling financial interest. Consolidation conclusions are reviewed 
quarterly to identify whether any reconsideration events have occurred. 

Segment Information

The Company operates as a single operating segment and reportable segment. The Company’s chief operating 
decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for 
purposes of making operating decisions, assessing financial performance, allocating resources and evaluating the Company’s 
financial performance.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 revenue outside of the United States (including U.S. 
territories), based on customer billing address, was $6.9 million, $20.0 million and $5.8 million respectively. As of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, long-lived assets located outside of the United States were not material.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Such management estimates include, but are not limited to, collectability of accounts receivable, the fair 
value of financial assets and liabilities, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, the 
fair value of consideration paid for business combinations, the useful lives of acquired intangible assets and property and 
equipment, the impairment of long-lived assets and goodwill, the fair value of warrants, equity awards and share-based 
compensation expenses, including the determination of the fair value of the Company’s common stock prior to the Business 
Combination and the derived service period for the awards containing market-based vesting conditions and the valuation of 
deferred tax assets. These estimates are inherently subjective in nature and, therefore, actual results may differ from the 
Company’s estimates and assumptions. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and also on assumptions 
that it believes are reasonable. Further, the Company applies judgment in determining whether, directly or indirectly, it has a 
controlling financial interest in the Investment Funds, in order to conclude whether any of the Investment Funds must be 
consolidated. 

The Company believes the estimates and assumptions underlying the consolidated financial statements are 
reasonable and supportable based on the information available as of December 31, 2022. These estimates may change as new 
events occur and additional information is obtained, and related financial impacts will be recognized in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements as soon as those events become known.
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Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants on the measurement date. When developing fair value measurements, the Company maximizes the use of 
observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs. A financial instrument’s classification within the fair value 
hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. Three levels of inputs may 
be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities, quoted prices 
for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value 
of the assets or liabilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date 
of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of bank deposit accounts and investments in 
money market funds.

Restricted Cash

The Company classifies all cash and cash equivalents that are not available for immediate or general business use as 
restricted in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. This includes amounts set aside for restrictions of specific 
agreements. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, restricted cash is comprised of cash held for regulatory purposes for the 
trust and brokerage-related activities. 

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers, which are subject to collection 
risk. Under ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, or ASU 2016-13, 
we estimate our allowance for doubtful accounts using an aging method, disaggregated based on major revenue stream 
categories as well as other unique revenue stream factors. The allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained at a level that 
we believe to be sufficient to absorb probable losses over the expected life in our accounts receivable portfolio. The 
allowance is based on several factors, including continuous assessments of risk characteristics, specific customer events that 
may impact its ability to meet its financial obligations, and other reasonable and supportable economic characteristics. 
Accounts receivable are written-off against the allowance for doubtful accounts when collection efforts cease. The total 
allowance for doubtful accounts netted against account receivables in the consolidated balance sheets was $0.9 million and 
$0.5 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily comprise cash 
and cash equivalents and restricted cash, payment-dependent notes receivable, and accounts receivable. Cash and cash 
equivalents and restricted cash may, at times, exceed amounts insured by the FDIC and the Securities Investor Protection 
Corporation, respectively. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit standing of these financial 
institutions to limit the amount of credit exposure. The Company has not experienced any losses on its deposits of cash and 
cash equivalents to date. 

The Company’s exposure to credit risk associated with its contracts with holders of private company equity 
(“sellers”) and investors (“buyers”) related to the transfer of private securities is measured on an individual counterparty 
basis. Concentrations of credit risk can be affected by changes in political, industry or economic factors. To reduce the 
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potential for risk concentration, the Company’s exposure is monitored in light of changing counterparty and market 
conditions. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company did not have any material concentrations of credit risk outside 
the ordinary course of business.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, no customers accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts 
receivable. No customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenue, less transaction-based expenses, for the years ended 
December 31, 2022  2021 and 2020.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is 
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Expenditures for maintenance and 
repairs are expensed as incurred. When property and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and 
accumulated depreciation are removed from the consolidated balance sheets, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the 
consolidated statements of operations in the period realized.

The estimated useful lives of the Company’s property and equipment are as follows:

Computer equipment 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements The shorter of remaining lease term or estimated useful life

Internal-use Software, Net

The Company capitalizes certain costs related to software developed for its internal-use. The costs capitalized 
include development of new software features and functionality and incremental costs related to significant improvement of 
existing software. Development costs incurred during the preliminary or maintenance project stages are expensed as incurred. 
Costs incurred during the application development stage are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over the 
useful life of the software, which is typically three years. Amortization begins only when the software becomes ready for its 
intended use. Costs incurred after the project is substantially completed and is ready for its intended purpose, such as 
maintenance and training costs, are expensed as incurred, unless related to significantly increasing the functionality of 
existing software.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable. The Company also evaluates the period of depreciation 
and amortization of long-lived assets to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised estimates of useful lives. 
When indicators of impairment are present, the Company determines the recoverability of its long-lived assets by comparing 
the carrying value of its long-lived assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to result from the use of the assets 
and their eventual disposition. If the estimated future undiscounted cash flows demonstrate the long-lived assets are not 
recoverable, an impairment loss would be calculated based on the excess of the carrying amounts of the long-lived assets over 
their fair value. 

The Company determined that recent developments in domestic and global economies, including significant market 
volatilities, interest rate increases, and the decline in the market value of the Company's stock, which commenced prior to 
December 31, 2022, represent indicators that its long-lived assets may be impaired. Accordingly, the Company carried out an 
impairment test of its long-lived assets pursuant to ASC 360 - Property, Plant, and Equipment, whereby a quantitative 
assessment was performed to determine whether its long-lived assets were recoverable. The Company's long-lived assets 
represent a single group of assets that individually are not independent from the cash flows of other assets. The Company 
determined that the carrying amount of its long-lived assets did not exceed the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected 
to result from the use of these assets, thus, its long-lived assets were recoverable as of December 31, 2022. As a result, no 
impairment loss was recorded for the long-lived assets. 
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Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate fair value of the consideration transferred in a business combination 
over the fair value of the assets acquired, net of liabilities assumed. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment 
annually on October 1, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate the goodwill may be impaired. The 
Company's annual goodwill impairment test resulted in no goodwill impairment. 

Additionally as of December 31, 2022, the Company performed a goodwill impairment test as a result of the events 
and circumstances previously discussed. The Company has one reporting unit. In determining the fair value of the reporting 
unit in accordance with ASC 350 - Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, the Company performed a quantitative assessment of 
goodwill as of December 31, 2022 using the income approach in combination with various sensitivity analysis and 
reconciliations to market capitalization. The fair value of the reporting unit exceeded its carrying value. As a result, no 
impairment loss was recorded for goodwill.

In-process research and development (“IPR&D”) assets acquired in a business combination are considered indefinite 
lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts. Upon conclusion of the 
relevant research and development project, the Company will amortize the acquired IPR&D over its estimated useful life or 
expense the acquired IPR&D should the research and development project be unsuccessful with no future alternative use. In 
September 2021, the Company launched the acquired IPR&D data platform and started to record amortization expense using 
the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the asset.

Acquired intangible assets also consist of identifiable intangible assets, primarily software technology, trade name 
and customer relationships, resulting from business acquisitions. Finite-lived intangible assets are recorded at fair value on 
the date of acquisition and are amortized over their estimated useful lives. The Company bases the useful lives and related 
amortization expense on its estimate of the period that the assets will generate revenues or otherwise be used.

Leases

The Company categorizes leases at their inception or upon modification, if applicable. As of December 31, 2022 and 
2021, the Company only has operating leases. For operating leases, the Company recognizes rent and occupancy on a 
straight-line basis, commencing on the date at which the property becomes available for the Company's use. For leases with a 
term greater than 12 months, the Company records the related right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities at the present 
value of lease payments over the lease term. The Company does not separate lease and non-lease components of contracts for 
real estate property leases. Variable lease payments for common area maintenance, property taxes and other operating 
expenses are not included in the measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

The rates implicit on the Company’s leases are not readily determinable. Therefore, the Company estimates its 
incremental borrowing rate to discount the lease payments based on information available at lease commencement. The 
Company determines its incremental borrowing rate based on the rate of interest it would have to pay to borrow on a 
collateralized basis with an equal lease payment amount, over a similar term, and in a similar economic environment.

The Company evaluates its subleases in which it is the sublessor to determine whether it is relieved of the primary 
obligation under the original lease. If it remains the primary obligor, the Company continues to account for the original lease 
as it did before the commencement of the sublease and records the sublease income based on the contract terms in other 
income (expenses), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Payment-Dependent Notes

Payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable represent financial instruments that are 
presented at fair value in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with ASC 825, Fair Value Option for Financial 
Instruments. The Company enters into separate contracts with equity holders of private companies’ shares (“sellers”) and 
investors (“buyers”) that enable the transfer of private securities upon a specified event such as an initial public offering, 
merger, or acquisition involving the underlying company. The Company serves as an intermediary counterparty to both the 
buyer and the seller and earns transaction fee revenue by facilitating the execution of the transaction. 
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Contracts with buyers require the Company to facilitate the transfer of a fixed number of shares of the private 
securities from sellers upon occurrence of a specified event as described above. Buyers are required to pay the selling price 
for shares purchased (“settlement amounts”) and transaction fee defined in the contracts into a distribution or escrow account 
upon notice by the Company.

Contracts with sellers require sellers to transfer the same amount and class of shares referenced in the contract 
between the Company and the corresponding buyers upon the occurrence of a specified event as described above.

When settlement amounts have been determined, and the price and transaction fees are paid by the buyer, payment-
dependent notes receivable are recorded for the securities due from the sellers, and payment- dependent notes payable are 
recorded for the securities owed to the buyers. Amounts recorded at period-end for payment-dependent notes receivable 
represent the fair value of securities receivable from sellers, for which the securities settlement event has not occurred. 
Amounts recorded at period-end for payment-dependent notes payable represent the fair value of securities not yet delivered 
to the buyer. Changes in fair value of payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable are 
recorded in other expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Warrant Liabilities 

The Public Warrants, Private Placement Warrants, and Junior Preferred Stock Warrants (see Note 3, 4. and 12) are 
recognized as derivative liabilities in accordance with ASC 815. Accordingly, the Company recognizes the warrant 
instruments as liabilities at fair value and adjusts the carrying value of the instruments to fair value at each reporting period 
until they are redeemed, expired or exercised. The Company will continue to adjust the warrant liability for changes in the 
fair value until the earlier of a) the exercise or expiration of the warrants or b) the redemption of the warrants, at which time 
the warrants will be reclassified to additional paid-in-capital.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs consist primarily of accounting, legal, and other fees directly related to the Business 
Combination. Upon the Closing Date and consummation of the Business Combination, deferred offering costs of $7.9 million 
were reclassified to stockholders’ equity and recorded against the proceeds from the offering. As of December 31, 2021, $5.9 
million of deferred offering costs were capitalized in other assets, noncurrent in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets. 

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue from fees charged for the trading of private placements through its platform, and 
fees for account and asset management provided to customers. The Company disaggregates revenue by service type, as 
management believes that this level of disaggregation best depicts how the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows are impacted by economic factors. The Company recognizes revenue pursuant to ASC 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers. The amount of revenue recognized reflects the consideration that the Company expects to receive 
in exchange for services. To achieve the core principle of this standard, the Company applied the following five steps:

1. Identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer;

2. Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

3. Determination of the transaction price;

4. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

5. Recognition of the revenue when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

The Company enters into contracts with customers that can include various services, which are capable of being 
distinct and accounted for as separate performance obligations. When applicable, an allocation of the transaction fees to the 
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performance obligations or to the distinct goods or services that form part of a single performance obligation will depend on 
the individual facts and circumstances of the contract. 

All of the Company’s revenues are from contracts with customers. The Company is the principal in its contracts, 
with the exception of sub-account fees, in which the Company acts as an agent and records revenue from fees earned related 
to cash balances in customers’ custodial accounts. Each of our significant performance obligations and our application of 
ASC 606 to our revenue arrangements are discussed in further detail below: 

Placement Fees — The Company maintains a trading platform which generates revenues by collecting transaction 
fees from institutions, individual investors and private equity holders. Placement fees are charged by the Company for 
meeting the point-in-time performance obligation of executing a private placement on its platform. Placement fee rates are 
individually negotiated for each transaction and vary depending on the specific facts and circumstance of each agreement. 
These fees are event-driven and invoiced upon the closing of the transaction outlined in each agreement. These fees may be 
expressed as a dollar amount per share, a flat dollar amount, or a percentage of the gross transaction proceeds. The Company 
earns agency placement fees in non-underwritten transactions, such as private placements of equity securities. The Company 
enters into arrangements with individual accredited customers or pooled investment vehicles to execute private placements in 
the secondary market. The Company will receive placement fees on these transactions and believes that its trade execution 
performance obligation is completed upon the placement and consummation of a transaction and, as such, revenue is earned 
on the transaction date with no further obligation to the customer at that time. The Company acts as a principal and 
recognizes the placement fee revenue earned for the execution of a trade on a gross basis. 

Custodial Administration Fees — The Company generates revenues primarily by performing custodial account 
administration and maintenance services for its customers. Specifically, the Company charges administration fees for its 
services in maintaining custodial accounts, including asset-based fees, which are determined by the number and types of 
assets in these accounts. Additionally, the Company earns fees for opening and terminating accounts, and facilitating 
transactions, which are assessed at the point of transaction. Account and asset fees are assessed on the first day of the 
calendar quarter. Cash administration fees are based on cash balances within the custodial accounts and are assessed on the 
last day of the month. Revenues from custodial administration fees are recognized either over time as underlying performance 
obligations are met and day-to-day maintenance activities are performed for custodial accounts, or at a point in time upon 
completion of transactions requested by custodial account holders.  

Contract Balances 

Contract assets represent amounts for which the Company has recognized revenue for contracts that have not yet 
been invoiced to our customers. The Company does not have any contract assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. Contract 
liabilities consist of deferred revenue, which relates to amounts invoiced in advance of performance under a revenue contract. 
The total contract liabilities of $0.4 million and $0.4 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, related to 
advance billings for placement fees, recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets. The Company recognized $0.4 million of revenue during the year ended December 31, 2022 that was included in 
deferred revenue recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities at December 31, 2021. 

Practical Expedients 

In certain arrangements, the Company receives payment from a customer either before or after the performance 
obligation has been satisfied; however, the contracts do not contain a significant financing component. The Company has 
applied the practical expedient in ASC 606 and excludes information about a) remaining performance obligations that have 
an original expected duration of one year or less and b) transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if 
the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation. 

The Company has also applied the practical expedient in accordance with ASC 340-40, Other Assets and Deferred 
Costs to expense costs as incurred for costs to obtain a contract with a customer when the amortization period would have 
been one year or less. 

Transaction-Based Expenses 
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Transaction-based expenses represent the fees incurred to support placement activities. These include, but are not 
limited to, those for fund insurance, fund management, and fund settlement expenses that relates to services provided to the 
Investment Funds, and external broker fees and transfer fees related to placement and custodial services provided to other 
brokerage customers to facilitate transactions. 

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The Company recognizes share-based compensation expense for all share-based awards, primarily stock options, 
restricted stock awards ("RSAs") and restricted stock units ("RSUs"), based on the grant date fair value of the awards and 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the awards, which is generally the award's vesting term. 
The fair value of stock options is determined by using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the fair value of RSAs and 
RSUs is based on the closing price of the Company's common stock. Forfeitures are accounted for as they occur.

For certain awards with performance-based and market-based conditions, the Company uses a Monte Carlo 
simulation to determine the fair value and the derived service period at the grant date and recognizes share-based 
compensation expense using an accelerated attribution method when it becomes probable that the performance-based 
condition will be met. 

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and include advertising and trade shows. Advertising costs amounted to 
$3.3 million, $2.9 million and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and are 
included in advertising and market development in the consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are determined based on temporary differences between the bases used for financial reporting and income tax 
reporting purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided based on the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect at the 
time such temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is 
more likely than not that the Company will not realize those tax assets through future operations.

The Company utilizes a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to 
evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not 
that the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second 
step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more likely than not of being realized and effectively settled. 
The Company considers many factors when evaluating and estimating the Company’s tax positions and tax benefits, which 
may require periodic adjustments, and which may not accurately reflect actual outcomes. The Company recognizes interest 
and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits as a component of provision for income taxes in the consolidated statements of 
operations.

Foreign Currency

The Company's reporting and functional currency is the U.S. dollar ("USD"). The functional currency of Forge 
Europe, a fully consolidated subsidiary of the Company, is the Euro ("EUR").

For financial reporting purposes, the financial statements of Forge Europe which are prepared using the EUR, are 
translated into the Company's reporting currency, USD. Accordingly, foreign currency assets and liabilities are remeasured 
into USD using the exchange rate on the balance sheet date, except for non-monetary assets and liabilities, which are 
measured at historical exchange rates. Revenue and expenses are translated using the average exchange rate for the period. 
Cumulative translation gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss.

Comprehensive Loss
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Comprehensive income or loss includes all changes in equity during a period from non-owner sources. Accumulated 
comprehensive loss, as presented in the consolidated financial statements consists of changes in unrealized gains and losses 
on foreign currency translation. 

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

Prior to the Business Combination, the Company computed net loss per share using the two-class method required 
for participating securities. The two-class method required income attributable to common stockholders for the period to be 
allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all 
income for the period had been distributed. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, all of the Company's 
participating securities, in the form of convertible preferred stock, were converted into common stock of the Company as of 
December 31, 2022. The prior holders of convertible preferred stock had dividend rights in the event of a declaration of a 
dividend for shares of common stock. However, the participating securities did not contractually require the holders of such 
stocks to participate in the Company’s losses for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. Accordingly, net loss 
for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was only allocated to the Company’s common stockholders. 

The Company’s basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the 
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration of potentially dilutive 
securities. The diluted net loss per share is calculated by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the 
period using the treasury share method or the if-converted method based on the nature of such securities. Diluted net loss per 
share is the same as basic net loss per share in periods when the effects of potentially dilutive shares are anti-dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Prior to December 31, 2022, the Company was an emerging growth company ("EGC") under the Jumpstart Our 
Business Startups Act (“JOBS Act”), and as a result the Company was eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from 
various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not EGCs. The Company elected to take 
advantage of the extended transition period for adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those 
standards applied to private companies. However, as the Company is now a “large accelerated filer” as defined by the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Company no longer qualifies as an EGC as of December 31, 2022. 
Therefore, the Company is no longer able to take advantage of the extended transition period for adopting new or revised 
accounting standards.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, with subsequent amendments, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 requires immediate 
recognition of management’s estimates of current expected credit losses. 

As a result of the Company no longer qualifying as an EGC as of December 31, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 
2016-13 in its consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022. The impact of adoption was 
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements. 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04: Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which removes 
step 2 of the quantitative goodwill impairment test. Under the amended guidance, a goodwill impairment charge is 
recognized for the amount by which the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying 
amount of goodwill. On January 1, 2022, the Company adopted ASU 2017-04 on a prospective basis. The adoption did not 
have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for 
Income Taxes, which amends the existing guidance relating to the accounting for income taxes. This ASU is intended to 
simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles of accounting for income 
taxes and to improve the consistent application of GAAP for other areas of accounting for income taxes by clarifying and 
amending existing guidance. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, with early adoption 
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permitted. The Company adopted the guidance on January 1, 2022, and the adoption of this new guidance does not have a 
material effect on its consolidated financial statements.
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3. Recapitalization

As discussed in Note 1, "Organization and Description of Business," on the Closing Date, Legacy Forge completed 
the acquisition of MOTV and acquired 100% of MOTV’s shares and Legacy Forge received gross proceeds of $216.4 
million, which includes $7.9 million in proceeds from MOTV's trust and bank accounts, net of redemptions, $68.5 million in 
proceeds from the PIPE Investment (as defined below), and $140.0 million in proceeds from the A&R FPA (as defined 
below). As of December 31, 2022, the Company recorded $61.8 million of transaction costs, which consisted of legal, 
accounting, and other professional services directly related to the Merger, of which $58.7 million was related to common 
stock issued during the Merger and was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital. The remaining $3.1 million was 
related to issuance of Public and Private Placement Warrants, including warrants issued to A&R FPA investors, and was 
expensed immediately upon consummation of the Merger as acquisition-related transaction cost in the consolidated 
statements of operations. The cash outflows related to these costs were presented as financing activities in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of cash flows. These deferred offering costs are offset against proceeds upon accounting for the 
consummation of the Merger. In addition, upon closing of the Merger, certain executives received a one-time transaction 
bonus for an aggregate amount of $17.7 million, of which $12.2 million was to be paid to the executives in cash, and the 
remaining amount $5.5 million was offset against outstanding promissory notes that were due from these executives as of the 
Closing Date (see Note 11). The transaction bonus is included in compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of 
operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

On the Closing Date, each holder of MOTV Class A ordinary stock received one share of the Company’s common 
stock, par value 0.0001, for each MOTV Class A ordinary share held prior to the Merger, and each holder of MOTV Class B 
ordinary stock received one share of the Company’s common stock, par value 0.0001, for each MOTV Class B ordinary share 
held prior to the Merger. See Note 11, "Capitalization" and Note 12, "Warrants" for additional details of the Company’s 
stockholders’ equity prior to and subsequent to the Merger.  

All equity awards of Legacy Forge were assumed by the Company and converted into comparable equity awards 
that are settled or exercisable for shares of the Company’s common stock. As a result, each outstanding stock option of 
Legacy Forge was converted into an option to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock based on the Exchange Ratio 
and each outstanding warrant of Legacy Forge was converted into a warrant to purchase shares of the Company’s common 
stock based on the Exchange Ratio.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization with Legacy Forge as the accounting acquirer and 
MOTV as the acquired company for accounting purposes. Legacy Forge was determined to be the accounting acquirer since 
Legacy Forge's former management makes up the majority of the Company's management team, Legacy Forge’s former 
management nominated or represents a majority of the Company’s board of directors, and Legacy Forge represents the 
majority of the continuing operations of the Company. Accordingly, all historical financial information presented in these 
consolidated financial statements represents the accounts of Legacy Forge and its wholly owned subsidiary. Net assets were 
stated at historical cost consistent with the treatment of the transaction as a reverse recapitalization of Legacy Forge.

Each public and private warrant of MOTV that was unexercised at the time of the Merger was assumed by the 
Company and represents the right to purchase one share of the Company’s common stock upon exercise of such warrant.

PIPE Investment 

On March 21, 2022, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, MOTV entered into subscription 
agreements with certain investors, to which such investors collectively subscribed for an aggregate of 6,850,000 shares of the 
Company’s common stock at $10.00 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $68.5 million (the “PIPE Investment”). The 
PIPE Investment was consummated concurrently with the closing of the Merger.

Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Agreement

On March 21, 2022, concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, certain MOTV fund vehicles 
managed by an affiliate of MOTV purchased 14,000,000 units at $10.00 per unit, for an aggregate purchase price of $140.0 
million in a private placement that closed substantially concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination under the 
Amended and Restated Forward Purchase Agreement (the “A&R FPA”). Each unit consists of one share of the Company’s 
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common stock and one-third of one Public Warrant. The A&R FPA was consummated concurrently with the closing of the 
Merger. 

4. Fair Value Measurements

Financial instruments consist of cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued 
liabilities, payment-dependent notes receivable, payment-dependent notes payable, and warrant liabilities. Cash equivalents, 
payment-dependent notes receivable, payment-dependent notes payable, and warrant liabilities are stated at fair value on a 
recurring basis. Restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities are stated at their carrying 
value, which approximates fair value due to the short time these financial instruments are held to the expected receipt or 
payment date. 

The following tables present the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market funds       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 149,139 $ — $ — $ 149,139 

Payment-dependent notes receivable, current       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5  —  —  5 
Payment-dependent notes receivable, non-current   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  7,371  7,371 
Total financial assets       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 149,144 $ — $ 7,371 $ 156,515 
Payment-dependent notes payable, current      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5 $ — $ — $ 5 
Payment-dependent notes payable, non-current      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  7,371  7,371 
Legacy Forge warrant liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  384  384 
Private placement warrants  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  222  222 
Total financial liabilities     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5 $ — $ 7,977 $ 7,982 

As of December 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents:
Money market funds       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 24,240 $ — $ — $ 24,240 

Payment-dependent notes receivable, current       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,153  —  —  1,153 
Payment-dependent notes receivable, non-current   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  13,453  13,453 
Total financial assets       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 25,393 $ — $ 13,453 $ 38,846 
Payment-dependent notes payable, current      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,153 $ — $ — $ 1,153 
Payment-dependent notes payable, non-current      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  13,453  13,453 
Legacy Forge warrant liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  7,844  7,844 
Total financial liabilities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,153 $ — $ 21,297 $ 22,450 

The Company classifies money market funds and certain payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-
dependent notes payable within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because the Company values these investments using 
quoted market prices.

Payment-Dependent Notes Receivable and Payment-Dependent Notes Payable Classified as Level 3

The Company classifies certain payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable within 
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy if the underlying securities are equity of private companies whose regular financial and 
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nonfinancial information is generally not available other than when it is publicly disclosed, or significant unobservable inputs 
are used to estimate fair value.

The Company estimates fair values of payment-dependent notes receivable and payment-dependent notes payable 
utilizing completed transactions made through the Company’s platform for the relevant private securities as well as mutual 
fund valuations of private companies as relevant data inputs .

Legacy Forge Warrant Liabilities

The Company's Legacy Forge warrant liabilities consist of warrants to purchase Series B-1 preferred stock or 
subsequent round stock (the "Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrants," see Note 12) and Junior Preferred Stock Warrants (as 
defined below, see Note 12). The Company used a hybrid method that incorporates the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 
and an adjusted backsolve model to estimate the fair value of the Legacy Forge warrant liabilities, with the exception of the 
valuation of  Junior Preferred Stock Warrants as of December 31, 2022, for which the Company used a binomial lattice 
model in a risk-neutral framework. 

 Subsequent to the Merger, the Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrants and Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were 
converted to common stock warrants. As a result, the Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrants were remeasured at fair value prior 
to the conversion resulting in a change in fair value of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, which was 
recognized as a component of change in fair value of warrant liabilities within the consolidated statements of operations, and 
subsequently settled in additional paid-in capital as a result of the conversion to equity-classified common stock warrants. 
The Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were remeasured at fair value prior to the conversion to common stock warrants, which 
did not result in a change in fair value as of the conversion date. These warrants remained liability-classified after the 
conversion into the common stock warrants as the Company's obligation with respect to these warrants is capped at a fixed 
monetary amount and may be settled in a variable number of common shares. The Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were 
remeasured at fair value as of December 31, 2022 which resulted in a $4.0 million gain for the year ended December 31, 
2022. 

The Company estimated the fair value of the Legacy Forge warrant liabilities, as of December 31, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, respectively, using the following key assumptions: 

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Fair value of underlying securities     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.73 $ 30.80 
Expected term (years)        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.9 3.4 - 8.8
Expected volatility   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  46.1 % 40.4% - 44.3%
Risk-free interest rate      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4.2 % 1.0% - 1.5%
Expected dividend yield      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — %  — %

Fair value per warrant     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.15 $5.00 - $22.00

 Private Placement Warrants

The Company classifies the Private Placement Warrants within Level 3, because significant unobservable inputs are 
used to estimate fair value. To estimate the fair value of Private Placement Warrants, the Company used a binomial lattice 
model in a risk-neutral framework. The significant assumptions used in the analysis were the trading price of the Company’s 
Common Stock as of December 31, 2022 of $1.73 per share, the risk-free rate of 4.1%, the volatility of 44.6%, and the 
Company’s dividend yield of 0.0%.

Transfers Into and Out of Level 3

Table of Contents
FORGE GLOBAL HOLDINGS, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

86



The Company transfers financial instruments out of Level 3 on the date when underlying input parameters are 
readily observable from existing market quotes. For Payment-dependent notes payable and receivable, transfers from Level 3 
to Level 1 generally relate to a company going public and listing on a national securities exchange. During the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the transfer of Private Placement Warrants from Level 2 to Level 3 was due to the redemption and 
exercises of the Public Warrants (Note 12) which resulted in the lack of an identical instrument with a quoted price. During 
the year ended December 31, 2021, there were transfers of securities segregated for customers from Level 3 to Level 1, as 
one private company was acquired by a public company and became publicly-traded under the acquirer, and the Company 
was able to obtain independent market-quoted prices for the acquirer company.

The following tables provide reconciliation for all financial assets measured at fair value using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Total Level 3 
Financial Assets

Balance as of December 31, 2021       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,453 
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes receivable     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (6,082) 

Balance as of December 31, 2022       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,371 

Total Level 3 
Financial Assets

Balance as of December 31, 2020       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 51,859 
Acquisition of short-term investments    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  362 
Change in fair value of short-term investments    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (23) 
Payment-dependent notes and short-term investments transferred out of Level 3 to Level 1   . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (5,472) 
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes receivable     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  29,364 
Settlement of payment-dependent notes receivable    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (62,637) 

Balance as of December 31, 2021       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,453 

The following tables provide reconciliation for all financial liabilities measured at fair value using significant 
unobservable inputs (Level 3) for years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2021       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,297 
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes payable    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (6,082) 
Change in fair value of Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrant liability     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  106 
Settlement of Series B-1 Preferred Stock Warrant Liability via conversion to equity-classified common 
stock warrants     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

 (2,950) 

Exercise of Junior Preferred Stock Warrants     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (653) 
Change in fair value of Junior Preferred Stock Warrants    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (3,963) 
Transfer of Private Placement Warrants out of Level 2 to Level 3    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  20,461 
Change in fair value of Private Placement Warrants      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (20,239) 

Balance as of December 31, 2022       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,977 

Total Level 3 
Financial 
Liabilities
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Total Level 3 
Financial 
Liabilities

Balance as of December 31, 2020       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 53,639 
Change in fair value of payment-dependent notes payable    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  29,364 
Settlement of payment-dependent notes payable    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (62,637) 
Change in fair value of warrant liability        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6,064 
Payment-dependent notes payable transferred out of Level 3 to Level 1      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (5,133) 

Balance as of December 31, 2021       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,297 

5. Consolidated Balance Sheet Components

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Prepaid insurance   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,250 $ 414 
Prepaid software  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,406  791 
Other prepaid expenses     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,546  1,957 
Other current assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,172  1,986 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,374 $ 5,148 

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Computer equipment      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 66 $ 336 
Furniture and fixtures      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  426  621 
Leasehold improvements      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  387  320 
Total property and equipment      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 879 $ 1,277 
Less: accumulated depreciation      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (520)  (780) 
Property and equipment, net     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 359 $ 497 

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company recorded depreciation expense related to 
property and equipment amounting to $0.2 million, $0.4 million, and $0.2 million, respectively. For the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company also recorded impairment loss of $0.2 million primarily related to leasehold improvements 
and furniture and fixtures due to the impairment of a right-of-use asset (Note 8), included in general and administrative 
expense within the consolidated statements of operations. The Company did not record any impairment losses for the years 
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Internal-Use Software, Net

Capitalized internal-use software consists of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Capitalized internal-use software    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,605 $ 2,860 
Less: Accumulated amortization     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1,965)  (169) 
Total capitalized internal-use software        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,640 $ 2,691 

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company recorded amortization expense on 
capitalized internal-use software placed in service amounting to $1.8 million, $0.2 million, and less than $0.1 million, 
respectively. 

Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Accrued professional services     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,299 $ 1,798 
Accrued payments related to acquisitions and financing     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  1,134 
Accrued taxes and deferred tax liabilities    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,006  1,421 
Common stock unvested liability   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  589  786 
Other current liabilities      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,522  3,204 
Total     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,416 $ 8,343 
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6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company purchased a domain name for $2.2 million. The purchase 
of the domain name created an intangible asset with an indefinite life that is not being amortized for book purposes.

There were no changes in the recorded balance of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2022. In-process 
research and development assets were acquired in business combinations, and launched in September 2021. The Company 
started to amortize the assets in September 2021 using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives determined as 
5 years.

The components of intangible assets and accumulated amortization are as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2022

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Amortization 

Period
Gross Carrying 

Amount
Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Amount

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Developed technology     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1.8 years $ 13,200 $ (8,035) $ 5,165 
Customer relationships      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.1 years $ 7,507 $ (2,677) $ 4,830 
Trade name     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0 years $ 320 $ (320) $ — 
Launched IPR&D assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.7 years $ 960 $ (240) $ 720 
Total finite-lived intangible assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,987 $ (11,272) $ 10,715 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Trade name - website domain     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Indefinite $ 2,224 $ — $ 2,224 
Total infinite-lived intangible assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,224 $ — $ 2,224 
Total intangible assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 24,211 $ (11,272) $ 12,939 

As of December 31, 2021

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Amortization 

Period
Gross Carrying 

Amount
Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Carrying 
Amount

Finite-lived intangible assets:
Developed technology     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.0 years $ 13,200 $ (5,250) $ 7,950 
Customer relationships      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.0 years $ 7,410 $ (1,696) $ 5,714 
Trade name     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.0 years $ 320 $ (320) $ — 
Launched IPR&D assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.0 years $ 960 $ — $ 960 
Total finite-lived intangible assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,890 $ (7,266) $ 14,624 
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Trade name - website domain     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Indefinite $ 2,202 $ — $ 2,202 
Total infinite-lived intangible assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,202 $ — $ 2,202 
Total intangible assets     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 24,092 $ (7,266) $ 16,826 

Amortization expense related to finite-lived intangible assets was included in depreciation and amortization in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020. Amortization 
expense related to finite-lived intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $4.0 million, 
$4.8 million, and $2.2 million, respectively.
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The table below presents estimated future amortization expense for finite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 
2022 (in thousands):

Amount

2023     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,968 
2024     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,462 
2025     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 802 
2026     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 754 
2027     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 610 
Thereafter       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,119 
Total       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,715 

7. Debt

2019 Convertible Notes

In October 2019, the Company issued convertible notes to investors, which matured in January 2021. At maturity, 
the note holders had the option to convert the outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest into shares of the Company’s 
Series B-1 convertible preferred stock at a conversion price of $3.9760. In January 2021, one investor converted its 
convertible note amount of $0.1 million into 27,947 shares of Series B-1 convertible preferred stock; the remaining 
outstanding convertible notes were fully repaid.

2020 Convertible Notes

In May 2020, the Company entered into a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement with investors (“2020 Convertible 
Notes”). A portion of $9.0 million of the notes were converted to Series B-1 convertible preferred stock in November 2020, 
and the remaining principal of $1.8 million was fully repaid in May 2021.

2020 Loan and Security Agreement

In October 2020, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (“2020 Loan and Security Agreement,” 
or “2020 Term Loan”) with another lending institution that provided for a term loan in the amount of $15.0 million. The 
Company fully repaid the term loan in April 2021.

The Company did not have any outstanding debt as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

8. Leases

The Company leases real estate for office space under operating leases. 

As of December 31, 2022, the remaining lease terms varied from 0.1 years to 3 years. For one of its leases, the 
Company has an option to extend the lease term for a period of 3 years. This renewal option is not considered in the 
remaining lease term unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such option.

Operating lease expense, included in rent and occupancy in the consolidated statements of operations, for the years 
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $4.1 million, $2.9 million, and $1.6 million, respectively. Variable lease 
payments for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 were $1.0 million, $0.7 million, and $0.6 million, 
respectively. Sublease income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 of $0.7 million, $0.2 million, and $0, 
respectively, was included in other income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.
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The table below presents additional information related to the Company’s operating leases (in thousands):

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Operating lease right-of-use assets      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,706 $ 7,881 
Operating lease liabilities, current        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,896 $ 5,367 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,541 $ 5,159 
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2.6 2.2
Weighted-average discount rate    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  6.0 %  4.9 %

Future undiscounted lease payments under operating leases as of December 31, 2022 were as follows (in thousands):

Lease Payment 
Obligation Sublease Income

Net Lease 
Obligation

2023      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,220 $ (768) $ 3,452 
2024      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  2,134  (360)  1,774 
2025      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  1,619  (210)  1,409 
2026      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  — 
2027      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  —  —  — 
Total undiscounted lease payments       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,973 $ (1,338) $ 6,635 
Less: imputed interest       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (536) 
Present value of future lease payments      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,437 
Less: operating lease liabilities, current     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,896 
Operating lease liabilities, noncurrent     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,541 

As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any additional significant lease contracts that had not yet 
commenced.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company ceased using one of its leased office spaces and made a 
decision to sublease this space to a third party. The sublease agreement was signed in April 2022. Based on the terms of the 
sublease agreement, the Company determined that the right-of-use asset related to this office space was impaired, and 
recorded an impairment loss of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 in rent and occupancy in the consolidated 
statements of operations.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to claims and lawsuits in the ordinary course of business, including arbitration, class actions 
and other litigation, some of which include claims for substantial or unspecified damages. The Company is also the subject of 
inquiries, investigations, and proceedings by regulatory and other governmental agencies. The Company reviews its lawsuits, 
regulatory inquiries and other legal proceedings on an ongoing basis and provides disclosures and records loss contingencies 
in accordance with the loss contingencies accounting guidance. The Company establishes an accrual for losses at 
management’s best estimate when the Company assesses that it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of 
the loss can be reasonably estimated. If no amount within the range is considered a better estimate than any other amount, an 
accrual for losses is recorded based on the bottom amount of the range. Accrual for loss contingencies are recorded in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and expensed in general and administrative 
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expenses in our consolidated statements of operations. The Company monitors these matters for developments that would 
affect the likelihood of a loss and the accrued amount, if any, and adjusts the amount as appropriate. 

Legal Proceeding

On January 7, 2022, Erika McKiernan, in her capacity as Stockholder Representative for the former stockholders of 
SharesPost, filed a lawsuit against the Company in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, asserting claims in 
connection with the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 10, 2020, by and among the Company, SharesPost, 
Thanksgiving Merger Sub, Inc., and Erika McKiernan as the Stockholder Representative, as amended on November 6, 2020 
(the "SharesPost Merger Agreement”). In general, the complaint asserts breaches of the SharesPost Merger Agreement and 
seeks declaratory judgements establishing those breaches. The Company is unable to predict the outcome, nor the amount of 
time and expense that will be required to resolve this action. At this juncture, the Company does not believe this action will 
have a material adverse impact on its operations or financial position. The Company believes the allegations set forth in this 
action are without merit and intends to defend vigorously against the lawsuit. On February 24, 2022, the Company filed its 
Answer and a counterclaim denying the alleged claims. On March 9, 2022, SharesPost submitted its Reply denying the 
Company's counterclaim and the majority of the Company's allegations. In August 2022, SharesPost filed an Amended 
Complaint adding the public company parent, Forge Global Holdings, Inc. as a party to the action. No provision for a loss 
contingency has been recorded as the amount of losses, if any, is not estimable as of December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2021 and as of December 21, 2022 , the Company had a receivable of $1.6 million in prepaid 
expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets, which it expects to collect from the escrow related to 
acquisition of IRA Services, Inc. Certain additional claims were filed against this escrow and, per a ruling in January 2023, 
one of these claims is likely to proceed to trial. Despite this development, the Company is of the view that the claim is not 
expected to have a significant impact on the likelihood of collecting the aforementioned receivable.

401(k) Plan

The Company has established a tax-qualified retirement plan under Section 401(k) of the Code for all of its U.S. 
employees, including executive officers, who satisfy certain eligibility requirements, including requirements relating to age 
and length of service. The Company matches 2% of every dollar contributed to the plan by employees, including executive 
officers, up to a maximum of $5.8 thousand. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the Company 
recorded 401(k) contribution expense related to the defined contribution plan of  $1.0 million, $0.5 million, and $0.1 million, 
respectively, in compensation and benefits in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Non-Cancelable Purchase Obligations

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into non-cancelable purchase commitments with various 
parties mainly for its operating leases, software products, and services. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had 
outstanding non-cancelable purchase obligations with a term of 12 months or longer, including operating lease obligations of 
$7.4 million in operating lease liabilities current and noncurrent on the consolidated balance sheets, as follows:

Amount

2023 $ 6,919 
2024  4,081 
2025  3,612 
2026  2,203 
2027  1,253 
Thereafter  — 
Total $ 18,068 
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10. Off Balance Sheet Items

The Company organizes a series of Investment Funds, each of which is represented by a limited liability company 
(“LLC”) within Forge Investments LLC and by portfolio companies within Forge Investments SPC and Forge Investments II 
SPC. The Investment Funds were formed for the purpose of investing in securities relating to a single private company. Each 
series of Investment Funds consists of a separate and distinct portfolio of investments owned by different investors. The 
Company utilizes third-party fund administrators to manage the Investment Funds and has no ownership interest nor 
participation in the gains or losses of the entities represented by the Investment Funds. The Company paid for the expenses 
incurred by these entities, including fund insurance expenses of $0.2 million, $0.3 million, and $1.1 million and fund 
management expenses of $0.1 million, $0.4 million, and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 
2020, respectively, included in transaction-based expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Also, the Company 
incurred fund audit fees of $0.9 million, $0.8 million, and $0.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 
2020, respectively, included in professional services in the consolidated statements of operations. The Company did not 
consolidate Forge Investments LLC, Forge Investments SPC and Forge Investments II SPC, or the Investment Funds, 
because the Company has no direct or indirect interest in Forge Investments LLC, Forge Investments SPC and Forge 
Investments II SPC, or the Investment Funds, and the expenses that the Company pays on behalf of Forge Investments LLC, 
Forge Investments SPC and Forge Investments II SPC, or the Investment Funds, are not significant to those entities. The 
Company believes its maximum exposure to loss resulting from its involvement with those entities is limited to the payment 
of future insurance expenses, management expenses and audit fees.

11. Capitalization

Convertible Preferred Stock

The following table summarizes Legacy Forge’s convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2021 (in thousands, 
except for share data):

As of December 31, 2021

Series Name
Original 

Issuance Price

Number of 
Shares 

Authorized 

Number of 
Shares 

Outstanding

Carrying 
Value Net of 

Issuance 
Costs

Aggregate 
Liquidation 
Preference

Series AA  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.9867 3,482,030 3,482,030 $ 3,435 $ 3,435 
Series B      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.4132 20,660,715 20,660,715  70,045  70,519 
Series B-1   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.9760 49,809,148 42,133,496  150,553  167,523 
Series B-2   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.9760 2,515,083 412,623  1,640  1,640 
Junior    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3.9760 10,348,216 7,225,285  20,383  28,728 
Total     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 86,815,192 73,914,149 $ 246,056 $ 271,845 

Immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger, all series of convertible preferred stock of Legacy Forge were 
converted into shares of Class AA common stock of Legacy Forge on a one-for-one basis and then converted into the 
Company’s common stock at the Exchange Ratio. As of December 31, 2022, no shares of convertible preferred stock were 
outstanding.

Common Stock

Prior to the Merger, Legacy Forge had authorized four classes of common stock: Class AA common stock, Class 
AA-1 common stock, Class EE-1 common stock, and Class EE-2 common stock. Holders of such common stock were 
entitled to receive any dividends if and when such dividends are declared by the board of directors. Common stock was 
subordinated to the convertible preferred stock with respect to dividend rights and rights upon certain deemed liquidation 
events. Common stock was not redeemable at the option of the holder or by Legacy Forge. As of December 31, 2021, Legacy 
Forge was authorized to issue up to 257,968,554 shares of its capital stock, of which 171,153,360 shares were designated as 
common stock.
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The holders of the Class EE-1 common stock and Class AA common stock were entitled to one vote for each share 
and the holders of Class EE-2 common stock were entitled to (a) with respect to votes of one or more classes of common 
stock only, twenty votes for each share of Class EE-2 common stock and (b) with respect to Class EE-2 common stock voting 
together with any shares of preferred stock, one vote for each share of Class EE-2 common stock. Holders of common stock, 
voting together as a separate class, were entitled to appoint four members of the board of directors, who were deemed 
common directors. As of December 31, 2021, two members of the board of directors were elected by holders of common 
stock.

Each share of Class AA common stock was convertible to one share of Class EE-1 common stock, up to a 
cumulative maximum of 1,873,758 shares of Class AA common stock, and each share of Class EE-1 common stock was 
convertible to one share of preferred stock upon authorization by the board of directors. In addition, each share of Class EE-1 
or Class EE-2 was convertible, upon a disposition, to one share of Class AA common stock at the election of the holder.

In April 2021, Legacy Forge amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to, (i) increase the number of 
authorized shares of all classes of stock (including preferred stock) to 257,968,554 and (ii) reclassify each share of Class 
EE-1 common stock and Class EE-2 common stock to one share of Class AA common stock.

Merger Transaction

On the Closing Date and in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions of the Merger Agreement, each 
share of Legacy Forge Class AA common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, was canceled and converted into the right to 
receive the applicable portion of the merger consideration comprised of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per 
share, based on the Exchange Ratio.

On March 21, 2022, in connection with the Merger, the Company amended and restated its certificate of 
incorporation to authorize 2,100,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of (i) 2,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par 
value $0.0001 per share and (ii) 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock. The holders of common stock have exclusive voting 
power. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote per share. The Company’s board of directors has the authority to 
issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to determine the preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including 
voting rights, of those shares. Upon the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company’s common stock and 
warrants began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “FRGE” and “FRGE WS”, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had authorized 2,000,000,000 and 100,000,000 shares of common stock 
and preferred stock respectively, and the Company had 172,560,916 shares of common stock and no shares of preferred stock 
issued and outstanding.

Settlement of Nonrecourse Related-Party Promissory Notes

In connection with the Merger, the Company entered into a loan offset agreement with certain executives (the “Loan 
Offset Agreement”) as a result of outstanding promissory notes that were due from these executives as of the Closing Date. 
As a result of the Loan Offset Agreement, the Company agreed to offset the after-tax value of the transaction bonus that the 
executives received in connection with the Merger (see Note 3) against the entire outstanding balance of the nonrecourse 
promissory notes, including any unpaid interest, as of one day immediately prior to the closing of the Merger. The total 
amount of outstanding promissory notes that were offset against the transaction bonus was $5.5 million, which included $1.3 
million related to unvested shares included in the accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the consolidated balance 
sheets. The related bonus expense was recorded as compensation and benefits in the consolidated statements of operations for 
the year ended December 31, 2022. 
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12. Warrants

Warrants to Purchase Series B-1 Convertible Preferred Stock or Subsequent Round Stock

In May 2020, Legacy Forge entered into a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement with investors pursuant to which 
it issued certain convertible notes (the “2020 Convertible Notes”). In connection with the issuance of the 2020 Convertible 
Notes, the note holders entered into a Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement for the options to purchase shares based on 
coverage of 5% of the 2020 Convertible Notes principal amounts (the “May 2020 Warrants”). The note holders could 
purchase either (i) the Series B-1 convertible preferred stock of Legacy Forge at Series B-1 price of $3.9760 or (ii) any 
subsequent round stock of Legacy Forge at the subsequent round price. The warrants have a five-year contractual life and 
may be exercised at any time during that period.

In October 2020, Legacy Forge entered into the 2020 Loan and Security Agreement, as discussed in Note 7, that 
provided for a term loan in the amount of $15.0 million. In October 2020, simultaneously with the 2020 Loan and Security 
Agreement, the lender entered into a Warrant to Purchase Shares of Preferred Stock Agreement with Legacy Forge for the 
options to purchase a coverage amount of $3.5 million in shares (the “October 2020 Warrants”). The investors were granted 
the right to purchase either the Series B-1 convertible preferred stock of Legacy Forge at Series B-1 price of $3.9760 or (ii) 
any subsequent round stock of Legacy Forge at the subsequent round price. The warrants have a ten-year contractual life and 
may be exercised at any time during that period.

Prior to the Merger, the May 2020 Warrants and October 2020 Warrants were classified as Warrant liabilities in 
Legacy Forge's consolidated balance sheets. Legacy Forge remeasured the May 2020 Warrants and October 2020 Warrants at 
each balance sheet date to their fair value (Note 4). Subsequent to the Merger, the May 2020 Warrants and October 2020 
Warrants were converted to Legacy Forge's common stock warrants. As a result, the May 2020 Warrants and October 2020 
Warrants were adjusted to fair value prior to the conversion, and then settled in additional paid-in capital as a result of the 
conversion to equity-classified common stock warrants. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 the 
Company recorded fair value adjustments of $0.1 million, $2.6 million and less than $0.1 million for the May 2020 Warrants 
and October 2020 Warrants, respectively, in change in fair value of warrant liabilities in the Company’s consolidated 
statements of operations.

Warrants to Purchase Junior Preferred Stock

In November 2020, in connection with the SharesPost acquisition, Legacy Forge issued a total of 3,122,931 warrants 
(“Junior Preferred Stock Warrants”) to purchase shares of Legacy Forge's Junior Preferred Stock at an exercise price of 
$3.9760 per share, with a cap of extended value of $5.0 million. The Junior Preferred Stock Warrants have a five-year 
contractual life and may be exercised at any time during that period.

Prior to the Merger, the warrants were classified as a liability in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company 
remeasures the warrants at each balance sheet date using a hybrid method (Note 4). Subsequent to the Merger, the Junior 
Preferred Stock Warrants were converted to the Company's common stock warrants. As a result, the Junior Preferred Stock 
Warrants were adjusted to fair value prior to conversion and remain classified as a liability, as the Company's obligation with 
respect to these warrants is capped at a fixed monetary amount of $5.0 million and may be settled in a variable number of 
common shares.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 491,785 Junior Preferred Stock Warrants were net exercised in exchange 
for 123,379 shares of common stock. The change in fair value of warrant liabilities was recorded through the date of exercise 
as change in fair value of warrant liabilities within the consolidated statements of operations. Additionally, the fair value of 
the warrant liability as of the exercise date of $0.7 million was reclassified to additional paid-in capital within the 
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022.

 The Company recorded changes in the fair value of the Junior Preferred Stock Warrants, that were converted to 
warrants to purchase common stock, of $4.0 million, $3.5 million and $0.2 million as change in fair value of warrant 
liabilities in the Company's consolidated statements of operations during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively.
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Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants

As the accounting acquirer, Legacy Forge is deemed to have assumed 7,386,667 warrants for Class A common stock 
that were held by Motive Capital Funds Sponsor, LLC (the “Sponsor”) at an exercise price of $11.50 ("Private Placement 
Warrants"), 13,799,940 Class A common stock warrants held by MOTV's shareholders at an exercise price of $11.50 
("Public Warrants"), and 4,666,664 Public Warrants at an exercise price of $11.50 that were issued in connection with the 
A&R FPA that was consummated upon the Closing Date. The warrants are exercisable subject to the terms of the warrant 
agreement, including but not limited to, the Company having an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), covering the shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants and a 
current prospectus relating to them is available. The warrants expire five years after the completion of the Business 
Combination, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.

Subsequent to the Merger, the Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants met liability classification 
requirements since the warrants may be required to be settled in cash under a tender offer. In addition, Private Placement 
Warrants are potentially subject to a different settlement amount as a result of being held by the Sponsor which precludes the 
Private Placement Warrants from being considered indexed to the entity's own stock. Therefore, these warrants are classified 
as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

On June 9, 2022, the Company issued a redemption notice to warrant holders announcing that it would redeem all of 
its Public Warrants (including the 4,666,664 Public Warrants that were issued in connection with the A&R FPA) on July 11, 
2022 at 5:00 p.m. New York City Time (the "Redemption Date") for $0.01 per Public Warrant (the "Redemption"). After 
such notice and prior to the Redemption Date, warrant holders were entitled to exercise the Public Warrants at an exercise 
price of $11.50 per share of the Company's common stock. Any Public Warrants not exercised by the Redemption Date were 
automatically redeemed by the Company at a price of $0.01 per Public Warrant.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, in connection with the Redemption, 1,994,790 Public Warrants were 
exercised at an exercise price of $11.50 per share of common stock, for an aggregate of 1,994,790 shares, respectively. Total 
cash proceeds generated from such exercises were $22.9 million. The change in fair value of the warrant liabilities was 
recorded through the date of exercise as a change in fair value of warrant liabilities within the consolidated statements of 
operations. Additionally, the fair value of the warrant liability as of the exercise date of $0.7 million was reclassified to 
additional paid-in capital within the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022.

 On July 11, 2022, the remaining 16,471,814 Public Warrants still outstanding were redeemed at a price of $0.01 per 
Public Warrant for an aggregate cash payment from the Company of $0.2 million. On July 11, 2022, the Public Warrants 
were delisted from the NYSE.

As of December 31, 2022, the following warrants were outstanding:

Warrant Type Shares
Exercise Price 

per Share

Private Placement Warrants     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,386,667 $ 11.50 
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13. Share-Based Compensation

Prior Stock Plan

In March 2018, Legacy Forge adopted its 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended from time to time, the“2018 
Plan”), which provides for grants of share-based awards, including stock options and restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), and 
other forms of share-based awards. The 2018 Plan was terminated in March 2022 in connection with the adoption of the 2022 
Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “2022 Plan”). Accordingly, no shares are available for future grants under the 2018 Plan 
following the adoption of the 2022 Plan.

2022 Stock Plan

In March 2022, prior to and in connection with the Merger, the Company adopted the 2022 Plan, which provides for 
grants of share-based awards, including stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”), and other forms of share-based 
awards. The Company has reserved 12,899,504 shares of common stock for the issuance of awards under the 2022 Plan. In 
addition, the number of shares of common stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2022 Plan will automatically 
increase on January 1 of each year for a period of ten years, beginning on January 1, 2023 and on each January 1 thereafter 
and ending on the tenth anniversary of the adoption date of the 2022 Plan, in an amount equal to (i) 3% of the outstanding 
number of shares of common stock of the Company on the preceding December 31, or (ii) a lesser number of shares as 
approved by the Company's board of directors.

2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In March 2022, prior to and in connection with the Merger, the Company adopted the 2022 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan (the “2022 ESPP”). The 2022 ESPP authorizes the issuance of 4,072,000 shares of common stock under 
purchase rights granted to the Company's employees or to employees of any of its designated affiliates. The number of shares 
of common stock reserved for issuance will automatically increase on January 1 of each year, beginning on January 1, 2023 
and each January 1 thereafter until the 2022 ESPP terminates according to its terms, by the lesser of (i) 4,072,000 shares of 
common stock, or (ii) 1% of the outstanding number of shares of common stock on the immediately preceding December 31. 
The Company's board of directors may determine that such increase will be less than the amount set forth in (i) and (ii) 
above. 

Reserve for Issuance

The Company has the following shares of common stock reserved for future issuance, on an as-if converted basis:

As of December 31,
2022 2021

Conversion of convertible preferred stock    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — 86,815,192
Warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — 3,540,546
Warrants to purchase common stock      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3,282,652 233,891
Shares available for grant under 2018 Plan      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — 1,133,920
Stock options issued and outstanding under 2018 Plan     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12,853,072 15,712,433
Shares available for grant under 2022 Plan(1)         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,804,751 —
RSUs issued and outstanding under 2022 Plan      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10,884,476 
Shares available for grant under 2022 ESPP      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  4,072,000 
Outstanding Private Placement Warrants       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  7,386,667 —
Total shares of common stock reserved    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  43,283,618 107,435,982

(1) To the extent outstanding options granted under the 2018 Plan are cancelled, forfeited, or otherwise terminated without being 
exercised and would have been returned to the share reserve under the 2018 Plan following the closing date of the Merger, the number 
of shares of common stock underlying such awards will be available for future awards under the 2022 Plan.
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Stock options

Stock options generally vest over four years and expire ten years from the date of grant. Vested stock options 
generally expire three months to five years after termination of employment. Stock option activity during the year ended 
December 31, 2022 consisted of the following (in thousands, except for share and per share data):

Stock Options

Weighted 
Average Exercise 

Price

Weighted- 
Average Life 

(Years)
Aggregate 

Intrinsic Value

Balance as of December 31, 2021      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  5,031,310 $ 6.85 9.2 $ 120,491 
Retroactive application of recapitalization  10,681,124 $ (4.66) 
Balance as of December 31, 2021      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  15,712,434 $ 2.19 9.2 $ 120,491 

Exercised    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1,227,310) $ 0.88 
Cancelled/Forfeited/Expired      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (1,632,052) $ 1.67 

Balance as of December 31, 2022      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12,853,072 $ 2.39 7.0 $ 7,055 
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2022         . . . . . .  6,439,984 $ 1.67 5.8 $ 5,485 

The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2022, 
2021, and 2020 was $0, $2.90 and $0.81 per share, respectively. The total grant date fair value of stock options vested during 
the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $13.0 million, $4.0 million and $3.7 million respectively. The total 
intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was $5.1 million, $14.2 
million and $1.0 million, respectively.

The Company recorded share-based compensation of  $17.0 million, $6.4 million and $3.6 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, related to stock options. In addition, for the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of $0.6 million related to pre-close issuance 
of common stock for services.

Unrecognized share-based compensation expense for unvested stock options granted and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2022, is $10.1 million, which is to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

The Black-Scholes assumptions used to value the employee options at the grant dates are as follows: 

2021 2020

Fair value of common stock $2.82 – $6.82 $1.09 – $2.11
Expected term (years) 5.1 – 7.0 5.0 – 6.2
Expected volatility 40.0% – 41.4% 37.0% – 41.7%
Risk-free interest rate 0.7% – 1.3% 0.3% – 0.8%
Expected dividend yield  — %  — %

There were no stock options granted during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Modifications

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company modified options of five of its employees in connection 
with terminations of their employment and subsequent transition to service providers under consulting agreements. Under the 
terms of ASC 718 these employees were not obliged to perform substantive consulting services to the Company for the 
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continued vesting of their options. The Company recognized incremental share-based compensation expense as the difference 
between the fair value of the options before and after the modifications.

The Company calculated the fair value of the options before and after modification using current valuation inputs 
including the Company’s stock price of $3.79 - $17.71, a volatility metric 38.4% - 48.1%, a risk-free interest rate of 0.9% - 
3.6% and an expected life 1.0 - 5.5 years. The incremental fair value of the options resulting from the modifications was 
$2.2 million that was recognized as part of the share-based compensation expense during the year ended December 31, 2022.

In December 2022, the Company accelerated vesting of 251,364 stock options and 210,987 Executive Retention 
RSUs as part of the severance package of one of its executives in connection with the termination of his employment with the 
Company. As a result, the Company recognized incremental share-based compensation expense of $0.5 million calculated by 
using the modification date valuation inputs including the Company’s stock price of $1.52, a volatility metric of 47.3%, a 
risk-free interest rate of 4.1% and an expected life of 3.0 years. In connection with this employment termination, the 
Company also reversed a portion of the previously recognized share-based compensation expense resulting in a reduction to 
share-based compensation of $4.4 million, net of incremental expense as well as additional share-based compensation 
recognized due to the acceleration of unvested shares under the executive's original employment terms.

Performance and Market Condition Options

In May 2021, Legacy Forge’s board of directors granted the Chief Executive Officer a performance and market 
condition-based option covering 3,122,931 shares of Legacy Forge's Class AA common stock with an exercise price of 
$3.9760 per share. The options are divided into three tranches of 1,040,976 options, 1,040,976 options, and 1,040,979 
options, corresponding to the three Aggregate Exit Proceeds Thresholds (as defined below). The awards vest only upon the 
satisfaction of (1) certain performance conditions, which is the occurrence of an IPO, merger with a SPAC, or a secondary 
sale for total proceeds of at least $250.0 million and (2) market condition, which is holders of Legacy Forge's B-1 convertible 
preferred stock having realized (i) aggregate exit proceeds with fair market value of at least $9.94, $14.91, and $19.88 per 
share (the “Share Price Thresholds”); and (ii) an aggregate interest rate compounded annually which, when used as the 
discount rate to calculate the net present value, with respect to the occurrence of an IPO, merger with a SPAC or acquisition, 
that is equal to or greater than 20.0%, 30.0% and 35.0% (the “IRR Thresholds,” and together with the Share Price Thresholds, 
the “Aggregate Exit Proceeds Thresholds”). In the event of an IPO or a merger with a SPAC, the Aggregate Exit Proceeds 
Thresholds are measured on the basis of the closing price average for any trailing 20 trading day period (the “Measurement 
Period”) that occurs following such IPO or a merger with a SPAC, with the Measurement Period commencing upon 
expiration of the 180-day lock-up period following such IPO or merger with a SPAC, until the options expire or the Chief 
Executive Officer ceases to provide services to the Company. The options expire within 10 years less one day following the 
grant date. Upon consummation of the Business Combination, the performance condition was met and the Company recorded 
cumulative catch-up compensation expense of $4.6 million. Total compensation expense recognized for the performance and 
market condition-based option during the year ended  December 31, 2022 was $6.3 million. No compensation expense was 
recognized for the performance and market condition-based option for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020. As of 
December 31, 2022, the market condition had not been met and none of the performance and market condition options were 
vested.

The Company used the Monte Carlo simulation model to determine the fair value of the options with performance 
and market-based vesting conditions for purposes of calculating share-based compensation expense if vesting conditions met. 
The Monte Carlo simulation model incorporates the probability of satisfying performance and market conditions and uses 
transaction details such as stock price, contractual terms, maturity and risk-free interest rates, as well as volatility. The fair 
value of the performance-based stock options was $2.27 per option share estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation 
methodology. The unrecognized compensation expense was $0.8 million as of December 31, 2022.
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Early Exercised Options

Under the 2018 Plan, certain stock option holders may have the right to exercise unvested options, subject to a 
repurchase right held by the Company at the original exercise price, in the event of voluntary or involuntary termination of 
employment of the option holders, until the options are fully vested. As of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the 
cash proceeds received for unvested shares of common stock recorded within accrued expenses and other current liabilities in 
the consolidated balance sheets were $0.6 million and $0.8 million, respectively, which will be transferred to additional paid-
in capital upon vesting.

Nonrecourse Promissory Notes to Early Exercise Stock Options

In the year ended December 31, 2021, certain executive officers of the Company exercised stock options early by 
executing promissory notes. The Company has accounted for the promissory notes as nonrecourse in their entirety since the 
promissory notes are not aligned with a corresponding percentage of the underlying shares. Such arrangements were 
accounted for as modifications to the original stock options to which they relate, as the maturity date of the promissory notes 
reflects the legal term of the stock option for purposes of valuing the award.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no promissory notes issued upon early exercise of options. 
All outstanding promissory notes have been settled as part of the Business Combination.

Secondary Sales of Common Stock

During the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, certain economic interest holders acquired 
outstanding Class AA common stock from certain founders, current or former employees, and an investor, for a purchase 
price greater than the Company’s Class AA common stock estimated fair value at the time of the transactions. As a result, the 
Company recorded share-based compensation expense for the difference between the price paid and the estimated fair value 
on the date of the transaction of $4.3 million and $0.1 million during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. In connection with these stock transfers, the Company waived all transfer restrictions and assigned its rights of 
first refusal applicable to such shares. During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were no secondary sales of common 
stock.

Options Granted to Directors

In July 2021, Legacy Forge’s board of directors granted options to certain members of the board in connection with 
their services, to purchase 499,669 shares of  Legacy Forge's Class AA common stock at exercise price of $5.43 per share. 
Subject to the option agreement, the options shall vest in full and become exercisable immediately prior to the consummation 
of a deemed liquidation event or SPAC transaction. The performance-based vesting condition for the options granted to 
certain board members was satisfied as of December 31, 2022 and the Company recorded $1.2 million of share-based 
compensation expense related to the options granted to certain board members during the year ended December 31, 2022. 
The fair value has been estimated using the Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:

Fair value of common stock    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6.11 
Expected term (years)         . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.3
Expected volatility     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  40.0 %
Risk-free interest rate     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  0.7 %
Expected dividend yield     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  0 %
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RSAs

Certain RSAs were granted to the Company's executives in exchange for consideration at a specified strike price and 
were further subject to vesting conditions. To the extent unvested, the shares issued in respect of such RSAs remain subject to 
repurchase. As of December 31, 2022, there were no shares that were subject to repurchase.

Number of shares

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value 

Unvested as of December 31, 2021     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 898,426 $ 0.60 
Retroactive application of recapitalization    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  12,429 $ (0.03) 
Unvested as of December 31, 2021    . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  910,855 $ 0.57 
    Vested     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (910,855) $ 0.57 
Unvested as of December 31, 2022     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — $ — 

The total grant date fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 was 
$0.5 million, $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

The Company recorded share-based compensation expense of $0.4 million, $0.9 million and $0.9 million for the 
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, respectively, related to RSAs. There was no unrecognized expense related 
to RSAs as of December 31, 2022.

RSUs

The Company’s RSUs are convertible into shares of the Company’s common stock upon vesting on a one-to-one 
basis, and generally contain time-based vesting conditions only. RSUs granted to certain executives (the “Executive 
Retention RSUs”) also contain market-based vesting conditions. The RSUs that contain time-based vesting conditions vest 
over the service period of three to four years.

RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2022 was as follows:

RSUs

Weighted 
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value 

Per Share

Unvested as of December 31, 2021     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  — $ — 
Granted        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  11,521,853 $ 10.82 
Vested(1)

   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (445,503) $ 18.82 
Forfeited       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (498,037) $ 20.24 
Unvested as of December 31, 2022     . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  10,578,313 $ 10.04 

(1) Common stock has not been issued in connection with 306,163 vested RSUs because such RSUs were unsettled as of 
December 31, 2022.

The total grant date fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2022, was $8.4 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized share-based compensation expense of 
$40.6 million related to RSUs. Future share-based compensation expense for unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2022 was 
$70.1 million, which is to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.
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Executive Retention RSUs

On June 1, 2022, as a result of the consummation of the Merger, the Compensation Committee of the Company's 
board of directors granted a total of 1,859,137 RSUs to certain executives (the “Executive Retention RSUs”) that contained 
market-based vesting conditions in addition to time-based vesting conditions. The Executive Retention RSUs vest in three 
equal tranches on the earlier of: (1) first, second and third anniversaries of the consummation of the Merger, respectively, (the 
“Time Vesting Component”) or (2) achievement of following market-based conditions:

(a) in the event the Company’s stock price meets or exceeds the price of $12.50 per share during the RSU 
Measurement Period (defined below), the first tranche will vest immediately, and the Time Vesting Component of 
the second and third tranches will be accelerated by six months;

(b) in the event the Company’s stock price meets or exceeds the price of $15.00 per share during the RSU 
Measurement Period (defined below), the second tranche will vest immediately, and the Time Vesting Component 
of the third tranche will be accelerated by an additional six months.

The RSU Measurement Period is equal to 20 trading days within any 30 trading day period commencing upon the 
expiration of a six month lock-up period following the Merger.

The fair value per share for the Executive Retention RSUs was determined by reference to the market price of the 
Company’s shares at the date of the grant, which was $20.26 per share. The Company used the Monte Carlo simulation 
model to determine the derived service period for the Executive Retention RSUs for the purposes of calculating the respective 
share-based compensation expense. The significant inputs used in the valuation included the Company's closing stock price 
as of the grant date of $20.26, cost of equity of 9.0%, dividend yield of 0.0%, volatility of 35.7%, and risk-free rate of 2.8%. 
The derived service period for the first, second, and third tranche of the Executive Retention RSUs was 0.4 years, 0.4 years, 
and 1.8 years, respectively.

Other than those that were accelerated in connection with the modification, no Executive Retention RSUs were 
vested as of December 31, 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized share-based 
compensation expense of $24.3 million related to the Executive Retention RSUs. Unrecognized share-based compensation 
expense for unvested Executive Retention RSUs as of December 31, 2022 was $6.4 million, which is to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 1.2 years.
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14. Income Taxes

The components of the loss before income taxes were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Domestic $ (111,339) $ (16,496) $ (9,554) 
Foreign  (239)  (1,617)  (961) 
Total loss before provision for income taxes $ (111,578) $ (18,113) $ (10,515) 

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows: 

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Current
Federal $ — $ — $ (818) 
State  231  50  15 
Foreign  —  —  — 

Total Current $ 231 $ 50 $ (803) 
Deferred:

Federal $ 92 $ 264 $ — 
State  4  72  — 
Foreign  —  —  — 

Total Deferred $ 96 $ 336 $ — 
Total Provision for income taxes $ 327 $ 386 $ (803) 

Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax to the Company's effective tax:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Tax provision (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate $ (23,431)  21.0 % $ (3,804)  21.0 % $ (2,209)  21.0 %
State income taxes  (739)  0.6 %  (409)  2.3 %  (127)  1.2 %
Foreign taxes in excess of the U.S. statutory rate  10  —  74  (0.4) %  202  (1.9) %
Change of valuation allowance  11,394  (10.2) %  2,397  (13.2) %  525  (5.0) %
Change in fair value  4,166  (3.7) %  1,275  (7.1) %  —  — 
Share based compensation  8,804  (7.9) %  1,548  (8.6) %  779  (7.4) %
Attribute carryback  —  —  —  —  (203)  1.9 %
Tax credits  (3,615)  3.2 %  (862)  4.8 %  —  — 
Section 162(m) limitation  3,693  (3.3) %  —  —  —  — 
Other  45  — %  167  (0.9) %  230  (2.2) %
Tax Expense $ 327  (0.3) % $ 386  (2.1) % $ (803)  7.6 %
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Significant components for the Company's net deferred tax liabilities included in accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Deferred Tax Assets
Accrued compensation $ 2,087 $ 3,074 
Operating lease liability  1,822  2,829 
Share-based compensation  6,033  804 
Net operating loss carryforwards  10,877  11,187 
Allowance for bad debt  223  413 
Interest expense limitation  —  19 
Tax credits  3,615  862 
Section 174 capitalization  5,705  — 
Other  (32)  62 

Total deferred tax assets $ 30,330 $ 19,250 
Valuation allowance  (26,002)  (14,436) 
Net Deferred Tax Assets $ 4,328 $ 4,814 
Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation and amortization $ (3,392) $ (3,089) 
Operating lease assets  (1,454)  (2,148) 

Total deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (4,846) $ (5,237) 
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (518) $ (423) 

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that 
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent 
upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. 
Management believes it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized; accordingly, a valuation 
allowance has been established on U.S. and foreign gross deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance increased 
$11.6 million, $2.2 million for 2022, 2021, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company has net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of 
$31.0 million available to reduce future income subject to income taxes. The federal net operating loss carryforwards of 
$7.4 million will begin to expire, if not utilized, in fiscal year 2037. The remaining amount of federal net operating loss 
carryforwards will be carried forward indefinitely. In addition, the Company has $38.6 million and $12.7 million of net 
operating loss carryforwards available to reduce future taxable income subject to California state income taxes and all other 
applicable state jurisdictions, respectively. The California net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire, if not utilized, 
in fiscal year 2036. The other states’ net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire, if not utilized, in fiscal year 2037. 
The foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $0.4 million do not expire. The Federal and State Credit Carryforwards are 
$2.1 million and $1.5 million accordingly.The Federal and State Credit Carryforwards will begin to expire, if not utilized, in 
fiscal year 2037.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, the Company's ability to utilize net operating 
loss carryforwards or other tax attributes in any taxable year may be limited if the Company has experienced an ownership 
change.  As of  December 31, 2022 the Company has concluded that it has experienced ownership changes since inception 
and that its utilization of net operating loss carryforwards will be subject to annual limitations.  However, it is not expected 
that the annual limitations will result in the expiration of the tax attribute carryforwards prior to utilization.
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Changes in our unrecognized tax benefits are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Beginning Balance $ 427 $ 43 $ 34 
Additions for current year items  842  115  9 
Additions for prior year items  360  269  — 
Reductions for prior year items  —  —  — 
Lapse of statute of limitations  —  —  — 

Ending Balance $ 1,629 $ 427 $ 43 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, interest and penalties were immaterial. The Company 
does not expect any significant change in its unrecognized tax benefits during the next twelve months that would be material 
to the consolidated financial statements. All of the unrecognized tax benefits would impact the effective tax rate.

The Company files income tax returns for U.S. federal income tax, several U.S. states, and other foreign 
jurisdictions. The Company’s most significant tax jurisdiction is the United States. The Company’s tax years for 2017 and 
forward are subject to examination by the federal tax authorities. The Company’s tax years for 2016 and forward are subject 
to examination by the state tax authorities. The Company’s tax years for 2017 and forward are subject to examination by the 
foreign tax authorities. The Company is not currently under examination for income tax in any jurisdiction.

The Company is currently not subject to any income tax audits by federal or state taxing authorities. The statute of 
limitations for tax liabilities for all years remains open.

15. Net Loss per Share

Prior to the Merger and prior to effecting the recapitalization, the holders of Legacy Forge's Class AA, Class EE-1, 
and Class EE-2 common stock were entitled to the same right to participate in the Company’s gains or losses. Therefore, net 
loss per share is presented as a single class of common stock. Earnings per share calculations for all periods prior to the 
Merger have been retrospectively restated to the equivalent number of shares reflecting the Exchange Ratio established in the 
reverse capitalization.

Subsequent to the Merger, the Company has one class of common stock. The diluted net loss per share attributable 
to common stockholders is calculated by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents during the period 
using the two-class method. The Company’s convertible notes, convertible preferred stock, stock options, warrants, and early 
exercised stock options are considered to be potential common stock equivalents but have been excluded from the calculation 
of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders because the holders of these securities do not have a 
contractual right to share in the Company's losses, and their effect would be antidilutive. Therefore, the net loss for the year 
ended December 31, 2022 was attributed to common stockholders only. 
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common 
stockholders for the periods presented (in thousands, except for share and per share data):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Forge Global Holdings, Inc., basic $ (111,859) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Less: Mark to market gain for Junior Preferred Stock warrants $ (3,924) $ — $ — 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, diluted $ (115,783) $ (18,499) $ (9,712) 
Denominator:

Weighted-average number of shares used to compute net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders, basic  143,839,981  54,295,304  37,308,450 
Dilutive effect of common share equivalents  1,173,365  —  — 
Weighted-average number of shares used to compute net loss per share 
attributable to common stockholders, diluted  145,013,346  54,295,304  37,308,450 
Net loss per share attributed to common stockholders:
Basic $ (0.78) $ (0.34) $ (0.26) 
Diluted $ (0.80) $ (0.34) $ (0.26) 

The following potentially dilutive shares were excluded in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding as the effect 
would have been anti-dilutive:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020

Convertible notes       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 5,355,092
Convertible preferred stock        . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 73,914,150 49,084,184
Outstanding options       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,853,072 15,712,437 10,021,682
Common stock and preferred stock  warrants       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,282,652 3,774,436 3,774,436
Private Placement Warrants issued upon Merger       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,386,667 — —
Common stock subject to repurchase       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,064,323 11,400,806 9,631,906
Restricted stock units       . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,884,476 — —
Total      . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,471,190 104,801,829 77,867,300

16. Related Party Transactions

On September 7, 2022 the Company and DBAG formed a subsidiary, Forge Europe GmbH. DBAG is a shareholder 
of the Company and one of the Company's directors is affiliated with this entity (see Note 1). 

Financial Technology Partners LP (“Financial Technology Partners”), a shareholder of the Company and affiliated 
entity of one of the Company's former directors, previously served as financial and strategic advisor to the Company on its 
financing, merger, and acquisition transactions. During the year ended December 31, 2022 the Company incurred $18.3 
million in fees to Financial Technology Partners, of which $17.4 million was related to common stock issued during the 
Merger and was recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital. The remaining $0.9 million was related to issuance of 
Public and Private Placement Warrants, including warrants issued to A&R FPA investors, and was expensed immediately 
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upon consummation of the Merger as acquisition-related transaction cost in the consolidated statements of operations. During 
the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company incurred $4.9 million in fees to Financial Technology Partners.  

James Herbert, II, one of the Company's directors, through the James and Cecilia Herbert 1994 Revocable Trust, 
purchased 75,000 shares of the Company's common stock (for a purchase price of $0.8 million) in the PIPE Investment, 
concurrently and in connection with the closing of the Business Combination. Mr. Herbert's transaction was on the same 
terms as the other investors who purchased shares in the PIPE Investment pursuant to certain subscription agreements dated 
September 13, 2021.

Mr. Herbert is also the founder and executive chairman of First Republic Bank (“FRB”). Upon Mr. Herbert’s 
appointment to the board of directors in April 2022, FRB became a related party. The majority of the Company’s operating 
cash accounts are maintained at FRB, including funds held in money market accounts, which are included in cash and cash 
equivalents and restricted cash in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2022, the Company held $171.9 
million and $0.8 million in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, respectively, at FRB. Interest income earned on 
amounts held at FRB, subsequent to Mr. Herbert's appointment in April 2022, was $2.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022, included in interest income (expenses), net in the consolidated statements of operations. The interest 
rates applied to amounts held at FRB are no less favorable to the Company than to other third party account holders.

Prior to the Business Combination, one of Legacy Forge's directors was also a director of Temasek Holding (Private) 
Limited ("Temasek"). Temasek, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Ossa Investments Pte. Ltd, purchased 1,000,000 shares 
of the Company's common stock (for a purchase price of $10.0 million) in the PIPE Investment, concurrently and in 
connection with the closing of the Business Combination. This transaction was on the same terms as the other investors who 
purchased shares in the PIPE Investment pursuant to certain subscription agreements dated September 13, 2021.

During the year ended December 31, 2021 the Company entered into client engagement agreements with certain 
companies to serve as exclusive transaction agent to help facilitate private purchases of shares of issuers. These companies 
are identified as related parties who are holders of either the Company’s common stock or redeemable convertible preferred 
stock. The Company recognized $1.2 million in placement fee revenue in the consolidated statements of operations for trades 
executed with these companies for the year ended December 31, 2021. The associated revenue recognized for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2020 is immaterial.

17. Subsequent Events

In accordance with ASC Topic 855-10, the Company has analyzed its operations subsequent to December 31, 2022 to 
the date these financial statements were issued and has determined that it does not have any material subsequent events to 
disclose or recognize in the accompanying financial statements.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange 
Act). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that such disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this Report and designed to ensure that 
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the requisite time periods specified in the applicable rules and forms, and that it is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period covered by this Report that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our 
disclosure controls or our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no 
matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the 
control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the 
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no 
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. 
These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can 
occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some 
persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls 
is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any 
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. 
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 
be detected.

Item 9B. Other Information 

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdiction that Prevent Inspections

None.
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Part III

In accordance with General Instruction G.(3) of Form 10-K, certain information required by this Part III will be 
incorporated into this Report by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to 
be filed within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Report (the "Proxy Statement").

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated 
into this Item by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated 
into this Item by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated 
into this Item by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated 
into this Item by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item in our Proxy Statement. Such information is incorporated 
into this Item by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Report.

Exhibit Index

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit 
Number Description Form File No. Exhibit Number Date Filed

2.1+
Merger Agreement, dated as of September 13, 2021, by 
and among Motive, Merger Sub and Forge Global, Inc. 8-K 001-39794 2.1 September 13, 2021

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant. 8-K 001-39794 3.1 March 25, 2022
3.2 Bylaws of the registrant. S-4/A 333-260104 3.3 February 11, 2022
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate. S-4/A 333-260104 4.5 January 31, 2022

4.2

Warrant Agreement, dated December 10, 2020, by and 
between Motive Capital Corp and Continental Stock 
Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant agent. S-4/A 333-260104 4.4 December 16, 2020

4.3* Description of Securities.

10.1
Form of Amended and Restated Registration Rights 
Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2022. S-4/A 333-260104 Annex G February 11, 2022

10.2 Salesforce Tower Office Lease, dated September 18, 2018. 8-K 001-39794 10.2 March 25, 2022

10.3#
Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and 
Incentive Plan. 8-K 001-39794 10.3 March 25, 2022

10.4#
Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan. 8-K 001-39794 10.4 March 25, 2022

10.5#

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under Forge 
Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and Incentive 
Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.4 May 26, 2022

10.6#

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 
Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and 
Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.5 May 26, 2022

10.7#

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the 
Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and 
Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.6 May 26, 2022

10.8#

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 
Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 2022 Stock Option and 
Incentive Plan. S-8 333-265232 99.7 May 26, 2022

10.9#

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated 
September 9, 2021, by and between Kelly Rodriques and 
Forge Global, Inc. S-4/A 333-260104 10.9 February 11, 2022

10.10#
Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement, by and 
between Kelly Rodriques and Forge Global, Inc. DEFA14A 333-260104 Annex A March 1, 2022

10.11#

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated 
September 9, 2021, by and between Mark Lee and Forge 
Global, Inc. S-4/A 333-260104 10.1 February 11, 2022

10.12#

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated 
September 9, 2021, by and between Jose Cobos and Forge 
Global, Inc. S-4/A 333-260104 10.11 February 11, 2022

10.13# Forge Global, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan. 8-K 001-39794 10.9 March 25, 2022

10.14#
Loan Offset Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2022, by 
and among Forge Global, Inc. and Kelly Rodriques. 8-K 001-39794 10.1 March 25, 2022

10.15#
Loan Offset Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2022, by 
and among Forge Global, Inc. and Mark Lee. 8-K 001-39794 10.11 March 25, 2022

10.16#
Loan Offset Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2022, by 
and among Forge Global, Inc. and Jose Cobos. 8-K 001-39794 10.12 March 25, 2022

10.17# Form of Director Indemnification Agreement. 8-K 001-39794 10.13 March 25, 2022
10.18# Form of Officer Indemnification Agreement. 8-K 001-39794 10.14 March 25, 2022

10.19
Sponsor Support Agreement, dated as of September 13, 
2021. 424B3 333-260104 Annex D February 14, 2022

10.20# Outside Director Compensation Policy. 10-Q 001-39794 10.1 August 12, 2022
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10.21#
Engagement Agreement, dated June 10, 2022, by and 
between Johnathan Short and Forge Global, Inc. 10-Q 001-39794 10.2 August 12, 2022

10.22*#+

Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of 
December 23, 2022, by and among Forge Global, Inc. and 
Jose Cobos.

10.23*#+
Services Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2022, by 
and among Forge Global, Inc. and Jose Cobos.

16.1

Letter from WithumSmith+Brown, PC to the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission dated March 25, 
2022. 8-K 001-39794 16.1 March 25, 2022

21.1* Subsidiaries of the registrant.

23.1*
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered 
Public Accounting Firm.

24.1* Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto).

31.1*
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

31.2*
Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

32.1**

Certifications of the Principal Executive Officer and 
Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document 
does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its 
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document).

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase 
Document.

101.DEF
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase 
Document.

101.LAB
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 
Document.

101.PRE
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase 
Document.

104
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline 
XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

+ Certain of the information, exhibits and schedules, as applicable, to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with 
Regulation S-K Item 601. The registrant agrees to furnish a copy with all omitted information, exhibits and schedules, as 
applicable, to the SEC upon its request. 
* Filed herewith.
# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
** The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Report and will not be deemed “filed” 
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such certifications will not be deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this 
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Forge Global Holdings, Inc.

Date: March 1, 2023 By: /s/ Kelly Rodriques
Kelly Rodriques
Chief Executive Officer (Principal 
Executive Officer)

Date: March 1, 2023 By: /s/ Mark Lee
Mark Lee
Chief Financial Officer (Principal 
Financial and Accounting Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and 
appoints Kelly Rodriques and Mark Lee, and each of them, as their true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with 
full power of substitution and resubstitution, for them and in their name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any 
and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in 
connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each 
of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done, as fully 
to all intents and purposes as they might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-
in-fact and agents, or their substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Kelly Rodriques Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 1, 2023

Kelly Rodriques (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Mark Lee Chief Financial Officer March 1, 2023
Mark Lee (Principal Financial Officer and Principal 

Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ashwin Kumar Director March 1, 2023
Ashwin Kumar

/s/ Blythe Masters Director March 1, 2023
Blythe Masters

/s/ Stephen George Director March 1, 2023
Stephen George

/s/ Christoph Hansmeyer Director March 1, 2023
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Christoph Hansmeyer

/s/ Kimberly Vogel Director March 1, 2023
Kimberly Vogel

/s/ James Herbert, II Director March 1, 2023
James Herbert, II

/s/ Asiff Hirji Director March 1, 2023
Asiff Hirji
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
Kimberley Vogel 
Director, Trico Bancshares and Tricounties Bank  
Director, TriplePoint Venture Growth BDC Corp. 
 
Stephen George 
Co-Founder and Managing Partner, Panorama Point Partners, LLC 
Co-Founder and Managing Partner, InterAlpen Partners, LLC 
 
Debra Chrapaty 
Chief Technology Officer, Toast, Inc. 
 
Christoph Hansmeyer 
Managing Director, Pre- and Post-Trading Division, Deutsche Börse AG 
 
James H. Herbert, II        
Founder and Executive Chairman, First Republic Bank  
 
Asiff Hirji 
President, MoonPay 
 
Kelly Rodriques 
Chief Executive Officer, Forge Global Holdings, Inc. 
 
Blythe Masters 
Founding Partner, Motive Partners 
 
Ashwin Kumar 
Industry Partner, Motive Partners 
 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
Kelly Rodriques 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
Mark Lee 
Chief Financial Officer 
 
Johnathan Short 
Chief Legal Officer 
 
Jennifer Phillips 
Chief Growth Officer and President of Forge Markets 
 
Drew Sievers 
Chief Delivery Officer and President of Forge Trust 
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